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I.  Report on the Company’s business activities and state of its assets (consolidated) 

1. Company 

MND a.s. (“the Company”) was established by a sole founder on 30 September 2008, under the original name 
ORTOKLAS a.s. The Company was incorporated on 3 November 2008 and is recorded in the Commercial Register 
maintained by the Regional Court in Brno under file number B 6209. 

2. Consolidated group 

As at 31 December 2023, the Company formed a consolidated group with the following entities that are controlled 
entities vis-à-vis the Company pursuant to Section 74 et seq. of Act No. 90/2012 Coll., on Business Corporations, as 
amended: 

• MND Drilling & Services a.s., with its registered office at Velkomoravská 900/405, Lužice, post code 696 18, 
ID No. 25547631; 

• MND Energy Storage a.s., with its registered office at Úprkova 807/6, Hodonín, post code 695 01, 
ID No. 27732894;  

• MND Energie a.s., with its registered office at Strašnice, Vinohradská 1511/230, Praha 10, post code 100 00, 
ID No. 29137624;  

• MND Ukraine a.s., with its registered office at Úprkova 807/6, Hodonín, post code 695 01, ID No. 08957517; 

• Horyzonty LLC, with its registered office at Lvivska Oblast, Lviv, 79005, Akademika Pavlova 6c, Office 7, 
Ukraine; 

• Geologichne byreau Lviv LLC, with its registered office at Lvivska Oblast, Lviv, 79011, ul. Kubiyovicha 18, 
Office 6, Ukraine; 

• Precarpathian energy company LLC, with its registered office at Ivano-Frankovska Oblast, Bogorodchany, 
77701, ul. Schevchenka, Ukraine; 

• Oriv Holding a.s., with its registered office at Úprkova 807/6, Hodonín, post code 695 01, ID No. 11735376; 

• FVE Tichá s.r.o., with its registered office at Hodonín, Úprkova 807/6, post code 695 01, ID No. 28605233; 

• FVE Mušov I s.r.o., with its registered office at Hodonín, Úprkova 807/6, post code 695 01, ID No. 19174098; 

• FVE Mušov II s.r.o., with its registered office at Hodonín, Úprkova 807/6, post code 695 01, ID No. 
17873517; 

• FVE Orlová I s.r.o., with its registered office at Hodonín, Úprkova 807/6, post code 695 01, ID No. 06763731; 

• FVE Orlová II s.r.o., with its registered office at Hodonín, Úprkova 807/6, post code 695 01, ID No. 
19254504; 

• MND Wind s.r.o., with its registered office at Hodonín, Úprkova 807/6, post code 695 01, ID No. 17873568; 

• G2P Borkovany s.r.o., with its registered office at Hodonín, Úprkova 807/6, post code 695 01, ID No. 
17873592; 

• MND Austria a.s., with its registered office at Hodonín, Úprkova 807/6, post code 695 01, ID No. 19407904; 

• MND GasInvestUA s.r.o., with its registered office at Hodonín, Úprkova 807/6, post code 695 01, ID No. 
19237375; 

• KBOC Director s.r.o., with its registered office at Hodonín, Úprkova 807/6, post code 695 01, ID No. 
19666144. 

(the Company and its controlled entities together the “MND Group” or “Group”). 
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3. Jointly controlled entities 

As at 31 December 2023, the following entities were jointly controlled or associated entities vis-à-vis the Company 
(pursuant to Section 22, par. 3, point (b) and (c) of Act No. 563/1991 Coll., on Accounting, as amended): 

• Moravia Gas Storage a.s., with its registered office at Úprkova 807/6, Hodonín, post code 695 01, 
ID No. 285 06 065. 

4. Business activities of the MND Group 

Principal business activities of MND Group are: 

• sale of gas and electricity to households and small businesses; 

• energy commodities trading; 

• operation of underground gas storage and provision of gas storage services; 

• exploration and production of oil and natural gas; 

• drilling contractor services, focusing on drilling of oil and gas exploration and production wells and hydro 
and geothermal wells and well workover and abandonment. 

• investment in renewable energy sources and the development of new technologies. 

The activities were carried out in the Czech Republic and abroad. The MND Group does not engage in research and 
development activities. MND Group companies do not have any branches abroad. 

5. Sale of gas and electricity to households and small businesses 

As at December 2023, the MND Group supplied energy to 255 thousand supply points. For gas, it was more than 
116,000 and for electricity, more than 139,000 supply points. As part of its offer, MND reflected the development 
of the market and continuously adjusted the prices of its products so that customers were satisfied with the energy 
supply from MND. The MND Group has long prided itself on and invested in a pro-customer, transparent and fair 
approach to energy supply. 

The fact that MND understands customer satisfaction as one of the key indicators was also confirmed by the 
opening of two new customer call centres. MND opened these centres in Ústí nad Labem and Kolín. Thanks to them, 
MND now has the capacity for more than 100 of its operators, not only to manage the operation of the toll-free 
line, but also to further improve the quality of customer care in general. Modernly equipped workplaces provide 
MND with strong facilities and space for further streamlining and improving customer service processes. 

In addition to emphasizing the long-term benefits and quality of customer care, in 2023 MND also focused more on 
upcoming trends in the use of new sources of energy supply, especially in the field of photovoltaics. MND Energie 
has expanded its range of key products for the supply of electricity and gas to include the purchase of electricity 
from photovoltaics. Thanks to the "Solar Account" product, MND customers can now utilize their surpluses from 
photovoltaic power plants through a simple buy-back. This, like other MND offerings, is built on fairness, simplicity 
and transparency of the entire process and service. 
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6. Energy commodities trading 

The MND Group continued to expand its business activities on the European continent. MND operated as a licensed 
electricity and gas trader, including trading over gas storage facilities and storage capacity, primarily in the markets 
of the Czech Republic, Germany, the Netherlands and Austria. In 2023, we increased the volumes traded in the 
financial markets for emission allowances and oil. As part of its long-term strategy, MND has continued to develop 
and refine automated and autonomous trading models for various market segments, countries, and commodities. 

The year 2023 was still marked by increased volatility and the emergence of external non-market risks. The trading 
strategy has also been adapted to this. The aim was to keep the risk parameters of trades at low level, to focus on 
short-term holding of trading positions and to eliminate market risks by cross-hedging between commodities. The 
combination of fundamental analysis of the markets and the chosen strategies has brought better-than-expected 
results. In 2023, MND traded 65 TWh of gas and 11.6 TWh of electricity in the physical and financial markets. 

7. Underground gas storage 

The MND Group operates the Uhřice underground gas storage facility (UGS Uhřice). UGS Uhřice consists of two 
storage structures, which, in addition to natural gas storage, are also suitable for storing electricity through 
hydrogen gas. From 1 January 2022, UGS Uhřice (Energy Storage Uhřice) is ready to receive energy in the form of 
hydrogen up to a concentration of 5% H2 mixed with natural gas at the entry point of MS Brumovice. The total 
current storage capacity of UGS Uhřice is 335 million m3, with the potential for further development up to 350 
million m3. 

Through its ownership interest in Moravia Gas Storage a.s., the MND Group also participates in the operation of 
the Dambořice UGS, which was put into operation in 2016. Its total storage capacity after the end of the start-up 
period is 448 million m3. 

8. Exploration and production of hydrocarbons 

The MND Group is the largest Czech group engaged in the production of oil and natural gas. The group holds five 
exploration permits covering a total area of 1 818 km2 in the region of south-eastern Moravia. The subsidiaries hold 
seven exploration and production licenses with a total area of 335 km2 in Ukraine. These exploration areas are 
covered by a network of 2D seismic measurements and, to a large extent, a network of 3D seismic measurements. 
In 2023, the MND Group carried out seismic measurements in the Tynivská license area in western Ukraine and also 
in South Moravia in the northern part of the Vienna Basin license. Based on the results and interpretation of seismic 
measurements and other geological information, MND Group designs and implements exploratory wells to discover 
new oil and gas fields. In 2023, MND Group drilled six exploratory and one production well in South Moravia and 
three appraisal / production wells in Western Ukraine. 

The MND Group produces oil and/or natural gas from 36 deposits in the region of south-eastern Moravia. Oil 
production in 2023 reached 73.6 thousand m3 and natural gas supplies from own production reached 59.5 million 
m3. Subsidiaries in Ukraine produced 60.8 million m3 of natural gas. 

9. Drilling and workover activities 

In 2023, the MND Group drilled 7 wells for its own activities (MND a.s.) and 6 wells for external customers. The 
MND Group has carried out drilling and underground repairs of wells in Hungary, Italy, France, Germany, Spain and 
the Czech Republic. The Group completed a complex geothermal project for FRI EL Geopower S.r.l. in Italy, started 
work on a two-well project for KEM ONE S.A.S. in France, participated in a multi-well project for German operators 
Neptune Energy Deutschland GmbH and DOW Deutschland Anlagengesellschaft GmbH. 
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In 2023, the MND Group carried out a total of 63 well workovers and abandonments in the Czech Republic. Out of 
this total amount, 15 underground repairs, 15 general workovers  and 22 abandonments for the Group’s own needs, 
2 repairs of wells at the underground gas storage facility and 9 abandonments of old environmental burdens for 
external customers were carried out. 

10. Investments in renewable energy sources and new development projects 

MND Group is entering a project to build a wind power plant in western Ukraine. The Group will have a 50% stake 
in the Ukrainian company LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY "ORIV WINDPARK", with its registered office at Lviv, 79007, 
Sichovykh Striltsiv, 12 ap. 9, registration number 38057121 (ORIV WINDPARK). The partner in the joint venture will 
be Ivena Limited, with which MND Group has been cooperating since 2014 in the field of gas production in Western 
Ukraine. It is the construction of a wind power plant with an output of 54.6 MW in the Lviv region. During 2023, the 
implementation of the project was completed, all 10 turbines were installed, and the first part of the turbines was 
put into test production. 

In 2023, the MND Group, as a partner of the Czech-Norwegian CO2 project – SPICER, completed its part of the 
project of pilot CO2 storage in a carbonate deposit, the main objective of which is to prepare a pilot carbon dioxide 
storage facility in an oil and gas deposit that is being exploited. A model example for the potential implementation 
of other carbon dioxide storages in the Czech Republic and Europe will be created. 

Together with other partners, the MND Group is preparing the Carbon Capture & Storage project, which aims to 
build and operate a commercial underground storage facility for the permanent storing of carbon dioxide captured 
during industrial production. 

The MND Group continues to invest in projects for the construction and acquisition of photovoltaic power plants 
in Orlová, Mušov, MND Ždánice, Poddvorov and MND a.s.'s headquarters in Hodonín. 

The MND Group is engaged in the development of modern energy projects and invests in their implementation and 
preparation. The construction of the Borkovany Network Support Services Source (ZPPS) project is underway. At 
the same time, project preparation of a similar ZPPS project in the Hrušky 5 locality is underway, as well as pre-
project preparation for the implementation of large-capacity battery storage. 

In cooperation with universities and business partners, the MND Group has participated in projects related to 
hydrogen technologies, transport and underground storage of hydrogen. 

11. Human resources 

As at 31 December 2023, a total of 856 employees worked in MND Group companies. 

12. Education and social affairs 

The MND Group encourages employee education and provides an environment that is conducive to the personal 
development of every employee. The educational system focuses on professional, managerial and language 
training. The MND Group also promotes cooperation with selected secondary schools and universities in the Czech 
Republic and abroad, with a focus on both increasing the qualifications of its employees, and on acquiring new 
talents, further developing their skills by giving them the opportunity to work with teams of experts. With respect 
to employee care, the MND Group focuses on creating a professional working environment with a broad selection 
of employee benefit options. 
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13. Corporate social responsibility and sponsorship 

The MND Group has an active social responsibility program to support a wide range of beneficial and charitable 
events and civic associations in the Czech Republic. Consistent with the scope and location of its business and 
respect for the environment, MND directs its activities to improve the quality of the environment in the 
communities where it operates. 

MND has been cooperating on joint projects with the Dolní Morava Biosphere Reserve, o.p.s. concerning the 
protection of natural and cultural diversity and sustainable economic development. 

MND financially supports wide range of other projects focusing mainly on sports, culture and education, especially 
supporting children in sports. 

14. MND Group’s financial results and state of assets in 2023 

The MND Group reported a consolidated profit of CZK 806 million for 2023 after tax. Revenues  amounted to CZK 
55 651 million in the period concerned. The consolidated profit from operating activities for the period under 
review amounted to CZK 1 191 million. The consolidated result from financial operations amounted to a loss of CZK 
159 million. 

The MND Group assets as at 31 December 2023 were as follows: 

• Property, plant and equipment of CZK 7 235 million CZK, intangible fixed assets of CZK 161 million. and non-
current financial assets of CZK 1 671 million; 

• current assets of CZK 11 443 million, comprising current financial assets of CZK 4 262 million and cash and 
cash equivalents of CZK 1 702 million. 

The MND Group's equity as at 31 December 2023 was CZK 9 206 million, of which equity attributable to the 
shareholders amounted to CZK 8 981 million. Total liabilities amounted to CZK 11 677 million. 

In 2023, the MND Group companies did not have their own shares or interim certificates in their ownership. 

15. Information on risk management 

The principal role of the MND Group’s risk management is to identify risks, determine a risk measurement method, 
quantify and analyse risk exposure, define a hedging strategy and the hedging implementation as such. The overall 
responsibility for setting up the MND Group’s risk management system and supervising its operation lies on the 
level of the board of directors. With regard to the diversity of operations and the corresponding risks, the 
management of each group company is responsible for setting up and monitoring risk management policies. 
Information on the MND Group’s risk management is disclosed in note 30 of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, which includes a description of investment instruments used by the MND Group and price, credit and 
liquidity risks as well as the risks connected with cash flows that the MND Group is exposed to. 

16. Development outlook for the upcoming period 

In 2023, the MND Group recorded a decline in oil and gas production. In 2024, compared to 2023 levels, it expects 
a stable level of hydrocarbon production in Czechia and a slight increase in gas production in Ukraine. In sales of 
gas and electricity to end customers, MND Group expects a further increase in the number of customers. MND 
Group's financial results will depend to a large extent on oil, gas and electricity price developments in European 
markets. 
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17. Subsequent events 

Significant subsequent events are disclosed in note 32 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Prague, 24 May 2024 

 

 

 

Miroslav Jestřabík Jiří Ječmen 
Member of the Board of Directors Member of the Board of Directors 
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II. Report on relations between the controlling and controlled entities and between 
the controlled entity and other entities controlled by the same controlling entity 

The company MND a.s., with its registered office in Hodonín, Úprkova 807/6, postal code 695 01, ID no. 28483006, 
incorporated in the Commercial Register kept with the Regional Court in Brno, registration no. B 6209 (hereinafter 
the “Company”) acted in the accounting period from 1st January, 2023 to 31st December, 2023 (hereinafter the 
“Accounting Period”) as a controlled entity in accordance with the provision of Section 74 et seq. of Act No. 90/2012 
Coll., on business corporations and cooperatives, as amended (hereinafter the “BCA”). 

In compliance with Section 82 of the BCA, the Board of directors of the Company, as the controlled entity, has 
issued for the Accounting Period this report on relations between the controlling and controlled entities and 
between the controlled entity and other entities controlled by the same controlling entity (hereinafter the “Report 
on Relations” and “Related Entities"). This Report on Relations has been structured in accordance with Section 82, 
par. 2 and 4 of the BCA. 

1. The structure of relations between the Company and other Related Entities 

The Company is a member of the KKCG Group comprised of companies directly or indirectly controlled by KKCG AG, 
with its registered office at Kapellgasse 21, 6004 Lucerne, the Swiss Confederation, registration number CHE-
326.367.231 (hereinafter the “KKCG AG”). 

The Company is controlled by KKCG AG indirectly via its parent company, MND Group AG, with its registered office 
at Kapellgasse 21, 6004 Lucerne, the Swiss Confederation, registration number CHE-448.401.517. 

The list of all the entities of KKCG Group that are, either directly or indirectly controlled by KKCG AG, including the 
Company, constitutes Annex 1 to this Report on Relations. Data on KKCG Group companies are stated as at 31 
December 2023. 

2. Role of the Company 

The role of the Company, as the controlled entity, is to conduct oil and gas prospecting, exploration and production 
operations, trade in gas and electricity and investment in renewable energy sources and development of new 
technologies. 

3. Methods and means of control 

The control of the Company is exercised via its 100% share in voting rights at the general meeting of the Company. 

4. Overview of significant acts 

In the Accounting Period the Company did not perform any acts upon the initiative or in the interest of KKCG AG, 
or of entities under KKCG AG control, concerning assets whose value exceeds 10% of the Company’s equity as 
specified in its most recent financial statement, except for those listed below: 

(in millions of Czech crowns) 2023 

Expenses / Purchases  

Purchases of services 7 906 

Revenues / Sales  

Total sales 13 503 

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu I 
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5. Overview of contracts 

During the Accounting Period, the Company and KKCG AG, or any other entities controlled by KKCG AG, entered 
into the contracts attached as Annex 2 to this Report on Relations. 

The contracts concluded between the Company and KKCG AG, or any other entities controlled by KKCG AG, prior 
to the commencement of the Accounting Period were still in force during the Accounting Period and are listed in 
Annex 3 to this Report on Relations. 

6. Loss evaluation and settlement 

On the basis of contracts concluded in the Accounting Period between the Company and other persons from the 
KKCG group or other negotiations that were carried out in the interest of or at the instigation of these persons by 
the Company in the Accounting Period, the Company suffered no loss. 

7. Advantages and disadvantages of relations between Related Entities 

The Company derives numerous benefits from its membership in the KKCG Group with KKCG AG, the controlling 
entity, which include, in particular, the opportunity to share its know-how and information (in compliance with the 
law and third-party contracts), to draw on the good name associated with the KKCG brand and to access intragroup 
and bank funding (e.g. the option to have its financial obligations secured by other entities within the group). 

The Company is not aware of any disadvantages arising from its relations with the Related Entities. 

Annexes: 

Annex 1 – List of Related Entities 

Annex 2 – List of contracts between Related Entities concluded in the Accounting Period 

Annex 3 – List of contracts between Related Entities concluded prior to the Accounting Period 

 

 

Prague, 28 March 2024 

 

Miroslav Jestřabík Jiří Ječmen 
Member of the Board of Directors Member of the Board of Directors 
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Annex 1 – List of Related Entities 

Annex No. 1 - List of related parties 

List or parties controlled by tt,.e company KJ<CG AG1 with its registered seat at Kapeugane 21, 60CMI Lu0em .e, 
The Swit:t C-onfedf!ration.- regiItrIticn number CHE-326,.367. 231, as of 31 t\6o!!m ber 2023 

SPOL£fNOST / COMPANY sea~ I dentification No. / Registrat ion No. 

· cce" C.On'ilresl center Baden Kaiser fr--an2: 1Un9 l, 2.500 Baden, Austr'la, reglstt. No. FN 67046y 8etrieblnii1.,e.Jl:jcflaft m.b.H . 

· Geologichne byreau "Lviv " U.C L'\llv<l<a Oblast, L "VIII, 79011, ul. Kublyovlcha 18. Ol'llce 6, Ukraine. reg. t/o. 3 1978 102 

• Hory~onty'" u.c L '\llv<l<a Oblast, L ""'• 79005, Ulla! Cllubala Hrytsl<a 6C, OfflGe 7, Ukraine, reg. No . 36828617 

•pree.arpathi.■n .en.e rgy CDmpanr · LLC 1,a,.,.frankavska Ollt><t. Booorodcllany, 77701, ul. Shev<henka, Ukraine, reg. No. 36042045 

Allwyn .AG WeiMtaf U 9, 6004 Lucerne, Swil2.er1and. "'9· No. OtE-366.705.452 

A.llwyn Asia Holding a.s. Ell,opskA 81:,6/71, Vokovl~ post code 160 oo, PtaQUe 6, CUCh Republk. ldenuncatlon No. 
05266289 

A.llwyn Au:Stri.a Holding 2 GmbH </O OORDA R«lltsanwlWle GmbH, Unl\>ef'sltlilstfng 10. 1010 Vienna, Ausl>la, , eg No . FN 38898d 

A.llwyn Austria Holding 3 GmbH 
l</0 OORDA """"tsanwlWte GmbH, Unlv@f"$itlitsrl.ng 10, 1010 Vl..,na, Aust>la, ,eg. No. fN 
117154t 

A.uw-yn Czeeh Re.public Holding•~• -
EvropskA 81:,6/71, Vokovl~ post C0de 160 00, ....... gue 6, O.ec:h Republte. klenllfta,tlon No. 
2<1852104 

A.llwyn Entt!:rtainment AG i.n Uquidation / v 
</O Allwyn AG. Welnrnark t 9, 6004 L.uet:me,. Switzerland, ,eg. No. CHE- 157.119.805 likvidaci 

A.llwyn Ent:ertai tunent Financin,g ( UK) Pie, One Connaught Piao!, .5tl> AOO<', W2 2ET London, United Kl"!l(lom, ,eg. No. 1.38<11508 

All""""'n l!ntertainme.nt Ltd. One connauoht Plat:i!!: 5th F100t W2 2ET l.Ondotl Uni~ Kl- rl!O. Nt.. 1-3157556 

A.llw-yn Fina ncin,g Czech Republic 2 a . .t,. 
EvropskA 866/71, VokOvl~ post C0de 160 00, ....... QU. 6, O.ec:h Republle. klenllfta,tlon No. 
inc,77 ,.,, 

Allwyn G......c<!! & C'fpn,t HOld;ng 2 Ud Arch. Makatlou m , 195. Neocleous House. JOJO Umassol, Republic of cyprus, reglstr. No. HE 
l=, o•c 

Allwyn Greece • cyprus H old;ng Ltd 
Arch. MaklOJIOU m , 195, Neodeous House. 3030 Umassol, Republic of Cyprus, r"9lstr. 

I H A ... ,.,.,, ., 

A.llwyn lllinoit: LLC (drf"'e / foirme.r'ly camelot 
200 West Jadcson Bl\ld. ,Sulle 1100, Cllical)C), D.60606, USA, r"9lstratlon No . 05886996 

W iin2il.l.V' 
Allwyn I nformation Tecflnology System.t s ~M~S.A. L.eorotos Klllslas 18 Iii Gky!I, 15 125 Marou..i, Atllens, Gfeeoe, reglm,,uon t/o. 137792901000 ltdRve/ fo,.n,erlv Eonite S.A. \ 

Allwyn I nte mational a.s., 
Ellrops"" 866/71, Vokovl~ post C0de 160 oo. Prague 6, Qech Republk. klenltncotlon No. 
2◄287814 

A.llwyn l nvutrnents Cyp,vs Ltd Arch. Makar lou m , 195, Neocleous House. 3030 Umassol, Republic of Cyprus, r"9lstr. 
I,,,_ u < '""'" 

A.llwyn Lottery SOlution:t limi ted Magdalen House, TolpilS Lane, Watford, Hertfo"'51llre, WD189Rff, un .. <!d Klngclam, "'9- No. 
ln7cc,oan 

Allwyn North America Inc. ((drive / formerly 
200 West Jad<son Bl\ld.,s uite ◄25, o,1c:ago, ll.60606, us~ "'91W. No. 70663287 

C.meln t Glt>bal Serv'- I NO ...... America I Inc. I 

Allwyn Services Czech Republic • -~~ 
Evropsi<a 81:,6/71, vokoVI~ post C0de 160 oo, PtaQU• 6, O.e<h Republte. 1<1en11n"'t1on No. 
08993165 

A.llwyn servioes UK Ltd One Connaught Plaa!, .5tl> A0ot, W2 2ET London, United Kl"l)<lom, reg. No. 08869774 

All ....... n Se.rv icet: US U.C 12s M IAh Street S.u:'lte 1704 Boston MA 02110 USA 
Allw-vn Sub AG in: Liauidation I v likVidaci 1r 1n All~fl/n AG. Wein,-na,k Q -■Ml ,.,.._n• Swl~ laM rea. No. CHE· ,..1'(_87-4.1◄0 

Allwyn Ted mology services Limited TolpilS Lane,. Watton!, HerttordSltlre. WD189RN, Unlled Kln9d0m, , eg. No. 02822JOO 

Allwyn UK Hold;ng B Lid One Connaught f'laoe, .5tl> AOO<', W2 2ET London, United Kl"l)<lom, ,eg. No. 1.38<19924 

Allwyn UK Hold;ng C Ltd One Connaught Plaa!, .5t1> AOO<'. W2 2ET London, United Kl"l)<lom, ,eg. No. 1◄530228 

Allwyn UK HOiding Ltd On• COnnaught Plaa!, .5tl> AOO<, W2 2ET London, United Kl"l)<lom, reg. No. 131.54201 

Allwyn US Holding Inc. 251 L1t1le f alls Drive, tl«w 0,stle, Delaw-are 19808. USA, "'9isll°aUon No. 7177345 

ALOE spol. I r,o~ Kytllco.a 8 18121•. Prosek.. po<t -· 190 00, Prague 9, C>.ecll ~bll<. ldentJlleB!lon No. 
1654'"<71 

A.ricoma a.L (df ive / f~rty Ariooma Group Vll>olltadSk.1 I Si 1/230, St,a!nlOO,. post. <Ode 100 00, Pr'ague 10, C>.ecll it.e,publle. 1<1e<1unc..t1on 
a .• . l No . <M61567l 

Aricoma Brand I . r.o. VlnOhtadsk.1 15 11/230, Stra!n10e,. post <Ode 100 oo, P,ague 10, C>.ecll tt.e,publk, 1<1e<1unc..11on 
No. 17867096 

Aricoma Capital a ._s. VIJIOhrac:tskA. 15 11/230, Stra~IOO,. post <Ode 100 00, Pr'ague 10, C>.ecll Republte. ldenUnc..tlon 
IMA 1 ..,~ .. r-a , 

Ar-icoma Di.git.al s.r .o. (drive / formf!r'ly KOMIX Vlllollt'adskA I Si 1/230, Stta~IOO,. post <Ode 100 00, Pr'ague 10, C>.ecll Republk, 1<1e<1unc..t1on 
le .- 0 \ 1,,,. .,, ,--· 
AriCOmil f:nte.rpri.M! Cybi!!rleC:u rity a. t . (fOrmll!!r ty VoaAn:,va 2S00/ 20a, u.,..,, p,>!11. <Ode 180 00, Ptitgue 8, Ct- Republic,, ldMtilleaUon No. 
AEC a .t,J '~""◄" 
Aricoma Enterprise CyberSeC:urity s~r.o. ( dhve / KraSCMI<""° J9W14. post a,cte 851 0 1, Bratislava, Slovok Replibll<. ldenUllalllon No . 
formertw AEC s,,..o. \ l'l! ":I.D"- n 7 , 

Aricoma Et;pa~a. S.L O,lte Ba,a,, 2 2 • EDIFIOO EPOCA. 46002., Valencia, Spain, ,eg. t/0. 8724322◄8 

Aricoma Group F"inance a,s, VlnolvadsicA 15 11/230, Stta~IOO,. post <Ode 100 00, Pr'ague 10, Qed1 tt.e,publk, lde<IUllc.atlon 
No. 17848369 

Aricoma Group Holdi.ng a .. s. VlnolvadSkA 15 11/230, Stfil!nlOO,. post <Ode 100 00, Pr'ague 10,. C>.ecll Rep.rblk, lde<IUnc..llOO 
[pi,, 17MJWII 

AriCOmll GrOu~ l ntunationll.l AB <Jo Aspla AB, 5andra Mffl:SSOn Flodmart, Box 6350, 102 oo St00ktrolm, SWl!den, ,eg. No. 
l«a,><_o,.o 

A.ricoma Systems SRL (dhve / formerly 
Avenue Louise 231, 1050 Bruxelles, Belgium, "'9· No. 0767 .591.979 

AlJTIV"nl'ff S RL l 

AUTOCOl'ff a.s . Homopoln, JJ22/J-4, Horavska o.tra•~. 702 00 o.tra,a, Ctedl Republl<. ldentlllcatJon No. 
ln.nnAA07 

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu I 
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Annex No. 1 - List of related parties 

u~ of partiet controlled by t he ~m.pany KXCG AG, With its r-6Q.i tte.red Mi:at at Kapetlgaue 2.1, 6004 L.uoe-rnt!!, 
The Sw~.1 Confecler-ation! reg istration number CHE-326,.367.2311 as of ]1 December 20 23 

SPOLEc!NOST / COMPANY Seat, I dentification No. / Registration No . 

AllTOCONT s,r .o . KraSOllsl<eho 14, Brat!slava - mest,;i<A las{ Pe!rfalla>, post axle 851 01, Slovak Republic, 
klenllllcaUon No. 36396222 

Avengito :1.r .o. Vlnotwil<!Sk.l 15 11/230, Stra~l<IO,, post c.oae 100 Oil, P>-.gue 10, Tl>e Ot!<h Republic, 
ldenUftrat!On No. 19930372 

B lue ROs#:lnllrili:C! DeveJopm.t!!:n.t t. r .o.. 
Ev,opok.l 866/71, VokOvl<e, post <ode 160 oo, ""ague 6, o.,i, Republic, ldentlfteat!On No. 

IAn, n,,= 

Blue l"O!imllrintl!! i:. r.O•. 
Ev, opok.l 866/71, VokOvlce, post code 160 00, ""ague 6, Oech Republic, ldeMlneat!On No. 
04553586 

Cachi Valle AYe.nturas ~A.. ( v likvidaci / in Av. Francisco de Urlondo 330, ◄◄00 Salta, Argentina, regtstr. No. IGTJ de 5all8 Folio 71/2 
lli9uid•tio n \ a<IMLO 2465 L 10 

CAI Hungory Kil. Lacl<ner Krloblf u. 33/A, 9<100 SOjln)<I, Hungary, reglstr. Ho. 011-()9- 027729 

CAI Ontario I nc. Iv likvidaci / in Jia u idationl 200 Bav s, - Roval Bank Aaza MSJ 224 onta110. an&da .---:tt_ No.1164748 

CAIO AG ( v li kvid.aci / in liqu idation) 
c/o Reuss Treuhand AG, Furrengasse 11. 6004 L.u:ze,n, SWltzerland, reorstr. No. CHE-
I ..:0. 1a.,.:_g 7 1 

CameJo t UK LOtter ies Limi ted Tolpi1$ L>ne. Watfotd, Hert!on!shlre. WDl89Rfl, Unl'led Klngdom, reg. No. 02822203 

Casino Od.en:Se K/ S Claus Bergs Gade 7, 5000 Odense C, Oenmartc, , eglstr. No. 1◄920293 

Ca:Sino SOpr o.n Kft. l..&cl<net Krl<mf u. 33/A, 9<100 SOjln)<I, Hungary, reglstr. Ho. OII-C19·00927J 

Ca:i:i no St. Moritz AG Vt.I VegU• 3, 7500 SL MOlft>. SwH2,e,rland, reglstr. No. CHE-107.653.178 

Ca:si noland IT-Sytte:me GmbH w.ter Helle 2. 30161 Hannover, Germany, reglstr. No. HRB 61326 

Ca:Sinos Austria (Liechtenstein ) AG Vorat1bes-n.-r stnsse 210 9486 SChaanwatd Uecht.enst:etn f"Pl'lfsb' . No. fl--0002.543.564-5 

Ca:Sinot: Austria (Swiu ) AG 
cto AmmlnlSb'a SA,. Plazza lndlpendenza 3, 6900 Lugano, Sw!u"'1an<I, ,eg1$1r. No. CHE-
l,M , =n•ft 

Ca.sinos Austria AG Liegen.1chaftsverwalbmg1 
Rennweg 44, 1038 Vienna, Ausb1a, reglstt. No. Fil I I 42a8x 

u nd Leasina GmbH 

Ca:Sinot: Austria Aktiengesellscha·rt Rennweg ◄◄• 1038 VlenM, Ausb1a, reg:lst:r. No. FN 99639d 

ca:si nos Austria IntemaU011a.1 (Maz.e.daniei-.) 
Rennweg 44, 1038 Vienna, Ausb1a, regtstr. No. Fil 400167g 

Holdi na GmbH 

Ca:Sinos Austria I n temaU011al Belgium S..A. RJJ• Gretry 16-20, 1000 8'u><elleo, Belgium, reglstr. No. 0502.785.246 

Cl!l:Sinos Austria IntemaU011a.l GmbH Rennweg 44, 1038 Vienna, Ausb1a, regtstr. No. Fil 131441>< 

C'a:Sinos Austria IntemaU011al Holding GmbH Rennweg 44, 1038 Vienna,. Austria, reglstt. No. Fil J7681p 

CUi not Austria Intl:rnation:lll l..td~ 3S-4I Wl\ar1 St,e,t, 4870 0,IMS, QlD, Austtalla, reglstr . No. ACN: 065998807, ABtf: 065998-807 

Ca:ti not: Auttria M.anac,ement Gm bH RMnweg ◄◄• 1038 Vienna,, Auib111, r691'1.r. No. FP~ 38657? 

CAST C-a-.sin,os Au.stria Sicherhe.itste.Chno logie 
Rennweg ◄◄• 1038 Vienna, Ausb1a, reg:lst.r. No. FN 94404f 

lGm bM 

Clearoode llC 222 Broadway, 19111 noor, New Yor"k, NY 10038, United states ol Amerlal, reg. No. ◄6'15876 

CJearcode Sl!ln,i oe.t: Sp. 1 o.o. ( df1ve/ fonnerty 
lc 1ear- ,._ Servi~• S ,A. \ 

Sw. Antontego 2/◄, 50-073 Wrodaw, ~land, reg. No. 871153 

Cteverlan ee Deut:sc:hland GmbH Eduan:t-Sdlopf-Al~ l , 282 17 S,-em,n, Germany, ,eglslratlOn Ho. 32267 

Cleverlan c:e Enterpri :te Solution• t .r . o. 
Voa.ol'ova 2500/2Da, Ube/I, post OOde 180 00, Prague 8, Oec:h Republic, ldenUllcaUon No. 
27408787 

CJeverlanc:e HlB 1.r.o.. Tulanka 1S19/llSa, B,no, SlaUna, post c.ode 627 00, Oech Republic. ldeMlneatlOn No. 
28223756 

Cle\lerlan ce Slovakia s.r .o . Pl levoukA 1971116, post OOde 821 09, BraUslava, Slovak Republic, lclenllllcaUon No. 359<12487 

ClS Beteiliour191 GmbH Golds<:llmledg. 3, 1010 ~ ... , AUSl.r1a, reg. Ho. FN 8◄419,c 

Colli ngton U Limited Qrstom Hou .. ~"'" BIOd< 6, l nternauona1 flnandal services centre, Dulllln 1, RepubllC or 
If ...... .,...,. " '"""' UA CIW:.'1,'1,C 

Complejo Monumer'llo GOemes S.A.. ( v l i kvidaci / Av. Francisco de Urlondo 330, •~oo Salta, Argentina, r"91stt.tfo. rouo 187/88 ASIENTO 2288 
in I itwui da'tion l l.18R09 

Contulti~ Q .tlU :1.r .o. 
w ,nne,ova 13◄/7, No,, Ulkl!, !)Mt axle 779 00, Dtornouc, a.d\ R,spubllc, ldenHllci>llon No. 
25851471 

Coopua DevelOfJme:nt t:.r.o. 
Evrop,k.l 866/7 1, VokOvlce, post <ode 160 00, ~gue 6, Oech Republic, ldentlftrat!On No. 
lnoco,on, 

Cuis ino Ges. m.b.H. R.ennweg ◄◄• 1038 VlenM, Ausb1a, tf!Oistr. No. FN S40151 

CYANVENUE U MITED 3096 Uma5$01, Ala,1as, 8CtfRISTODOUUDE5 BUllDING. Repul)ll(OICyp,us, reg. Ho . HE35310 1 

DeutscheS etten GmbH Karmarsdlstr. J 7-39 . D-30159 Haooo-.i'e.' German"' ,~lstr. Ho. MRB 219939 

IECC Jen e:ri I ka, s. r .o . 
Ha pli~ 859/22, Novi! ~LO. post axle 110 00 Rrague I , credl Republic, ldentiflcllltlon 
tl<>.0383◄131 

Entretenimientos y Jego, de Az.ar ( IE:N~J.A.S~A,) 
Del Hllagro 142, 4400 san.a. ArgenUna. reglstr. No. IGTJ de Satl:il Folio 6516 aslento 2462 L 10 S.A .. h li.kvidaci J in liou idationl 

l'M&SCzec:ha.s. 
Vlno1Va<l$1<A ISi 1/230, Stra~l<IO,, post c.ode 100 00, P>-.gue 10, O<!dl R,,puNic. ld..,UllcBIIOII 
1,,,, ~,.,. " 

P:ortuna 1 ApS cto casino Odens,; K/ S, aaus 8"'gs Gade 7, 5000 Oden~ c , D<!tlmartc, , eglslr. ti<>. 14909087 

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu I 
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Annex No. 1 - List of related parties 

Litt of parties contr-olled by the oompany l()(CG .AG, w ith its registered seat at KapeUgaue 21, 60o.t Lucerne, 
The Swi:S"t Confeder-ation, registr-aUon numbe..r CHE-326,.367.231, as of 31 Deoember 2023 

SPOLEtNOST / COMPANY seat, I dentification No-.. / Registration No. 

FVE Mulov I[ s.r..o .. llprkov-. 807/ 6, ~ mde 695 01, Hodonin, Ctedl Republic,. ldentlllo!tlon Ho . 1917◄098 

FVE Mulov U • ~r .o. Uprkov;, 807/ 6, ~mde69501, Hodonin, Ctedl Republlc,. ldenUllo!tlon Ho . 17873517 

FVE Orlovi I s .r.o . Uprkova 807/6, ~ mde 695 01, Hodonin, Oed1 Republic,. ldentlllo!tlon Ho. 06763731 

FVE Orlovi II •~r.o. lljll'kova 807/ 6, poo.t mde 695 01, Hodonin, Ctedl Republic,. ldenUllo!tlon Ho . 1925◄504 

FVE Tichi s,r ,o .. ll?'kova 807/ 6, post mde 695 01, H<>donin, Ctedl Republic,. ldentlllo!tlon 110 . 28605233 

G2P Borkoiwt11ny s. r.o . Ujll'kova 807/ 6, post mde 695 01, Hodonin, Ctedl Republic,. ldenUllo!tlon Ho. 17873592 

Gest.at~ s.r.o. EllropskA 866/71, Vokl>Ylce. po<L mde 160 00, Pt-ague 6 , CUCh R.epublk:. klentlnca_, No. 
0 79S7912 

G-JEiT s. r .o. Vlt'liOIWadilLa 1~11t230 Cted1 R-•blMO. id,,nU-n Ho . 2707<J171 
GfOcb- u nd Unterhaltungsspiel 

Rennweg ◄◄, 1038 Vienna, Ausb'la, ,eg!str. No. FN 2◄1637t - -~u 

HELLENIC LOTTERI_ES_ S.A. ( HELl£NlC 
LOTTERIES - SOCJETll ANONYME ~OR THE 

112 Alhl"°" AvMutl, Git 10◄ 42, Alhens. Gree<e. ,eglstrl!ltlon Ho .125891401000 
PRODUCTION, OPERATION, CIRCULATION, 
PROMOTION AND MANAGEMENT OF LOTTERIES) 

HORSE RACES SINGLE MEMBER S, A, 112 Alhl"°" Avenut1, Git .10◄ 42, AlhenS. Greece. t"915trl!ltlon Ho . 13 2&46101000 

IGNIS Hot.DING a.~. 
Vlnollfi,ds.,, 1511/230, Stn,snla., post code 100 00, Prague 10, Ctecll Republlc,. ldenUr,ca-, 
llo . 07◄35304 

I nmobilia.r.a Ovale. S..A .. Ignacio 0.l'f1!B l>IRLO 109, 2720◄26 SM,._, O,Ue, ,eoistt. No. 14996/10019 

I NTERMOS Praha s.r ,o , 
Vlnollfi,dskA 15 11/230, S'lra~kle, post code 100 00, P<ague 10, Qedl Republlc,. ldenUllcallon 
" A <.Sn7 <. .... Q 

INTE.RMOS VALVES; t .. r.o~ 
Bratislava•m=-.,,,. sta,e Mesto, IC8fpats.,, 8, post code 811 as. Slovak Republic. 

a1 .. ,:111::1:1aa~11 

l riltrrict Projll!:kt.- 1.r .O. 
VinollBdsto:a 1511/230, Strosnla., post code 100 00, Prague 10, Ctecll Repullllc,. ldentlllcallon 

110 . """"'"" 1 
1PM - l ndldtri l l POrtfol io Mlna:ge:men t a .. 1., 

Ell,opska 866/71, Yokovla,_, po<L mde 160 00, Pt-.gue 6, Oech R.epubllc. ldMtlnea-. No. 
04572033 

Italian Gam ing Holdin9 a ~• • 
E111opskA 866/71, Vo k.oYlce_ po<Lmde 160 00, Prague 6 , Oedl R.epubllc. klentlnca_, No. 
04828526 

Ji Ba Hold s.r.o. Ev,opskA 866/63, post mde 160 00, P<ague 6 • Yo lcovlce_ a.di Republic, klenlfllcallon No. 
0859066◄ 

JNR Alfa, t:.r..o. 
EllropskJ 866/71, post mde 160 00, Prague 6 • Voktwlce_ a.di Republic, klerlll.llcatlon No. 
, , o , rA~ 

JNR S ioma_, t .r:-.,o Ell t0pska 866/71, post mde 160 00, Prague 6 - Vo kovla,_, aedl Republic, klen!lllcatlon No. 
, o , r A~ 

JTU Czech, .1.r.o. E111opskA 866/71, Vo kovice. po<L mde 160 00, Prague 6 , oecr, R.epubllc. klentlnca-. No. 
n,a ,,n.,,.. 

K.BOC Director 1.r.o. U.crkova 807/ 6,""" mde 695 01, H<>donin, Ctedl R"'" "'"IC. ldenUllo!tlon Ho . 196661◄4 

KBOC I nve:stering 8 . V. IIDI CT Amste,dam, Her1kert,e,vweg 292, Kl"!l(lom ortt>e Netlletland5, reg. No. 523089◄◄ 

KKCG a.I . 
EllropskJ 866/71, Yolcovlce_ po<L mde 160 00, Prague 6, CUCh R.epubllc. klentlnca-. No. 
, .. A ••• • 

tC:KCG Development a.~ .. Ev,opskA 866/71, Yolcovlce. po<L mde 160 00, Ptague 6, Oedl R.epubllc. klentlnca-. No. 
na-," """-" 

KKCG Industry B. Y. IIDI CT Amste,dam, Her1kert,e,vweg 292, Kl"!l(lom ortt>e Netherlands, reg. NO. 2727114◄ 

KKCG Methano l Hold ings LLC 10 B Lakeland Ave., Dover . Delaware. 19901, United Stat.es or Ame.tea, EI No. 36-4l!l1670 

KKCG Real Emile Group • . • . Ev,ops"" 866/71, Vo koYice. po<L mde 160 oo, Prague 6 , o ecr, R.epullllc. 1<1en1.1nca-. No. 
7 A "MU<.H 

KKOG Strudur e.d Finance AG Kapellgasse 21, 600◄ Lucane,. s..rw,,•1and, reg. No. CHE-292.174.442 

KKCG Techlabs t. r.o. V_,.ds.,, 1511/230, Stfi,snla., post code 100 00, P<ague 10, Ctecll Republk.. ldenUllcallon 
I"'. t◄N2◄79 

KKC--G Technologies Finance s-.r.o. Ell tOpskA 866/71, Vo kovlce. po<L mde 160 00, Prague 6, Oech R.epublk:. klentlnca-. No. 

KKCG Technologies t .r .o. ~~f>J~~~vl~ '5C£f ~ UiO ~~ul!! 0 , u&:JrRt!pi~ lcfa:I .. '""',_" n0. 

KKCG us Adi, isory LLC 12S High Street, Booton, MA-02110, United Stoles or Amer1ca, •"11· No. 8◄·2B1721◄ 

KOMDC o;gital t .r.o. Ditlnov-. 467/"211,, Smicl'lov, po,t code I SO 00, Prag'-"' 5, O""" Republic. ldendllcaUot1 No. 
1722218◄ 

KOMIX SK s.r.o. PfyM , enskJ 1, po<L code 821 09, BtllU<lav-., Slovak Republic. klenlillcaUon No. 5◄5903◄5 

Kyn.ero Consuttin,g a.s~ 
Ell t0psl<A 866/71, Vo lcovlce, po<L mde 160 00, Prague 6, O edl R.epublk:. klentlnca_, No. 
7A• <>> « < 

Leisure a E.nt.erteinment S . .A. (v likvidad / in 
Del Mllag,o 142, 4400 5.al to, AfgenUna, , eglslr. No . IGTJ de Salta Foao 253/◄ aslento 3◄84 L 13 liouid.ationl 

Liberty One Me.t h anol LLC 
◄OD C,pltol St,-..,t_ Su[1'! 200, Chat leston WV 25301, UnlU!<I stales of America, EI. No.32· 
0521898 

Liberty One O&M LLC 
◄OD capitol Street. Sul1'! 200, Cha,leston WV 25301, Unl1ed Stoles of America, El . NO. 30-_,.,,, 

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu I 
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Annex No. 1 • List of related parties 

List of parties controlled by the com,pany KKCG AG; with its registered seat at Ka peJlga..sse 21, 6004 Lucerne, 
The Swiss Confeder-aUon, registration numt,e_r CHE-326-.367.231, 11s o·r 11 December 2023 

SPOL.El:NOST / COMPANY seat., I dentification No. / Regi.1tration No. 

U >erty Two - nol LLC 
<IO0 O>plt:ol, Sttoet. Su[to! 200, CJ\1Mle,;to,, WV 25301, Unlll!d Stales of Amettc8, EI. No. 30-
0988055 

L TB Beteiligungt Gm.bH Unlverslta&lng 10, 1.0 10 Vienna, Austria, reg. No. FN64◄39a 

HEDICEM Group a.s . VlnoltlaclSkA, 1511/230, Sltra!nl<lt., post <OOe 100 00, Prague 10. C""1 Republle,. ldenU~ 
... n , , .. ,, 

Medicem Inc. 125 High Sttte:, Boston, MA-02110, Unlli!d SIJ>Les o r Amffl<:i>, El. tlo . JB-◄126132 

MEDICEM Technolog y • • , ,o 
Kamcnrn: Ze!WOvla!, Kafl0va l'$1Ca u,ua 20, post O>de 273 01, a«h Rep.,blic,. ldentl ftcauon 
Pio . ◄8036374 

Metanol d.o.o. Lendsva, MllnslCa ullca 5, 9220 Lendav1' • Lendva, Slol,enla, reg. tlo. 6564534000 

M indsquared • ·• · 
EvropskA 866/63. Vokovloe.. post a>de 160 00, Prague 6, Qe<ll Rep.,l>IJe,. ldentl flcatloft No . 
09771.492 

HND 1.s . lip.k:ova 807/ 6, post CIOde 695 01, Hodo<>ln. Qect, Republic,. ldenllllca110n PIO. 28◄83006 

MND Austria a .. .s. Up,11.ova 807/6, post CIOde 695 01 Hodonfn,Czec:11 Republic, ldefllJllaUon No. 19'10790◄ 

MND Dr illing a Se:rvj-eet a.Ji. VeltomotaYSkA 900/◄05, posta>de 69618, Lufl<:e, c,ect, Republic, ldel'IU11c8110n No. 255◄7631 

MNO Dr illing Germ any G.mbH 31582 Nlenburg, Domanenweg 7. Geimany, reg. No. HRB206722 

MND E.ne.111ie a .. .1. 
E\lropskA 866/71, Vokovloe.. post axle 160 00, Prague 6, Qect, Rep.,l>IJe,. ldentlflcatlon No . 
,on, ~o. 

MND E.n .. ~y Sto111ge - -~- lip;1r:o1,a 807/6, post CIOde 695 01, Hodonln, c,ect, Republic,. ld.,,,Ull<2tlon tlo . 2n3289◄ 

HND Energy Sto111ge Germany Gm bH 6◄665 Al5badl-H..!llni..tn. Bitkenweg 2, Germany. "'9- PIO. HRB96046 

MND Gat:l nvu:tUA s.r.o. Up.lr:ol,a 807/6. post CIOde 695 01, Hodonln, c,ect, Repullilc,. ldenUll<a110n Pio . 19237375 

MND Germa ny GmbH UiM:bu'9'!" Hoer'Sttaj!e n A, 29223 Celle, Germany. , eg. No. HRB2078◄◄ 

HND Group AG Kapellgasse 21, 600◄ Lua!me, Swttzerland, "'9- tl o . CHE-4-411.401.517 

HND Prodej a .s. 
E\lropskA 866/71, Vokovloe_. post <OOe 160 00, Prague 6, Qech Rep.,l>Uc. ldentl flcatloft No . 
-~,un 

MND Ukraine: 1.s. Up.lr:ol,a 807/6. post CIOde 695 01, Hodonln, C,ect, Repubilc,. ldenUl\ca110n Pio . 06957517 

MND Wind s .. r .o. lip.II.ova 807/ 6, post CIOde 695 01 Hodonfn, c,e,c11 Repullllc. ldentrllalllon tlo. 17873568 

Mor.avia S-ytte.r.ns a.s. v "'°"'"r1'1<A 1511/230, Stfa"'iOO, post axle 100 00, Prague 10, Cle<fl R<!p.,b11c,. ldenU-
No. 26915189 

Mu:jal.a Servi~ EOOD 36 Dragon Tsantov bivd, Ofl1cO! 505, 1057 Solla. Bulgaria. , eg. Ho. 205329279 

H uula SOft DOOEL 3, Fllp u M.i i<edonstl, Sir., ft.◄• offla! ◄003, StopJe 1000. Republic or tlo<Ul Maeedonla, .-eg. 110 . 
=na~n 

Mu.sala SO·ft EAD 36 Dragon Tsantov llivd, Ofl1cO! 505, 1057 Sofia, s..garla, reg. t/o . 202569949 

Mu.1.ala SOft Ko~vo LLC Str.Mujo Ulqlnatu No S-, Ap.10 Qyte?a Pe_Jtoo, 1000 Prlstlna, Kosovo, reg. No. 810171728 

Huula SOft UC 16 Khartoum St. A oor ◄, Helk>polls ca1ro, Egypt. reg. llo . 180934 

NIEAL t .r.o. EvropskA 866/71, Vokovloe_. post <OOe 160 00, Prague 6, Qech Rep.,bllc,. ID: 2609-4517 

Net<lp ClD Ltd. -on Road 2◄ , Jerusalem, Israel, reg. No. 51-S93482-6 

NeuroSOft Cyprus Ltd 11 & echthelOU Sh eet, Eo,oml. P.C. 2◄13. NIC>OSla. Cyprus, .-eglst,. No . Hf 2A5◄3'3 

Neurosort Romania Softwa re and Services Sci Loe. Voluntarl, Oras Voluntarl, SOS. Bucurestf Noni, Nr 10, Cladlrea de 81rovrl 021, Bucharest.. 
R=..,la , _, • .,_ No. 1n11 752/2009 

NEUROSOFT S..A, ( NEUROSOFT SOCIETE <166 l rakllou Avenue l!r Klp,ou Street. 141 22 Jratlk> Atutls, Athens. Greece, ,egtstratlon 
U lnNYII" CQE~a n E DaQnl l t"'TTQN> ... 
Ne-.-"t Peak Lim ited One Coonaught Pl- . London, lkllt:ed Kingdom, W2 2£T, regf,u_ tlo. 15250345 

Nikolaj ka Development t . r .. o. Evropska 866/71, Vokovloe.. post a>de 160 00, Prague 6, Qech Rep.,l>lk. ldenll ft"'tloft No . 
- , ~,_~ 

NOVECON a.s. EvropskA 866/63, Vokovl<:e, post a>de 160 oo. Pl--ague 6, oecr, Rep.,bllc. ldentlflcatloft No . 
n•~•n••• 

LG Holdina GmbH RennwM« 1038 Vienna Austr1a , ..,.st,_ No . Ftl 2685 

OPAP CYPRUS LTD 
128- 130 Lernesos Avenue. Sttovolos, 2015, Nlmsla, Repullllc or Cyprus, reglstJaUon No. 
u e ,n ua 

OPAP INTERNATIONAL LTD 
128-130 Lernesos Avena,e, Strovolos, 2015, Nlmsla, Repullllc o r Cyprus, regt.straUon No. 
tfEJ◄5913 

OPAP INVESTMENT LTD 
128-130 u,,-Avena,e (Floor 1), St:rovolos, 2015 , Nl<:Mla, Republic of Cyprus. reglSlfatlO<l 
No . H...,"7◄11 

OPAP S.A. ( e>rt,ani zation of Football Progn <>•Ua 
112 Atlllnon Avenue. GR 10◄ ◄2, Athens, Greece, reglstr.UOn Pio . 003823201000 S.A. \ 

OPAP SPORTS LTD 
128-130 t..ernesos Avonue (Floor 1) , Sttovolos, 2015 , NlalOla, Republic of Cyprus, reglSttallon 
No . HE1l3603 

Oriv Holding a.s. lip,11.ova 807/ 6, post CIOde 695 01, Hodonln, C,ect, Republic,. ldenUlla!tlon PIO. 11735376 

Ofte,.,-eidti1ch:e Klas.sen k>tterie 
Rennweg ◄◄, 1038 Vienna, AuslJla, reg151:r. No. Ftl ◄684121 

Vertr iebsoe:selltchaft m .b.H .. 

Osb!rce.ie:Pli1ch:e Lotleriu. Ge1.ell1chaft. m. b.H . Rennweg ◄◄, 1038 Vienna, AuslJla, regl stt. No. Ftl 54◄729 
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Annex No. 1 - List of relat..d parties 

List of parties controlled by the oampany KKCG AG, with its registered seat at Kapellgas.se 21, 6004 Lucern.e, 
The Swiu C0<1federati.on, registration number CHE-326,367,231, as or 31 December 2023 

SPOLEfNOST / COMPANY seat, I d.entiricatio.n No,, / R-egistr.at:ion No. 

Osterreichi1ch.e Sportwette.1 Gf!letlsch.aft m.b,H. Rennweg « , 1038 Vienna, Au<b1a, regl<lt. No. FN 1966451 

Perner0v1 Development t .r.o. Evropska 866/71, Vokovloe_ po<t code 160 00, Pl"ague 6,, Cledl Repoblk. ,ldenllfteatlon No . 
08682B44 

POM C-zech, s .. r.o. Evropska 866/71, Vokovloe. po<t code 160 00, Pl"ague 6, Qedi Repot>Oc. ldeRtlftcatlon No . 
I=, ,,•= 

QINSHi l'T • .•. (drive / formerly Aricomo CAD VlnolW8<1ska 1S11/230, Sb--a!nkle. post code 100 00, Prague 10, CU!cl1 11.epJllllc, ldenlllleallon 

- ' I HA , , .,. ... 

Qin:i:hift AB (drive / for merl y seavus AB) Sdleelev&oen 27, floor 16, 223 63 Lur>d, Sweden, 10!9. No . 556583-5935 

Qinshi ft Academy DOOl!l (d rrve / fo rmerly 
se.1vu1 lfducational and De"V elopment center 11 Oktornvr1 33,\, 1000 Skopje, RepubU<: OI NOrtll Ha<moola, reg. NO. 6643140 -~-- , 
QINSHi l'T CAPITAL • •• • (drive / f ormerly Vlnohra<lska 1511/230, Slra!nkle. post code 100 00, Prague 10, CU!cl1 Republlc. ldenUl!callon 
Arico ma CAD caoital a.s~ l Ho . 17802733 
QINSHil'T Cl! • ·•· ( dl-iwe / formerly Nico ma VoaaR>\/a 2500/20a, Uoen, po,lt code 1B0 00, Prague 8 , Cte,ch Republic. l<lenllllcaUoc, NO. 
o ;,,;1:111c E a .0.1 I047710 f C 
Qinshi ft d .o .o. Banja Luka (d ri ve/ f om,erly lvar>a Ftl!n~ Juklca 7, Banja Lul<a, Bosnia and Herc,,g0w1na. Republi< '11 S<!stia, ,eg. No . 57-01-
Seowul D00 I BA II 0252-17 
Qinshi ft DOO (d ffve / formerly Drultvo za VOJvode HISICil 9, 18 000 NIS, RepubllC or sert>la, ,eg_ ,..,_ 20177861 
l nfonnatK ku TechnOlotii ·u 5eavu:t DOO\ 
Qin~hift DOOEL (dffve / formerly Se.a:vu~ 

11 Oktomvr1 331\, 1000 S1<.opje. Republl<: OI Nortll Haoodo<lla, reg. No. 5323983 --··· QI NSHi fT Group AB (drive / formerly A ricoma 
C/O 5e4vus AB, Sdleelev~gen 27, post OOde 223 36 Lund, sw-.,, '0!9- No_ 559239-3473 - ,_. 

Qinshift S, R.L. (dl'lwe / fo rmer ly Seavus S. R.L.) M0-2071, st,_ Alba-lulla, 79/ 1, mun. K!Shinev, Rej>Ul)llc OI MoldOwa, ,eo. No. 1020600026584 

Qinshi ft USA Inc. (dnwe / for me.r1y Seavus USA 
2352 Main Sl.tt<:l. SIJJIJ! 200, COn<lotd, MA 01742,. United >tales of...,,,-.,, reg. No. 00067 3055 

l nc4 \ 

Rabcat c.ompute.r Graphics GmbH Rennweg 46-50(1/6 ( L OG), 1030 Vienna, AuslJla, r "9l<lt. No. FN 276027y 

R.ela:x Rezide.nce. Cihli fka, s.r.Ct.. ev,op,:i<a 866/71, Vokovloe. post code 160 00, Pl"ague 6, Cledi Repot>Oc. ldeRtlftcatlon No. 
05662079 

Re..i:IUVOiuj i d.-o.o le<\dl>Va, Mllnsl<a ullca S, 9220 I.Mdava - Le<dva, Slovenla, ,eg. Ho. 6564-470000 

Sabris Con.tulting s. r .o. Mafslta 621/7, linonlOe, po$t OOde 155 oo, Praoi,e s, Ct«:ll Repul)IIC, ldenttflCM!On No. 
1114 7017An 

Sa br1S ConJulting SK s,r,o. ( drive / formerly Kra50VSI<..,., 3986(14, BtallSlava - munlclpal dlstrlet = l i<a, post code 851 01, Slovalcla, 
S1bris 1.r-"', , lu-u n-•~ N" . 441 1""21 
SAL.El.A, a .'5.. ( v konkurzu, v upadku1 zahljeno 
insclven~n( ffzen( / in bankruptey, insolvency K Zl!kovu 851, post OOde 19093, PfB9ue 9, C2led'I Republic, ldentllicallon NO- 47116307 

; ... ;.; ......... , 
SAZKA • -• · 

ev,opsk.! 866/69, vokovloe. po<t code 160 oo, Pl"ague 6, Cledl RepobiJC. ,ldenllft"'tlon No. 
26493993 

SAZKA Austrian Gam ing Holding a,ct, 
Evropska 866/71, Vokovloe. post CIOde 160 00, Prague 6, Qe,ch Repotllk. ,ldenllftcatlon No . 
040477B8 

SAZKA DELTA AIF VARIABLE CAPITAL Arch. Makl!lrlOU m. 195, Neod<!OUS Hous,e, 3030 Umassot, RepubllC OI Cyprus. regl<lt. --~- ..... I HA ""'· ... _ 

SAZKA DEL TA MANAGEMENT LTD Arch. Makarlou m. 195, Neod<!OUS Hous,e, 3030 Umassot, Republi< of Cyprus. regl<lt. 
I HA ... , , c , 

SAZKA FTS a,o. EVropska 866/69, Vokovloe. post code 160 00, Pl"ague 6, Qech Repobllc. ,ldenllftc,tlon No. 
ln.~ aua 

SAZKA 5-ervicu. .1.r .o. 
ev,opso:a 866/69, Vokovloe. post CIOde 160 00, Pl"ague 6, Cledi Repobllc. ldeRtlftcatlon No. 

Inc ,.a,-, 

SC Cz:ce,h Act, t.r.O. 
Evropso:a 866/71, Vokovloe_ post CIOde 160 00, Pr-..gue 6, Qe,ch RA!put>lk. ldenllftcatlon No . 
1n<><SQSCI 

SC Czce,h ACJ; t . r ..o. Evropso:a 866/71, Vokovloe. po<t CIOde 160 00, l'r•gue 6, Qe,ch RA!put>lk. ldenllftcatlon No. 
10969560 

SC Cz.ec:h ADV, s~r.o. 
Evropso:a 866/71, Vokovloe_ post code 160 00, Prague 6, Qe,ch Repoblle, ,ldenllftcatlon No . 
119770S1 

SC Cze<:h ADZ, 1,r .o. 
Evropska 866/71, Vokovloe_ post CIOde 160 00, Pr•oue 6, Qe,ch Repot>Oc. ,ldenllftcatlon No. 
11977230 

SC Czech AER, t .r.o. Evr0psk.! 866/71, Vokovloe, post code 160 oo, Prague 6, Oe,ch RA!put>Oc. ,ldenllncatson No. 
111 '71'\D,..._C"G 

SC Cz:ec:h AES, 14,0, 
EVropskll 866/71, Vokovloe. post CIOde 160 00, Pl"ague 6, Qech Repot,lk. ,ldenllftcatlon No. 

l pno,n A 

SC Cz:ec:h AGN; S; r .o .. 
Evtop,:k.! 866/63, Vokovloe. post code 160 00, Pl"ague 6, Cledl Repo!Jllc, ldeRtlftcatlon No . 
17875111 

SDL Air. s.r.o. (drive. / foli'IU!!rly SC Czech ACV ev,opsk.! 866/71, Vokovloe_ post CIOde 160 00, Prague 6, Qedi Repot>Oc. ,ldenllftcatlon No . 
s .r.ol 10969667 
se.1vu1 Educational and Of!velopment cenM:r 

VoJvode Hl<lcil 9, 1B ooo Nls, Republlc or sert>la, ,eg_ Ho. 29508429 
000 

se.avul FU.C 
FU.C SfAY\JS, 2SA !ntefflatslooalnaya St., ofil<le 420, Hln~lt. 220 030, RA!publlc of Bell!lrl.rS, ' "9-
lk>. 190835458 

se.avul GmbH Itrl ker Dorl St., ... .., 57, 8627 GrOnlngen, Swltterland, ,-.g. Ho. CHE- 020.4.049.285-2 

SEAYUS SOFTWARE TECHNOLOGIES J.S,C. Fulya Mah. Buyiikder'e C.d. Pekl ntil$ Group Blok No: 32 ~ Kap, NO: 4 Sl,IJ / JStanbu~ Tut key, .,,. ... ,,. 
se.avus Sp. z o.o. 59 Zlcta Sbeel. 00-120 Warsaw, Poland, reg. Ho. 913203 

SE:MUT s,r,o~ 
EV,opso:a 866/71, Vokowloe. po<t code 160 00, Pl"ague 6, Cledl Repobll<:,. ,ldenllft"'tlon No. 
25792B49 

Spie J.ba nken Niede.rsachsen GmbH Karmarsd\stta 8e 37-39, 30159 Hannover, Gem1any, reglStr. No. HRB 50373 
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Annex No. 1 • List of related parties 

Li st- of parties c o ntro lled by the compan y KICCG AG, with its registered seat at Kapeltgane 21, 6004 Lucerne, 

The Swi:ss Confederation, registration number CHE-326~367. 231, as of 31 December 2023 

SPOLEi:NOST / COMPANY seat.- I dentification No. / Registration No .. 

SPORT\.EASE • ·-~" 
EwopskA 866/69, Vokovloe, post code 160 00, Prague 6, Codi R.ep,bllc, ldentlflcatlon No. 
62361546 

SprinOf:ide Ve.ntu nH t.r .o . 
Evro pskA 866/71, Vokovloe, past code 160 00, Prague 6, Codi R.ep,bllc, Identification No. 
01726587 

St:oix.im.an Holding Ltd 
omce 1/ 1007, ~el G.. ~•ntum House 75, Abate Rigoni stteet. Ta'Xble• XBX 1120, ,egrsu. tl.o . 
,~•A• -• 

Stoi._iman Ltd Flat 68, The A1zlum West Sb-eet H,l<la, M5D17J1 Haiti>, reglstr. NO. C95597 

STR C.edl s.r .o. Evrops"" 866/71, Vokovloe, past code 160 00, Prague 6, Codi R.ep,bllc, ldentlftcatlon No. 
1077••·◄◄ 

Stratiteq Swede n AB Gustav Adolf$ Tor9 10 A, 211 39 Halm6, Sweden, .reg. NO. 556622-2682 

SUPERMARIN.E, s,.r .o. Evro pskA 866/71, Vokovloe, past code 160 00, Prague 6, Codi R.ep,bllc, ldentlflcatlon No. 
08062773 

Sweeblpot CZ s.r .o .. 
Evro pskA 866/63, Vokovloe, past code 160 00, Prague 6, Codi R.ep,bllc, ldentlflcatlon No. 
09B58636 

SYSCOM SOFTWARE! spol. • ,.o. 
KytJickA 8 I a/2I a, Pfo«;k, post <Ode 190 00, PtalJ.le 9, a,,a, Repullllc, ld""'111ca11on tlo . 

l.cHa•nu 

Theta RHI t:.r. o-. 
Evropso:a 866/71, Vokovloe, past code 160 00, Prague 6, Coe, Republlc, ldentlftcatlon No. ,,, .... ~, 

ThreatMark s.r.o. Hllnky 505/11B. PlsArky, post <Ode 603 00, Brno , O:edl RepublJc. ldentillcaUon No. 04222091 

ThreatMark, lne. 
19B0I WllmlnOtC<I, New a.sue. Delaware, Ora,,oe S!Jed 1209, un11e<1 states or Ametle.a, reg. 
tk>. 6381229 

TORA DIRECT SINGLE MEMBERS.A. ( TORA 
DIRECT SINGLl!·MEMBER SOCIETE AHONYME 112A1111non Avenue, GR 10◄ 42 Athens, Greece, regfsb . No . 005641201000 
fOR THE PROVISI ON Of SERVICES\ 
TORA WALLET SINGLI! MEMBERS.A. ( TORA 
WALLET SINGLE-MEMBER SOCIETE ANONYME 112 Allllnon Avenue, GR 104 42 Alllens. Greece, r-egl<l:t. Ho . 139861001000 
r=•• ~~~r- ~rnmrr,:\ 

us Methanol UC 40 0 Copltol Street, Sun., 200, Q\arle,ton WV 25301, Un11'!<1 Stab!$, EI. No. 81-1952040 

us Md l'lanol Mid<o LLC 
◄00 O,pltol Street. sun., 200, O\ar1eston WV 25301, Un"'"' Stab!$ of Am"'1C>. El . No. 81-
1a••~n 

VESTINLOG., s. r .o. 
Evrops"" 866/71, Vokovloe, past code 160 00, Ptague 6, Codi R.ep,blk. ldentlftca"°" No. 
05629276 

Viage Production S~A. Rue Gr~try 16-20, 1000 aruxetle,, Bet91um. reglstr. No. 0474.725.225 

Vinohradskll 230 a.s. Vlnolvadska 1511/230, Slta~ ice. post aide 100 00, Pr.19ue 10, O:ed1 Republlc:. ldenUllc;!""" 
tk>. 26203944 
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Annex 2 – List of contracts between Related Entities concluded in the Accounting Period 

 

Contracting party Contract no. Object of contract Date of contract 

Aricoma Digital s.r.o. NS/2023/0196 Technical Maintenance and Development Agreement 14.09.2023 

AUTOCONT a.s. NS/2023/0030 Framework Licensing Agreement 24.02.2023 

FVE Mušov I s.r.o. NSO/2023/0012 Agreement on the provision of a contribution to other capital funds 10.07.2023 

FVE Mušov II s.r.o. NSO/2023/0013 Agreement on the provision of a contribution to other capital funds 12.05.2023 

FVE Orlová I s.r.o. NS/2023/0247 Electricity supply contract with assumption of the obligation to supply electricity 
to the electricity system 

30.11.2023 

G2P Borkovany s.r.o. NSO/2023/0005 Agreement on the provision of a contribution to other capital funds 06.03.2023 

KBOC Director s.r.o. NSO/2023/0034 Agreement on the provision of a contribution to other capital funds 30.08.2023 

KKCG a.s. NS/2023/0150 Framework Agreement for the Provision of Services 02.01.2023 

Kynero Consulting a.s. RO/2230051 ID cards print 31.12.2023 

LLC Geologichne bureau "Lviv" PS/2023/0027 Contract for Services 01.04.2023 

LLC Horyzonty PS/2023/0028 Contract for Services 01.04.2023 

LLC Horyzonty PS/2023/0045 Sale-Purchase Agreement 22.05.2023 

LLC Precarpathian energy company PS/2023/0026 Contract for Services 01.04.2023 

LLC Precarpathian energy company PS/2023/0038 Sale-Purchase Agreement 13.03.2023 

MND Austria a.s. NSO/2023/0033 Agreement on the provision of a contribution to other capital funds 14.08.2023 

MND Austria a.s. PS/2023/0048 Contract for the provision of services – economic and other services 09.06.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2022/0214 Contract for work – well workover Poddvorov 128 10.01.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2023/0269 Contract for work – well workover Žižkov 20 29.12.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NSO/2023/0010 Agreement on acceptance of GTC MND a.s. for drilling operations 01.03.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NSO/2023/0011 Agreement on Acceptance of BP at MND Drilling & Services Workplaces 01.03.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. PS/2023/0016 Vehicle Lease Agreement 02.01.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RO/2230031 Provision of cleaning services 31.12.2023 

I I I 111111 Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 
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Contracting party Contract no. Object of contract Date of contract 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RO/2230057 Re-invoicing of service water consumption 2023 31.12.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RO/2230058 Design and construction work in 2023 10.01.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RO/2230059 Repairs of small-scale vehicles incl. tire repairs 2023 10.01.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RO/2230060 Industrial Gases in 2023 31.08.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RO/2230061 Stock in 2023 31.12.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RO/2230062 Defectoscopic work – inspection of welds, structures 30.04.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RO/2230063 Participation in the weighing of scrap mat. 30.09.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RO/2230099 Fuel tank rental 31.10.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RS/2230002 
 

09.01.2024 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RS/2230003 Installation and testing of rescuers cart 21.12.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RS/2230007 
 

01.11.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RS/2230014 
 

26.10.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RS/2230023 Sale of goods from warehouse 3202 11.09.2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. RS/2230027 
 

22.11.2023 

MND Energie a.s. OE/2023/0005 Agreement on Settlement of Obligations under the Framework Agreement on the 
Supply and Takeover of Electricity 

29.12.2023 

MND Energie a.s. PS/2023/0004 Insurance premium rebilling agreement 16.01.2023 

MND Energie a.s. PS/2023/0060 Contract of sale 17.10.2023 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2023/0014 Agreement on Mutual Assistance in UGS Accidents 17.02.2023 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2023/0020 Contract for interruptible temporary operating volume 18.04.2023 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2023/0023 Gas storage contract for the reservation of monthly storage capacity and for the 
lease of gas 

14.04.2023 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2023/0039 Gas storage contract for the reservation of annual storage capacity with firm 
capacity 

24.07.2023 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2023/0040 Gas storage contract for the reservation of annual storage capacity with firm 
capacity 

24.07.2023 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2023/0061 Framework contract for a temporary interruptible counter-product 27.12.2023 

I I I 111111 Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 
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Contracting party Contract no. Object of contract Date of contract 

MND Energy Storage a.s. PS/2023/0005 Framework Agreement for the Provision of Services – Interpretation of Logging 
Measurement 

02.01.2023 

MND Energy Storage a.s. PS/2023/0006 Framework Agreement for the Provision of Services – Geodetic Works 02.01.2023 

MND Energy Storage a.s. PS/2023/0007 Framework Service Agreement – Work with Increased Risk  HBZS 02.01.2023 

MND Energy Storage a.s. PS/2023/0012 Framework Agreement for the Provision of Services 02.01.2023 

MND Energy Storage Germany GmbH OP/2023/0014 Agreement on Mutual Assistance in UGS Accidents 17.02.2023 

MND GasInvestUA s.r.o. NSO/2023/0026 Agreement on the provision of a contribution to other capital funds 11.07.2023 

MND GasInvestUA s.r.o. PS/2023/0044 Contract for the provision of services – economic and other services 19.05.2023 

MND Prodej a.s. PS/2023/0003 Insurance premium rebilling agreement 09.02.2023 

MND Wind s.r.o. NSO/2023/0014 Agreement on the provision of a contribution to other capital funds 21.04.2023 

MND Wind s.r.o. PS/2023/0039 Contract for the provision of services – economic and other services 09.05.2023 

Oriv Holding a.s. NSO/2023/0046 Agreement on the provision of a contribution to other capital funds 13.12.2023 
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Annex 3 – List of contracts between Related Entities concluded prior to the Accounting Period 

 

Contracting party Contract no. Object of contract Date of contract 

Aricoma Systems a.s. NS/2016/0094 Service Agreement – IaaS for vDC MND07 29.07.2016 

Aricoma Systems a.s. NS/2017/0008 Service Activity Agreement – Operation and Administration of PaaS Environments 06.02.2017 

Aricoma Systems a.s. OP/2022/0039 Agreement for the provision of datacenter, cloud and other services 27.12.2022 

AUTOCONT a.s. 724.42-735/04 Navision Services 18.12.2003 

AUTOCONT a.s. 724.42-736/03 Navision License 18.12.2003 

AUTOCONT a.s. NS/2015/0141 Service Event Agreement – HO-LU Data Circuit 28.08.2015 

AUTOCONT a.s. NS/2016/0045 Service Agreement - SQLaaS 03.05.2016 

AUTOCONT a.s. NS/2016/0046 Service Agreement - Infor EAM Hosting 04.05.2016 

AUTOCONT a.s. NS/2019/0242 Service Agreement - Microsoft Cloud Services 13.12.2019 

AUTOCONT a.s. NS/2021/0111 Service Agreement - IaaS-VDC_MND11 26.10.2021 

AUTOCONT a.s. NS/2022/0188 Contract for work No. PAS-220048 22.12.2022 

AUTOCONT a.s. NS/2022/0216 Microsoft Licenses 09.12.2022 

FM&S Czech a.s. NS/2021/0052 Fitness Services Agreement 12.05.2021 

FM&S Czech a.s. NS/2021/0053 Contract for the Provision of Services – company catering 12.05.2021 

FM&S Czech a.s. NS/2021/0054 Lease and Service Agreement 12.05.2021 

FM&S Czech a.s. NS/2021/0151 Agreement for the provision of asset management and maintenance services 01.07.2021 

KKCG a.s. NS/2016/0079 Service Agreement 30.05.2016 

KKCG a.s. NS/2020/0070 ICT Service Contract 08.06.2020 

KKCG a.s. PS/2022/0022 Movable property lease agreement 01.05.2022 

KKCG a.s. PS/2022/0023 Sublease agreement Bořislavka centrum 01.05.2022 

KKCG a.s. PS/2022/0024 Agreement, sublease agreement and service agreement 01.05.2022 

KKCG AG NS/2016/0107 Trademark License Agreement 23.08.2016 

Kynero Consulting a.s. RO/2190044 ID Cards 28.01.2022 

LLC Horyzonty PS/2022/0017 Service Agreement 01.04.2022 
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Contracting party Contract no. Object of contract Date of contract 

LLC Horyzonty PS/2023/0015 Contract for Information Technology Services 31.12.2022 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. 724.42-007/01 Economic and payroll services 12.02.2024 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. 724.42-146/01 Contract for work – economic and payroll services 19.01.2001 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2005/0266 Contract for work – provision of administrative economic services 01.09.2005 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2011/0012 Framework Contract for the Execution of Small-Scale Perforation Works 21.01.2011 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2012/0108 Framework Service Agreement – repairs, preventive inspections, maintenance, 
emergency service 

01.05.2012 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2012/0168 Contract for the lease of non-residential premises and land 01.05.2012 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2013/0346 Framework contract for the supply of diesel fuel 31.10.2013 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2014/0462 Framework contract for the supply of machine parts 31.12.2014 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2015/0038 Contract on re-invoicing of costs – water, sewerage Lužice 30.01.2015 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2016/0130 Framework Service Agreement – transport and crane services 18.10.2016 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2017/0039 Contract for storage and storage activities 29.03.2017 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2018/0257 Framework contract – cleaning, refurbishment and storage of footrests and rods 31.12.2018 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2018/0265 Lease agreement for the lease of business premises and for the provision of services 
related to the lease 

30.11.2018 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2019/0001 Framework Agreement Well Research 16.01.2019 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2019/0119 Service agreement - steam generator  31.12.2020 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2020/0090 Framework Service Agreement – works performed by cementing and pressure 
aggregates 

27.07.2020 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2020/0128 Framework contract for the provision of environmental services 02.12.2020 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2022/0105 HBZS Lease Agreement 31.03.2022 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2022/0135 Lease agreement Object S Lužice 31.08.2022 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2022/0187 Contract for work – drilling of the well Klobouky 7 14.11.2022 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2022/0202 Contract for work – abandonment of a set of 25 wells 07.12.2022 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2022/0205 Contract for work – workover of the Vracov 8 well 02.12.2022 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2022/0211 Contract for work – workover of the Mutěnice 14 well 19.12.2022 
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Contracting party Contract no. Object of contract Date of contract 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. NS/2022/0221 Lease contract 15.09.2022 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. PS/2004/0003 Contract on re-invoicing of costs – electricity Lužice 10.02.2004 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. PS/2007/0062 Contract for the provision of well control services 20.12.2007 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. PS/2012/0012 Framework Service Agreement – repairs, preventive inspections, maintenance, 
emergency service 

01.05.2012 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. PS/2013/0043 Lease agreement – land Lužice 30.07.2013 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. PS/2014/0003 Agreement on mine water use and reimbursement of costs 02.01.2014 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. PS/2014/0028 Framework Contract for Provision of services – dismantling and assembly of drilling 
rigs 

23.07.2014 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. PS/2014/0039 Lease agreement on the lease of business premises and the provision of services 
related to the lease 

03.11.2014 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. PS/2015/0082 Insurance premium rebilling agreement 26.11.2015 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. PS/2020/0058 Agreement on rebilling of operating and maintenance costs for of the HV 64 line 02.11.2020 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. PS/2020/0059 Framework Service Agreement on HR services 30.10.2020 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. PS/2022/0004 Contract for the provision of well control services 03.02.2022 

MND Energie a.s. NS/2021/0124 Service Agreement – economic services 27.10.2021 

MND Energie a.s. NS/2021/0125 Service Agreement – IT 27.10.2021 

MND Energie a.s. NS/2022/0213 Electricity Supply Services Contract 09.12.2022 

MND Energie a.s. NS/2022/0219 Electricity Supply Services Contract 22.12.2022 

MND Energie a.s. NS/2022/0220 Natural Gas Supply Services Contract 22.12.2022 

MND Energie a.s. OE/2021/0013 EFET Electricity 01.11.2021 

MND Energie a.s. OP/2021/0079 EFET Gas 01.11.2021 

MND Energie a.s. PS/2021/0062 Service Agreement – HR 27.10.2021 

MND Energie a.s. PS/2021/0063 Lease Agreement 27.10.2021 

MND Energie a.s. PS/2021/0065 Service Agreement – economic services 27.10.2021 

MND Energie a.s. PS/2021/0066 Service Agreement – IT 27.10.2021 

MND Energie a.s. PS/2021/0077 Service Agreement – trading 30.11.2021 
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Contracting party Contract no. Object of contract Date of contract 

MND Energie a.s. PS/2023/0021 Agreement on Provision of Corporate Customer Service to the Client 30.12.2022 

MND Energy Storage a.s. NS/2012/0120 Gas Supply Contract to the Dambořice deposit 30.04.2012 

MND Energy Storage a.s. NS/2015/0248 Purchase Agreement – low temperature condensate 28.12.2015 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2017/0240 Gas Storage Contract 20.10.2017 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2017/0241 Gas Storage Contract 20.10.2017 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2019/0035 Contract on the provision of commercial dispatching services 02.01.2019 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2019/0333 Gas Storage Contract 05.07.2019 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2020/0001 Gas Storage Contract 06.01.2020 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2020/0110 Gas Storage Contract 17.03.2020 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2020/0140 Gas Storage Contract 12.05.2020 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2021/0099 Gas Storage Contract 18.10.2021 

MND Energy Storage a.s. OP/2022/0030 Framework contract for interruptible temporary working gas volume 12.10.2022 

MND Energy Storage a.s. PS/2008/0113 Lease agreement for the lease of non-residential premises 30.05.2008 

MND Energy Storage a.s. PS/2009/0012 Service Agreement on electronic communications  30.01.2009 

MND Energy Storage a.s. PS/2009/0019 Contract for the provision of well control services 30.04.2009 

MND Energy Storage a.s. PS/2010/0057 Agreement on the provision of economic and other services 30.07.2010 

MND Energy Storage a.s. PS/2016/0002 Contract for the provision of maintenance services of technical equipment 13.01.2016 

MND Energy Storage a.s. PS/2022/0005 Agreement on the provision of well control services and reimbursement of costs for 
the operation of MWCU 

30.12.2021 

MND Energy Storage Germany GmbH PS/2015/0067 Contract for Services 04.03.2024 

MND Prodej a.s. PS/2020/0062 Service Agreement 30.10.2020 

MND Ukraine a.s. PS/2020/0064 Service Agreement – Accounting, Taxes, Payroll 05.11.2020 

Moravia Systems a.s. PS/2020/0052 Lease 12.08.2020 

Oriv Holding a.s. PS/2021/0061 Contract for the provision of services – economic and other services 01.11.2021 

SAZKA a.s. NSO/2014/0123 Agreement on the regulation of relationships within the group VAT 29.10.2014 
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III. Consolidated financial statements of MND a.s. as at 31 December 2023 

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in the Czech language and in English. In all matters of 
interpretation of information, views or opinions, the Czech version of the consolidated financial statements takes precedence 
over the English version. 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 

The notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  

 
Note 31/12/2023 

 
31/12/2022  

Assets     

     

Underground gas storages   1 935  2 003 

Land  321  248 

Buildings and structures  1 169  1 119 

Oil and gas wells  1 682  1 661 

Oil and gas property  92  357 

Machinery and equipment  1 546  1 508 

Other tangible fixed assets and assets under 

construction 
 490 

 
247 

Property, plant and equipment 5 7 235  7 143 

     

Intangible assets 6 161  155 

     

Equity-accounted investees  7 771  543 

Non-current trade and other receivables 9 420  397 

Non-current receivables from derivative financial 
instruments 

18 434 
 

603 

Other non-current investments 8 46  41 

Non-current financial assets  1 671  1 584 

     

Deferred tax asset 27 373  125 

     

Total non-current assets  9 440  9 007 

     

Inventories 11 978  2 545 

Current trade and other receivables 9 3 228  4 792 

Income tax receivables  376  -- 

Current receivables from derivative financial 
instruments 

18 897 
 

4 687 

Other current financial assets 10 4 262  4 321 

Cash and cash equivalents 12 1 702  1 871 

Total current assets  11 443  18 216 

     

Total assets  20 883  27 223 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 

(continued) 
Note 31/12/2023 

 

31/12/2022  

     

Liabilities and equity     

     

Equity     

Share capital 13 1 000  1 000 

Capital contributions and other reserves  -309  653 

Retained earnings and profit/loss for the current period  8 290  7 488 

Equity attributable to the shareholder of the Company  8 981  9 141 

Non-controlling interests 14 225  232 

Total equity  9 206  9 373 

     

Liabilities     

Loans, bonds issued - non-current portion 15 2 455  2 299 

Non-current lease liabilities 16 292  281 

Non-current trade and other payables 17 68  125 

Non-current liabilities from derivative financial 
instruments 

18 331 
 

1 089 

Non-current provisions 19 1 747  1 535 

Deferred tax liability 27 401  401 

Total non-current liabilities  5 294  5 730 

     

Loans, bonds issued - current portion 15 152  2 474 

Current lease liabilities 16 44  36 

Current trade and other payables 17 3 624  4 130 

Income tax liability  42  270 

Current liabilities from derivative financial instruments 18 2 430  5 098 

Current provisions 19 91  112 

Total current liabilities  6 383  12 120 

     

Total liabilities  11 677  17 850 

     

Total equity and liabilities  20 883  27 223 

 

The notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

 

The notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  

 
Note 2023 

 
2022  

Revenue 20 55 651  208 761 

Other operating income 21 765  1 501 

Total income  56 416  210 262 

 
    

Materials and goods used  22 -49 572  -200 961 

Services used 22 -2 636  -2 734 

Personnel expenses 23 -952  -872 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  24 -1 001  -905 

Other operating expenses 25 -1 064  -1 000 

Result from operating activities  1 191  3 790 

 
    

Interest income 26 155  60 

Other finance income 26 228  432 

Finance costs 26 -542  -295 

Result from financing activities  -159  197 

 
    

Share of profit (+)/ loss (-) of equity-accounted 
investees, net of tax 

7 95 
 

-- 

Profit or loss before tax  1 127  3 987 

 
    

Income tax expense 27 -321  -794 

 
    

Profit or loss for the year  806  3 193 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

(continued) 
Note 2023 

 
2022  

     

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss:     

Foreign currency translation differences of foreign 
operations 

 -- 
 

-267 

Exchange rate differences arising from the conversion 
of foreign units sold 

 -55 
 

-- 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments, net of tax 28 -950  8 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments reclassified 
to profit or loss, net of tax 

 
-- 

 
76 

Share of other comprehensive income/loss of  
equity-accounted investees 

 
33 

 
-- 

 
    

Other comprehensive income/loss, net of tax 28 -972  -183 

     

Total comprehensive income/loss for the period  -166  3 010 

 
    

Profit/ loss attributable to:     

Owners of the Company  802 
 

3 055 

Non-controlling interests  4 
 

138 

Total profit or loss for the year  806 
 

3 193 

Total comprehensive income/loss attributable to:   
 

 

Owners of the Company  -159 
 

2 926 

Non-controlling interests  -7 
 

84 

Total comprehensive income/loss for the year  -166 
 

3 010 

Earnings per share: 13    

Basic earnings / loss (-) per share (in CZK thousands)  16  61.1 

Diluted earnings / loss (-) per share  
(in CZK thousands)  

16 
 

61.1 

 

 

 

The notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

 

2023 
Share 
capital 

Other 
contributions 
and reserves 

Translation 
reserve  

Hedging 
reserve  

Share on 

funds of 
equity-

accounted 
investees  

Retained 
earnings/ 

Profit 
(+)/loss  

(-) for the 

year 

Equity 

Non-
controlling 

interests 

Total equity 

Balance at 1 January 2023 1 000 826 -159 4 -18 7 488 9 141 232 9 373 

Profit or loss for 2023 -- -- -- -- -- 802 802 4 806 

Other comprehensive 
income/loss 

-- -- -45 -950 33 -- -962 -11 -972 

Total comprehensive 
income/loss 

-- -- -45 -950 33 802 -160 -7 -166 

Balance at 31 December 
2023 

1 000 826 -204 -946 15 8 290 8 981 225 9 207 

 

The notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

 

2022 
Share 
capital 

Other 

contributio
ns and 

reserves 

Translation 
reserve  

Hedging 
reserve  

Share on 

funds of 
equity-

accounted 
investees  

Retained 

earnings/ 
Profit (+)/loss  

(-) for the 
year 

Equity 

Non-
controlling 

interests 

Total 
equity 

Balance at 1 January 2022 1 000 826 54 -80 -18 4 433 6 215 245 6 460 

Profit or loss for 2022 -- -- -- -- -- 3 055 3 055 138 3 193 

Other comprehensive 
income/loss 

-- -- -213 84 -- -- -129 -54 -183 

Total comprehensive 

income/loss 
-- -- -213 84 -- 3 055 2 926 84 3 010 

Transactions with owners of 
the Company, reported 

directly in equity: 

         

Dividends paid, including 
withholding tax on dividends 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -89 -89 

Decrease in other capital 
contributions 

 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -8 -8 

Total transactions with 
owners of the Company, 

reported directly in equity 

-- -- -- -- -- -- -- -97 -97 

Balance at 31 December 
2022 

1 000 826 -159 4 -18 7 488 9 141 232 9 373 

 

The notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 

 
Note 2023  2022  

Operating activities       

Net profit (+) / loss (-) for the year  806  3 193 

Adjustments for:     

Share of profit (-) / loss (+) of equity-accounted investees  -95  -- 

Interest expense (net of interest income) 26 40  191 

Tax expense (+) / income (-) 27 321  794 

Effect of currency translation (gains - / losses +) 26 18  19 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 24 773  907 

Amortisation of intangible assets 24 26  19 

Depreciation of right of use 24 55  74 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 24 147  -95 

Income from current financial assets 26 -227  -45 

Non-cash changes of financial derivatives 18 -417  -4 785 

Non-cash changes of inventories  --  -- 

Gain (-) / loss (+) on sale of non-current assets 25 -1  5 

     

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in 
working capital and provisions 

 1 446 
 

277 

     

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in provisions   -90  -31 

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories  1 567  2 194 

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in receivables   1 286  2 052 

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in current liabilities  -638  863 

     

Cash flows from operating activities  3 571  5 355 

     

Interest paid  -126  -218 

Income tax paid  -900  -490 

     
Net cash flows generated from operating activities  2 545  4 647 

     

Investing activities     

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets  10  87 

Income from current financial assets 26 227  45 

Interest received  137  59 

Contribution into joint venture / Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of 
cash acquired 

12 -100 
 

-- 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  -721  -708 

Increase (-) /decrease (+) in current financial assets, net  55  -3 790 

Cash flows from investing activities  -392 
 

-4 307 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued) Note 2023 
 

2022  

Financing activities   
 

 

Drawing of loans and borrowings (+) 15 1 399 
 

18 879 

Repayment of (-) loans and borrowings 15 -3 674 
 

-18 972 

Payments of lease liabilities 16 -44 
 

-37 

Payment to minority shareholders from other funds 14 -- 
 

-8 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 14 -- 
 

-89 

Cash flows from financing activities  -2 319 
 

-227 

   
 

 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  -166 
 

113 

Effect of foreign exchange movements in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 -2 
 

-92 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  1 871 
 

1 850 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 12 1 702 
 

1 871 

 

The notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. General information about the Group 

1.1. Description 

MND a.s. (“the Company”) was established by its sole founder on 30 September 2008 under the original corporate 
name ORTOKLAS a.s. The Company was incorporated on 3 November 2008 and is recorded in the Commercial 
Register maintained by the Regional Court in Brno under file number B 6209. The Company’s registered office is 
at Úprkova 807/6, Hodonín, post code 695 01, identification number 284 83 006. 

1.2. Current economic situation 

In late February 2022, ongoing political tensions between Russia and Ukraine escalated into conflict with Russia's 
military invasion of Ukraine. The global response to Russia's violation of international law and aggression against 
Ukraine has been the imposition of extensive sanctions and restrictions on business activities in Russia and trade 
with Russia and Russian companies. Uncertainty about further developments has resulted in extreme increase in 
gas and electricity prices, heightened volatility in financial and commodity markets, reduced liquidity in 

commodity markets and other negative consequences for the economy. The Group took steps to mitigate the 
impact of the situation on its activities, in particular by temporarily halting commodity trading, reducing the size 
of leased natural gas storage facilities and suspending the acquisition of new customers in the sale of gas and 
electricity. In the second half of 2022, the Group gradually resumed commodity trading and by the end of the 
year also resumed the acquisition of new customers. The Group produces natural gas in western Ukraine in the 
Lviv region. This activity has not been affected by the war between Russia and Ukraine, and the Group continues 

in natural gas production and in drilling of exploration and production wells in the area. As at 31 December 2023, 
the Group had net assets in Ukraine with a book value of CZK 1 125 million (CZK 1 160 million as at 31 December 
2022). 

1.3. Principal activities 

The principal business activities of the MND Group are: 

• energy supply to households and small businesses; 

• trading in energy commodities; 

• operation of underground gas storages and provision of gas storage services; 

• exploration and production of oil and natural gas; 

• drilling contractor services, focusing on drilling of oil and gas exploration and production wells and 
hydro and geothermal wells and workover operations and plug and abandon operations on wells; 

• investment in renewable energy sources and the development of new technologies. 

1.4. Group companies 

The following table details subsidiaries that are part of the consolidated group of MND a.s. (“the Group”) and a 
joint venture and shows ownership interests held by the parent company in these companies. 

“The Group” or “the MND Group” is hereinafter used as a reference name for this consolidated group and the joint 
venture. 

The consolidated financial statements include financial statements of the companies below, which have been 
prepared as at 31 December 2023 and include the accounting period ended 31 December 2023. 
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Company name and registered office: 
Ownership interest 

of the Group at 
31/12/2023 

Ownership interest 
of the Group at 

31/12/2022 

Consolidation 
method 

Subsidiary: 

FVE Mušov I s.r.o. (1) 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01, Hodonín, Czech Republic 

100% 100% full 

Subsidiary: 

FVE Mušov II s.r.o. (2) 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01, Hodonín, Czech Republic 

100% 100% full 

Subsidiary: 

FVE Orlová I s.r.o. (3) 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01, Hodonín, Czech Republic 

100% 100% full 

Subsidiary: 

FVE Orlová II s.r.o. (4) 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01, Hodonín, Czech Republic 

100% 100% full 

Subsidiary: 

FVE Tichá s.r.o.  

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01, Hodonín, Czech Republic 

100% 100% full 

Subsidiary: 

G2P Borkovany s.r.o. (5) 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01, Hodonín, Czech Republic 

100 % 100 % full 

Subsidiary: 

Geologichne byreau “Lviv” LLC 

Lviv, 79011, ul. Kubiyovicha 18, Office 6, Ukraine 

80 % 80 % full 

Subsidiary: 

„Horyzonty“ LLC 

Lviv, 79005, Akademika Pavlova 6C, Office 7, Ukraine 

80 % 80 % full 

Subsidiary: 

KBOC Director s.r.o. (6) 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01, Hodonín, Czech Republic 

100 % 100 % full 

Subsidiary: 

MND Austria a.s. (7) 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01 Hodonín, Czech Republic 

100 % 100 % full 

Parent company: 

MND a.s. 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01 Hodonín, Czech Republic 

-- -- full 

Subsidiary: 

MND GasInvestUA s.r.o. (8) 

Velkomoravská 900/405, 696 18 Lužice, Czech Republic 

100 % 100 % full 

Subsidiary: 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. 

Velkomoravská 900/405, 696 18 Lužice, Czech Republic 

100 % 100 % full 
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Company name and registered office: 
Ownership interest 

of the Group at 
31/12/2023 

Ownership interest 
of the Group at 

31/12/2022 

Consolidation 
method 

Subsidiary: 

MND Energy Storage a.s. 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01 Hodonín, Czech Republic 

100 % 100 % full 

Subsidiary: 

MND Energie a.s.  

Evropská 866/71, Vokovice, 160 00 Praha 6, Czech Republic 

100 % 100 % full 

Joint venture: 

Moravia Gas Storage a.s. 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01 Hodonín, Czech Republic 

50 % 50 % equity 

Subsidiary: 

MND Ukraine a.s. 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01 Hodonín, Czech Republic 

80 % 80 % full 

Subsidiary: 

MND Wind s.r.o. (9) 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01, Hodonín, Czech Republic 

100 % 100 % full 

Subsidiary: 

Oriv Holding a.s. 

Úprkova 807/6, 695 01, Hodonín, Czech Republic 

100% 100% full 

Subsidiary: 

Precarpathian energy company LLC 

Ivano-Frankovska Oblast, Bogorodchany, 77701, ul. 
Shevchenka 62, Ukraine 

80 % 80 % full 

(1) On March 22, 2023, FVE Mušov I s.r.o. was founded. 

(2) On March 1, 2023, FVE Mušov II s.r.o. was acquired. This purchase of a company is not a business combination and 
is not covered by IFRS 3. 

(3) On August 14, 2023, FVE Orlová I s.r.o. was acquired. This purchase of a company is not a business combination and 
is not covered by IFRS 3. 

(4) On August 14, 2023, FVE Orlová II s.r.o. was acquired. This purchase of a company is not a business combination and 
is not covered by IFRS 3. 

(5) On March 1, 2023, G2P Borkovany s.r.o. was acquired. This purchase of a company is not a business combination and 
is not covered by IFRS 3. 

(6) On August 29, 2023, KBOC Director s.r.o. was founded. 

(7) On June 2, 2023, MND Austria a.s. was founded. 

(8) On 11 April 2023, MND GasInvestUA s.r.o. was founded. 

(9) On 1 March 2023, MND Wind s.r.o. was acquired. This purchase of a company is not a business combination and is 
not covered by IFRS 3. 
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1.5. Statutory body and supervisory board 

The board of directors as at 31 December 2023: 

Chairman of the board of directors:    Mr. Karel Komárek 

Member of the board of directors:    Mr. Jiří Ječmen 

Member of the board of directors:    Mr. Miroslav Jestřabík 

 

Supervisory board as at 31 December 2023: 

Chairman of the supervisory board:    Mr. Robert Kolář 

Member of the supervisory board:    Mr. Pavel Šaroch 

Member of the supervisory board:    Mr. Josef Novotný 

1.6. Sole shareholder of the Company as at 31 December 2023 

MND Group AG     100 % 

Registered office:    Kapellgasse 21, 6004 Lucerne, Switzerland 

The MND Group and its parent company MND Group AG are part of the consolidation unit of KKCG AG based in 
Switzerland. The ultimate owner is VALEA FOUNDATION registered in Liechtenstein, whose designated beneficiary 
is Mr. Karel Komárek. 
 

2. Basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with IFRS Accounting standards  
as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS“).  

(b) Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, using the historical 
cost method, unless otherwise stated in the accounting policies. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries based in the Czech Republic is the Czech crown 
(CZK), functional currency of the subsidiaries based in Ukraine is Ukrainian hryvnia (UAH). 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Czech crowns (CZK). All financial information 
reported in the consolidated financial statements is rounded to the nearest millions (MCZK), except when 
otherwise indicated. 

(d) Use of significant accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of 
accounting estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. It also 

requires the Group management to make assumptions based on its own judgement in applying accounting 
policies. Consequently, the actual results often differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions of accounting 
estimates are reported in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision impacts only this period, 
or in the revision period and future periods, if the revision impacts the current and future periods. 
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Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year include: 

• Impairments. Impairment calculations require the use of various estimates and assumptions 
depending on the business activity of the Group. The most significant estimates influencing the 

impairment models are commodity prices, oil and gas reserves, future production profiles, gross 
margins, operating expenses and discount rates. (Notes 5 and 6; accounting policy 3(f)); 

• Provision for decommissioning, renewals and restorations. The Group establishes a provision for the 
renewal and restoration of areas affected by oil and gas extraction and provision for decommissioning 
of assets. Most of these activities will be performed in the distant future whereas decommissioning 
technologies, costs and environmental and safety regulations are constantly changing. The most 
significant estimates entering the provision calculation model are stated above. The Group also includes 

costs and timing of the decommissioning activities, expected inflation and discount rates. Note 19; 
accounting policy 3(j). 

(e) Determination of fair value (Note 30) 

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for 
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.  

Fair value is defined as a price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid for assuming a 
liability in an arm’s length transaction between market participants at the measurement date irrespective 
of whether the price is directly observable or determined using an estimate carried out based on valuation 
methods. Fair values are determined based on quoted market prices, discounted cash flows or by means 
of valuation methods. 

Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following 
methods. Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is 

disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 

Fair value hierarchy 

The Group applies the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments by valuation method: 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

• Level 2: other input-based methods that have a significant impact on the reported fair value and 
that are observable either directly or indirectly 

• Level 3: input-based methods that have a significant impact on the reported fair value and that 
are not based on observable market data 

Potential transfers between individual levels are described in Note 30 Risk management, in part (f). 

(f) New standards effective from 1 January 2023 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements involved the use of the following new or 
amended standards and interpretations, whose initial application is required for annual periods beginning 

on 1 January 2023. 

Amendment to IAS 1: Preparation and disclosure of financial statements: Disclosure of 
accounting policies 

The Group applied the amendments to IAS 1 for the first time in the current accounting period. The 
amendments change the requirements regarding the disclosure of accounting rules. The amendments 
replace all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material accounting policy 
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other information 
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the 

primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. 
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Following standards and amendments did not have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 

• Amendments to IAS 8: Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: 
Definition of Accounting Estimates 

• Amendments to IFRS 17: Insurance contracts - Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – 

Comparative Information 

• Amendments to IAS 12: Income Taxes- Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from 
a Single Transaction 

• Amendments to IAS 12 Income taxes - International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules 

(g) Standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the EU but not effective 

The following new Standards, Amendments and Interpretations have been approved by the EU, but were 

not effective for the period ending 31 December 2023 and were not applied in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

Effective date 1 January 2024 or later: 

• Amendments to IFRS 16: Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 

• Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 

• Amendments to IAS 1: Non-current liabilities with Covenants 

The Group does not expect that the adoption of the above amendments to the existing standards will have 
a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements in future financial years . 

(h) Standards, interpretations and amendments issued before 31 December 2023 but 

not yet adopted by the EU 

The following new standards, supplements and interpretations have been issued but not yet approved by 

the EU and have not been applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. 

Effective date January 1, 2024 and later: 

• Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture (effective date not specified) 

• Amendments  to IAS 7: Supplier Finance Arrangements (IASB effective from 1 January 2024) 

• Amendments to IAS 21: Lack of Exchangeability (IASB effective 1 January 2025) 

The Group does not expect that the adoption of the above amendments to the existing standards will have 

a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements in future financial years. 
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3. Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by Group entities to all periods presented 
in these consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

i. Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date – i.e., 
when the Group obtained control.  

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 

• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 

• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest 
in the acquiree; less 

• the net recognised value (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. 

When the difference is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 

relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss. 

Transactions costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group 
incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred. 

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within 
equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in 

profit or loss. 

At the date of a business combination, non-controlling interests are accounted for at their proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, which are generally measured at fair value. 

ii. Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group exercises control over an entity where it is 
exposed or it has the right to variable revenues from its interest in the entity and where it is able to 
influence these revenues through its power over the entity. Control assessment is done based on 

substantive potential voting rights as opposed to currently exercisable potential voting rights. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases.  

iii. Joint ventures (equity-accounted investees) 

Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control. Joint ventures are 
accounted using the equity method (equity-accounted investees) and are initially recognised at cost. The 
Group’s investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition less impairment losses. The consolidated 

financial statements include the Group’s share of profit and loss of equity-accounted investees from the 
date that joint control commences until the date that joint control ceases. Dividends received from a joint 
venture reduce the carrying amount of the investment. If the Group’s share of losses exceeds its 
investment in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of this investment (including non-current 
investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued, except to the extent 
that the Group has an obligation to make or has made payments in favour of the equity-accounted 

investee. 
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iv. Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any gains and losses arising from intra-group transactions are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions 
with equity accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest 
in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the 

extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

(b) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities 
at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value at 

the date of acquisition are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the 
fair value was determined. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or 

loss, except for financial instruments to hedge cash flows, which are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
acquisition, are translated to the presentation currency of the Group, the Czech crown, at exchange rates 

ruling at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to presentation 
currency at average exchange rates for the reported period which are a reasonable approximation of the 
exchange rate at transaction date. Resulting foreign currency differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and equity as a separate component. 

(c) Property, plant and equipment 

i. Owned assets 

Property, plant and equipment consists of underground gas storages, buildings and structures, oil and gas 
wells, oil and gas property, production machinery, machinery and equipment, drilling rigs, information 
technology, motor vehicles, fixtures and fittings and other property, plant and equipment. Items of 
property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see 
accounting policy 3(f) ii). 

The cost of self-constructed property, plant and equipment (including oil and gas wells) comprises the 
consumption of materials, wages and a portion of overhead costs directly associated with the production. 

Cost also includes an estimate of costs of dismantling and removing the items, as well as costs of land 
restoration. 

The acquisition cost does not include administrative or other overhead costs or an initial operating loss. 
Research and development expenditure is not capitalised. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the relevant asset are capitalised until the acquisition is completed.  

ii. Exploration costs 

Costs incurred in the search and exploration for new oil and/or gas deposits including costs of wells are 

charged directly to expenses as incurred, with the exception of costs associated with successful exploratory 
wells (“the successful effort method“). Costs associated with successful exploratory wells are capitalised as 
property, plant and equipment if they are expected to provide future economic benefits and if they relate 
to wells under construction or wells that have not yet been assessed, no later than the end of the reporting 
period on condition that we do not have information that the well is unsuccessful. In case a capitalised well 
is subsequently assessed as unsuccessful, the capitalised expenditures are written off to expenses. The 

capitalised costs are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period (see accounting policy 
3(f) ii). Once the wells start to be used for commercial purposes, depreciation of these capitalised costs 
over the estimated life of the wells is commenced.  

iii. Right of use of leased assets 

Contract is or contains a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 

the time in exchange for consideration. For such contracts a lessee recognizes a right of use asset and a 
lease liability. The right of use of asset is depreciated and the liability accrues interest. 
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Right of use of asset is initially measured in the amount of recognized lease liability, plus advance payments 
or related accrued payments, less rent concessions. Further, the initial measurement of right of use should 
be increased by the following items, when significant:  

• initial direct lease costs paid by the lessee, and  

• provision for estimated costs of dismantling and removal of the identified asset or restoration of 

the site where the asset was installed. 

Right of use asset and leasing liability are not recognized for short-term leases (when the lease maturity 
is 12 months or less) and for low value leased asset (the value below CZK 120 000 or EUR 4 500). 
Payments of these leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as an expense over 
the term of the lease. 

iv. Subsequent costs 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated 

with the expenditure will flow to the Group, and the expenditure can be measured reliably. All other 
expenses, including the costs of regular servicing of property, plant and equipment, are recognised directly 
in profit or loss. 

v. Depreciation expense 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis. Land is not depreciated. Right of 
use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term, unless the 

title to the asset transfers at the end of the lease term, in which case depreciation is over the useful life. 

The estimated useful lives for the individual categories of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

Buildings and halls 20 - 50 years 

Administrative buildings 20 - 60 years 

Structures 20 - 40 years 

Oil and gas wells expected production period 

Oil and gas property expected production period 

Machinery and equipment 3 - 20 years 

Drilling rigs 20 - 40 years 

Information technology 3 - 8 years 

Motor vehicles 4 - 10 years 

Inventory 3 - 14 years 

Other property, plant and equipment 3 - 20 years 

 

The oil and gas wells and related property are being depreciated for its estimated production life which 
ranges from 3 to 25 years and is based on expected length of production of hydrocarbons. 

The underground gas storages item comprises more asset categories with different depreciation periods 
ranging from 3 to 50 years and land and cushion gas that are not depreciated. 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted 
if appropriate. 
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(d) Intangible assets 

i. Licences 

Licences mainly comprise purchased exploration licences. 

ii. Software and other intangible assets 

Software and other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite (definite) useful lives 
are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. 

iii. Subsequent costs 

Subsequent expenditure in respect of intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future 
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred. 

iv. Amortisation expense 

Apart from goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, intangible assets are amortised 
on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over their estimated useful lives, from the date they are available 
for use.  

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

Software 2 - 7 years 

Licences 2 - 20 years 

Other intangible assets 3 - 10 years 

 

v. Research 

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical 
knowledge, is recognised in profit or loss in the period when they were incurred. 

(e) Financial instruments 

i. Financial assets at amortised cost 

Financial instruments held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows are measured at amortised cost. Contractual cash flows are solely payments 
of principal and interest. 

This category includes mainly (short-term and long-term) trade and other receivables, provided loans and 
borrowings, restricted cash and other short-term financial assets (e.g. receivables arising from cash 
pooling agreements). 

In compliance with IFRS 9, the Group calculates effective rate of return at initial recognition, reflecting the 

relation between actually invested funds and future investment income. The effective interest rate is used 
as a discount factor for calculating premium or discount that is subsequently amortised over the lifetime 
of the financial asset.  

At the same time, the Group tests the value of assets held in compliance with IFRS 9.  

Allowances for financial assets are recognised in the amount of the expected credit loss of the relevant 
financial asset. Expected losses are reported in the profit or loss from operating activities (Note 3f). 

Amortised cost is the amount at which a financial instrument was recognized at initial recognition less any 
principal repayments, plus accrued interest, and, for financial assets less any allowance for expected credit 
losses (“ECL”). Accrued interest includes amortisation of transaction costs deferred at initial recognition 
and of any premium or discount to the amount payable upon maturity using the effective interest method. 
Accrued interest income and accrued interest expense, including both accrued coupon and amortised 
discount or premium (including fees deferred at origination, if any), are not presented separately and are 
included in the carrying values of the related items in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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Trade and other receivables, loans provided 

Trade and other receivables, loans provided are initially recognized on the date when they are originated 
and measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at amortised cost, less any impairment losses, if they are held to collect 
the cash flows and not expected to be sold.  

When applying amortised cost, any difference between the cost and the value upon redemption is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the duration of the asset or 
liability, using the effective interest method. 

The Group derecognizes trade receivables, other receivables and loans provided when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the rights to receive the contractual 
cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group 

is recognized as a separate asset or liability. 

ii. Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI“) 

FVOCI is the classification of financial instruments for which dual business model applies, i.e. they are held 
for the purposes of both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. Contractual cash 
flows of instruments in this category are solely payments of principal and interest. 

At initial recognition, an entity may classify an equity instrument as measured at FVOCI based on an 

irrevocable election. This option may be applied only in respect of instruments that are not held for trading 
and do not constitute derivatives. 

Changes in the fair value of debt instruments measured at FVOCI are reported in other comprehensive 
income. Interest income, foreign exchange gains/losses and impairment losses are immediately reported 
in profit or loss. Changes in the fair value previously reported in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss at the moment the debt instrument is sold. 

Gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income for capital instruments are never reclassified 

from equity to profit or loss. 

iii. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL“) 

A financial instrument is classified as measured at FVTPL if it is held for trading or within a business model 
whose objective is to manage a financial asset on the basis of fair value, i.e. it will be realised through 
sale, in contrast to the objective of holding this asset to obtain contractual cash flows. This category 
presents the “initial” or “residual” category, unless the requirements for classifying a financial asset as a 
financial asset at amortised cost or a financial asset at FVOCI are met. At initial recognition, the related 

transaction costs are reported in profit or loss at the moment they are incurred. Financial instruments at 
FVTPL are measured at fair value and their changes are reported in the profit or loss from financing 
activities. 

iv. Financial derivatives and hedging instruments 

The Group holds derivative financial instruments for trading in electricity, gas and emission allowances, 
and to hedge its currency, interest rate and commodity risk exposures arising from its operating, financial 

and investment activities. Derivatives that are not classified as hedging derivatives, are recognised as 
derivatives held-for-trading. 

Derivative financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as 
described below. 

v. Cash flow hedges 

All derivative transactions designated as hedging instruments are documented and the effectiveness of 

individual hedge relationships is evaluated on continuous basis. The Group decided to apply IFRS 9 on 
January 1 2023 for the purposes of documentation and reporting of hedge accounting. In this context, the 
Group has verified that hedge accounting, which was active on January 1 2023, is in accordance with the 

requirements of IFRS 9. The requirements of IFRS 9 are applied to all hedging relationships prospectively 
from 1 January 2023 onwards. 
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The Group applies hedge accounting if: 

• the hedge is in line with the Group’s risk management strategy, 

• the hedge relationship is formally documented at the inception of the hedge, 

• an economic relationship is expected to exist between the hedging instrument and the hedged item 

throughout its duration, 

• for cash flow hedges, a forecast transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure to variations 

in cash flows that could affect profit or loss. 

The hedging documentation contains information about the following: 

• hedging instruments, 

• hedge effectiveness, and hedged items and risks that are being hedged, 

• evaluation method of the effectiveness related to the hedging 

Changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument or designated non-derivative financial 
liability designated as a cash flow hedge are recognized directly in the other comprehensive income to the 
extent that the hedge is effective. The effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedge is 
accumulated in “Hedging reserve” in equity. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, changes in fair 
value are recognized in profit or loss for the period.  

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated 
or exercised, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously 

recognized in equity as a “Hedging reserve” remains there until the forecast transaction occurs. If a hedge 
of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial 
liability, then the associated gains and losses that were recognised in other comprehensive income are 
included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the asset or liability. 

In other cases, the amount recognized in other comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss in 
the same period that the hedged item affects profit or loss. Those items are reclassified and recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income on the following lines: 

• In the case of hedge of interest rate risk, in Financial costs 

• In the case of hedge of future oil sales, in Revenue 

• In the case of hedge of electricity purchases for end-customers, in Consumption of materials and 

goods 

The amount reported in OCI related to cash flow hedge of purchases of gas for end-customers is included 
in the initial valuation of the purchased inventory as at the date of maturity of the commodity contract or 
it is reported in Consumption of materials and goods. As part of the cash flow hedge of future gas purchases 
for end customers, the amount recognised in other comprehensive income is included in the initial 
measurement of purchased gas at the date of the commodity delivery or is recognised in the Consumption 
of materials and goods. 

If cash flows relating to recognized foreign currency receivables are hedged by other hedging instruments 
(e.g. designating foreign currency payables as the hedging instruments), the accounting treatment is the 
same as the treatment for hedging with financial derivatives. 

The Group decided to apply cash flow hedge accounting to mitigate following risks: 

Interest rate risk 

The risk that is being hedged relates to change in future cash flows due to change in interest rates. The 
hedged items are future interest payments of long-term debts that are hedged by interest rate swaps (the 

hedging instruments). For cash flow hedges, a forecast transaction is highly probable and presents an 
exposure to variations in cash flows that could affect profit or loss.  

Foreign currency rates risk 

The risk that is being hedged relates to change in future cash flows due to change in foreign currency 
rates. The hedged items are future expected transactions that are hedged by hedging instruments (e.g. 
foreign currency payables/receivables designating as the hedging instruments). For cash flow hedges, 

a forecast transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure to variations in cash flows that could 

affect profit or loss. 
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Commodity price risk - sale of crude oil 

The hedged items are cash flows from the sale of commodities that are hedged by commodity swaps (the 
hedging instruments). For cash flow hedges, a forecast transaction is highly probable and presents an 
exposure to variations in cash flows that could affect profit or loss. The risk that is being hedged relates 
to change in future cash flows due to change in prices of commodities sold. 

Commodity price risk - purchase of gas and electricity 

From January 2023, the Group applies hedge accounting for future purchases of gas and electricity with 
physical delivery in 2024-2025, concluded for the purpose of covering supplies to end-customers that meet 
the requirements for keeping hedge accounting according to IFRS. The risk that the Group hedges results 
from the uncertainty of cash flows in future purchases of gas and electricity for the Group's end-customers. 
Hedging instruments are forward purchases of gas and electricity. 

Trading derivatives 

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading derivatives. Changes in 
the fair value of trading derivatives are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

Commodity contracts 

Except for contracts for the purchase and sale of commodities concluded for the purpose of serving the 
Group's portfolio of end customers, the Group enters into commodity trading contracts for the purpose of 
generating a profit from short-term price fluctuations or traders' margin. The Group systematically settles 

similar contracts on a net basis. The net settlement is realised either through exchange-traded instruments 
or via bilateral agreements by entering into offsetting contracts or through the sale of a contract prior to 
settlement. 

These contracts typically require no initial net investment and are settled at future dates thereby meeting 
the definition of derivative contracts. Simultaneously, they can no longer qualify for exemption applied for 
physical purchase and sale of non-financial asset because they are exchange-traded or routinely net settled 
as described above. 

Forward contracts for the purchase and sale of gas and electricity contracts for physical natural gas 
storage, contracts for gas flexibility service (virtual natural gas storage) and contracts for security of supply 
that can be settled net in cash or by another financial instrument and which do not serve for the purposes 
of the expected receipt or delivery of a commodity are considered financial instruments under IFRS 9 and 
they are measured at fair value through profit or loss and recognised as trading derivatives. Changes in 
their fair value are recognised in the profit or loss from operating activities. 

Delivery of the commodity under commodity contracts is recognised either in inventory, or in revenues 

and cost of sales at fair value of the commodity, when the commodity is delivered. 

Changes in the fair value of commodity and currency derivative financial instruments are recognized in the 
profit or loss from operating activities; changes in the fair value of interest rate derivative instruments are 
reported in the profit or loss from financing activities. 

vi. Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The Group has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: trade and other payables, interest-bearing 

loans and borrowings, bonds issued and lease liabilities. These financial liabilities, other than financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are recognised initially on the settlement date at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
expire. 

vii. Current and non-current loans  

Current and non-current loans are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. A part of non-current loans due within one year of the end of the period are recognised as 
current loans. 
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viii. Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and recognised in the balance sheet on a net basis if and 
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right for the offsetting and intends to settle them on the net 
basis. 

(f) Impairment  

i. Financial assets  

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces a model for impairment of financial assets and contract assets 
that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – so called 
“expected credit losses” or “ECL” model. 

The Group recognises an allowance based on expected credit losses for financial assets measured at 

amortised cost. 

Measurement of ECLs 

Simplified approach – Provisioning Matrix 

Provisioning Matrix approach can be used for financial assets, which do not contain significant financing 
component. The Group applies this model primarily to short-term trade receivables.  

In the provisioning matrix approach, impairment is calculated using the historical loss rate and adjusted 
for forward looking information. The Group monitors macroeconomic development of GDP and Czech 

National Bank forecast. 

Significant receivables are assessed individually using expected discounted cash-flows method and an 
expert-based approach. 

Significant increase in credit risk is not assessed for trade receivables subject to provisioning matrix 
approach as they are always measured at Lifetime ECL.  

Standard ECL model – Stage model 

The Group assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the ECL for the exposures arising from loans and 

borrowings and from other financial assets.  

The measurement of ECL reflects:  

- an unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible 
outcomes,  

- time value of money and 
- all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost and effort at the end 

of each reporting period about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions. 

Long-term restricted cash, long-term trade and other receivables from government contracts, short-term 
financial assets, cash and cash equivalents and term deposits that are placed at strong and stable credit 
institutions that are meeting all requirements for capital and liquidity stipulated in Basel III are considered 

by the Group as assets with „low credit risk“. In this case the Group applies the “low credit risk” exemption 
from standard ECL model and therefore do not assess a significant increase in credit risk for these assets. 

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default, if:  

• it is probable that the debtor will fail to pay its liabilities to the Group in full without the Group’s 
intervention in form of realising security (if it has any); or 

• the financial asset is more than 90 days past due. 

ii. Non-financial assets  

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful 

lives, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell 

and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset.  

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 



MND a.s. 
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (in millions of Czech crowns) 

Page 48 

 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or a group of assets (the “cash-
generating unit”, or “CGU”) exceeds its recoverable amount. The cash-generating unit is the smallest 
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent 
of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 

goodwill allocated to the CGUs, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU 
(or group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.  

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 
recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 

depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

(g) Inventories 

Inventories required for providing operating services are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value.  

The cost of inventories comprises the purchase price and costs directly associated with the acquisition. 

Acquisition costs are reduced with rebates, trade discounts and other similar items. Interest on loans 
received to acquire inventories (borrowing costs) is not capitalised.  

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated 
costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

Inventories of gas in underground gas storages are measured at fair value less costs to sell. Changes in 
the fair value less cost to sell of these inventories are recognised in the profit or loss from operating 
activities as Gain/Loss from trading in commodity contracts. 

Work in progress and own products are measured at own cost, which also includes the appropriate part of 
production overheads determined based on normal operating capacity. Selling costs are not capitalised. 

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cash at the bank and short-term highly liquid 
investments (including fixed-term deposits) with original maturities of up to three months of the acquisition 
date. Bank overdraft accounts with a negative balance are not included in the statement of cash flows. 

(i) Equity 

Share capital 

The Company’s issued share capital has been paid up in full. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of new shares are recognised as a deduction from equity. 

(j) Provisions 

A provision is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position if, as a result of a past event, 
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. 

Provision for decommissioning, renewal and restoration  

The Group establishes a provision for renewal and restoration of land affected by production of oil and gas 
and also a provision for the decommissioning of assets. The amount of the provision is the best estimate 
of the expenditure needed to cover a liability at the end of the reporting period. The provision is adjusted 
to reflect the current estimate at the end of the period. The estimates of costs incurred on decommissioning 
of assets, renewal and restoration of land are based on current prices and the estimated inflation and are 

discounted using the market risk-free interest rate. 
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Actual expenses incurred for decommissioning, renewal and restoration during the year may differ from 
the estimates as a result of changes in regulations and technologies, an increase in personnel expenses, 
an increase in prices of raw materials and equipment or in the time needed to complete decommissioning, 
renewal and restoration, or a change in the inflation rate or long-term real interest rates. 

The initial discounted expenses related to the decommissioning of property, plant and equipment are 

recognised as part of property, plant and equipment and depreciated over the estimated life of that asset. 

Year-on-year changes relating to a future liability in connection with the decommissioning of property, plant 
and equipment that arise due to the change in estimates of future cash flows necessary to settle this liability 
or as a result of a change in the estimated real interest rate, are reflected as an increase in or decrease of 
capitalised property, plant and equipment in compliance with IFRIC 1. 

The Group also establishes a provision for other liabilities with uncertain timing or value. 

(k) Revenue and other operating income 

i) Revenue (revenue from contracts with customers) 

The Group‘s revenue includes in particular revenue from trading in gas and electricity, revenue from the 
sale of gas and electricity to end customers, revenue from the sale of produced oil and gas, revenue from 
the sale of goods, and revenue from the provision of services, including drilling activities and gas storage 
(see Note 20). 

The revenue is recognised at the moment the control over goods or services supplied is transferred to the 
customer in the amount of anticipated consideration that the Group expects it should receive for the goods 
or services. The Group companies apply a five-step model defined in IFRS 15 to determine the amount, 
time and method of revenue recognition. The amount of consideration that the Group expects to be entitled 
to is the transaction price. In determining the transaction price, the following factors are considered: the 
estimate of the variable portion of consideration (provided discounts, compensations, bonuses, sanctions 
and other similar items), the time value of money in case the contract contains a significant financing 

component, the fair value of potential non-monetary consideration, a portion of value that the customer 
will not pay (e.g. discount vouchers). The method and moment of revenue recognition depends on the 

method of control transfer: satisfaction of obligation at a point in time is reported at the moment the control 
over goods or services is transferred, satisfaction of obligation over time is recognised over the period 
during which the entity satisfies performance obligation. The Group measures revenue from satisfaction of 
obligation over time using the input method, i.e. the revenue is reported based on expenses incurred on 
satisfying the obligation in relation to the total expected expenses, with the exception of revenue from the 

sale of gas and electricity to end customers that is measured using the output method, as described below. 

Contract costs 

The Group provides sales agents with commissions as remuneration for activities that lead to obtaining 
new customers for the sale of gas and electricity. The costs of acquiring a contract are recognised if an 
entitlement to the commission arises at the moment the contract with the customer is actually obtained 
and the commission would not be paid had the contract not been obtained. Capitalised contract costs are 

subsequently recognised in profit or loss over the term of the contract or over 5 years for contracts for an 
indefinite period. 

Sale of oil 

The Group sells produced and purchased oil to its customers based on annual or long-term contracts on oil 
supplies. Customers obtain control over the product at a place agreed for product delivery. The Group 
classifies revenue as satisfaction of obligation over time that is recognised for a calendar month depending 
on the actual volume of supplies. Contracts do not contain a financing component, because the invoices 

are payable within 30 days. 

Sale of electricity and gas to end customers 

The sale of gas and electricity to end customers is carried out based on contracts on combined gas or 
electricity supply services which include the supply of the commodity itself together with distribution 
services. Distribution services are provided to the Group by local distribution companies. The access to 
these services and their prices is regulated. The prices for distribution services form part of the price for 
combined services provided to the customers. The Group recognises the full amount of revenue for services, 

including the portion of distribution services, because it provides these services for itself (i.e. the Group is 
the principal). 
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The services of gas and electricity supplies for households are usually invoiced once per year and for 
corporate customers once per month or quarter, based on the actual consumption ascertained at 
consumption reading. Customers pay advances at a fixed amount on a monthly basis. Uninvoiced supplies 
of gas and electricity are recognised as contract assets. Advances received are recognised as contract 
liabilities. 

When concluding a contract, the price for services can contain a variable consideration as a result of 
discounts provided to customers. Discounts are provided from list prices and the customers are charged 
with the prices less discounts. 

The Group classifies revenue as satisfaction of obligation over time. The Company recognises revenue using 
the output method based on the estimated energy supplies. Contracts do not contain a significant financing 
component because of the advances payment scheme and delivery performed within a short period of time. 

Revenue from drilling 

Drilling services are usually carried out at daily rates. The price for work performed then results from the 

amount of work actually done and it is invoiced to customers on a monthly basis or drilling services are 
provided on “turn-key” basis and invoiced to customers after the well is completed and handed over. The 
price is determined at a fixed amount for drilling of a well. Revenue is then recognised using the input 
method. The customer obtains control over the work in progress immediately, because if the contract is 
terminated by the customer, the Group is entitled to the reimbursement of expenses incurred and an 

adequate margin. Contracts do not contain a significant financing component, because the services are 
provided within a short period of time and the invoices are payable within 30 days. The Group classifies 
revenue as satisfaction of obligation over time. 

Revenues from gas storage 

The Group provides services to its customers on the basis of annual or long-term contracts for the storage 
of natural gas. The services are invoiced to customers monthly in a fixed amount. The Group classifies 
revenues as satisfaction of obligation over time. The Group recognises revenue using the output method. 

Contracts do not contain a significant financing component, because invoices are payable within 30 days. 

ii) Other revenue 

Revenue from trading in gas and electricity 

Trading in gas and electricity is carried out based on framework contracts concluded under the EFET 
standard with other gas and electricity traders. Customers obtain control over the commodity at a delivery 
point which usually means a virtual point of the given gas or electricity grid. The Group classifies revenue 
as satisfaction of obligation over time that is recognised for a calendar month depending on the actual 

volume of supplies. Contracts do not contain a financing component, because the invoices are issued within 
a short period of time after the commodity is delivered and the invoices are payable within 30 days. 

Revenue from ordinary transactions is recognised using agreed selling prices. Revenue from derivative 
commodity contracts that are settled by physical delivery is recognised at fair value of the given commodity 
at the beginning of the period of physical delivery. 

iii) Other operating income 

Lease income 

Lease income from non-residential premises, office premises and moveable assets is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  

Grants 

A conditional government grant is recognised initially in the statement of financial position as deferred 
income when there is reasonable assurance that it will be received and the Group will comply with the 
conditions associated with the grant. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are 

recognised as income in the period they were incurred. Grants that compensate for the expenses incurred 
in connection with the acquisition of a non-current asset, are recognised in other operating income in the 
statement of comprehensive income over the useful life of the asset.  
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(l) Finance income and costs 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, gains on the disposal of financial assets, 
changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, unless these are commodity 
derivative financial instruments and derivatives held-for-trading arising from forward contracts for the 

purchase or sale of gas and electricity, foreign exchange gains, and gains from hedging instruments 
recognised in profit or loss.  

Finance costs comprise interest expense on loans and borrowings, unwinding of discount on provisions, 
foreign exchange losses, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
unless these are commodity derivative financial instruments and derivatives held-for-trading arising from 
forward contracts for the purchase or sale of gas and electricity, losses from the impairment of financial 
assets and losses from hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss.  

(m) Income tax expense 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, apart from deferred tax recognised directly in equity.  

Current tax includes the tax estimate calculated from the taxable income for the year using tax rates valid 
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial 
recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and temporary differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities, if it is probable that they will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 

differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences to the extent 

that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred 
tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.  

(n) Payment of dividends 

The payment of dividends to the Company’s shareholders is recognised in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements as a liability in the period in which the payment of dividends is approved by the 
Company’s shareholders. 

(o) Earnings per share 

The Group presents basic earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by 
dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

(p) Operating segments 

Segment information is presented based on the internal management reports and information provided to 
the chief operating decision makers, as required by IFRS 8.  

Operating segments were determined based on main products and services that the Group provides. The 
following three segments are concerned: 

• exploration and production of oil and gas 

• trading in gas and electricity and gas storage 

• drilling. 

Other unallocated operations represent individually insignificant segments and joint expenses that are not 
attributable to any segment. 
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4. Operating segments 

The Group’s operations are divided into the following operating segments – see Note 3(p):  

Information on segments for the year ended 
31 December 2023 

Exploration and 
production of oil 

and gas 

Trading in gas 
and electricity, 

gas storage  
Drilling 

Other 
unallocated 
operations 

Total 
Intersegment 

eliminations 
Total 

consolidation 

Continuing activities 
       

Total revenue (Note 20) 3 132 63 497 1 321 26 67 976 -12 325  55 651 

of which: External revenue 3 096 52 005 550 -- 55 651 --  55 651 

              Intersegment revenue 36 11 492 771 26 12 325 -12 325    -- 

Other income 785 -166 68 26 713 52  765 

Materials, consumables and services -1 004 -62 532 -726 -61 -64 323 12 115 -52 208 

Other operating expenses, including personnel 
expenses 

-791 -915 -420 -20 -2 146 130 -2 016 

Depreciation and amortisation expense -630 -123 -101 -20 -874 20 -854 

Impairment charge (+) / reversal (-) of property, 
plant and equipment 

-157 -- 10 -- -147 -- -147 

Profit or loss from operating activities 1 335 -239 152 -49 1 199 -8 1 191 

Share of profit or loss of equity-accounted investees -74 169 -- -- 95 -- 95 

Profit or loss from operating activities incl. 
share of profit or loss of equity-accounted 
investees  

1 261 -70 152 49 1 294 -8 1 286 

Interest income 66 86 3 -- 155 -- 155 

Interest expense -82 -15 -7 -93 -197 3 -194 

Other finance income (+) / expense (-) -31 -48 -4 -37 -120 -- -120 

Profit or loss from financial operations -47 23 -8 -130 -162 3 -159 

        

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets 

-476 -58 -139 -71 -744 23 -721 

 

As at 31 December 2023, the Group holds fixed assets in Ukraine with a residual value of CZK 682 million.   
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Information on segments for the year ended 
31 December 2022 

Exploration and 
production of oil 

and gas 

Trading in gas 
and electricity, 

gas storage  
Drilling 

Other 
unallocated 
operations 

Total 
Intersegment 

eliminations 
Total 

consolidation 

Continuing activities 
       

Total revenue (Note 20) 3 604 204 709 947 -- 209 260 -499  208 761 

of which: External revenue 3 541 204 647 573 -- 208 761                          --    208 761 

              Intersegment revenue 63 62 374 -- 499 -499  -- 

Other income 408 1 000 52 72 1 532 -31  1 501 

Materials, consumables and services -388 -202 972 -587 -76 -204 023 328 -203 695 

Other operating expenses, including personnel 
expenses 

-1 045 -594 -428 -7 -2 074 202 -1 872 

Depreciation and amortisation expense -783 -126 -75 -16 -1 000 -- -1 000 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 42 -- 53 -- 95 -- 95 

Profit or loss from operating activities 1 838 2 017 -38 -27 3 790 -- 3 790 

Share of profit or loss of equity-accounted investees -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Profit or loss from operating activities incl. share 
of profit or loss of equity-accounted investees  

1 838 2 017 -38 -27 3 790 -- 3 790 

Interest income 36 20 4 -- 60 -- 60 

Interest expense -38 -62 -4 -147 -251 -- -251 

Other finance income (+) / expense (-) -28 -1 1 416 388 -- 388 

Profit or loss from financial operations -30 -43 1 269 197 -- 197 

               

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 

-632 -68 -60 -- -760 -- -760 

 

The Group holds non-current assets in Ukraine with a net book value of CZK 933 million as at 31 December 2022.  
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5. Property, plant and equipment 

2023 
Underground 
gas storages 

Wells Land 
Right of 
use land 

Buildings 
and 

structures 

Right of use 
buildings 

and 
structures 

Oil and 
gas 

property 

Machinery 
and 

equipment 

Right of use 
machinery 

and 
equipment 

Tangible 
assets under 
construction 

Other 
tangible 

assets 
Total 

Acquisition cost as at 1 
January 2023 3 672 5 141 165 136 1 692 272 650 3 520 41 227 23 15 539 

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment  
as at 1 January 2023 

-1 669 -3 480 -22 -31 -822 -23 -293 -2 024 -29 -- -3 -8 396 

Net book value 
as at 1 January 2023 

2 003 1 661 143 105 870 249 357 1 496 12 227 20 7 143 

Additions 27 109 1 45 74 8 -- 133 3 300 10 710 

Effect of asset acquisition  
(asset deal) 

-- -- 52 -- 7 -- -- 75 -- 54 -- 188 

Disposals -- -7 -1 -- -5 -- -- -- -- 19 -4 2 

Transfers 1 42 -- -- 42 -- -- 10 -- -82 -13 -- 

Depreciation expense for the 
current year 

-96 -307 -- -25 -61 -25 -88 -181 -5 -40 -- -828 

Impairment of assets*) -- 5 -- -- 11 -- -166 2 -- -- 1 -147 

Change in value -- 196 -- 1 -- 3 -- -- 2 -- -- 202 

Effect of currency translation 
 

-- -17 -- -- -4 -- -11 -1 -- -2 -- -35 

Net book value 
as at 31 December 2023 

1 935 1 682 195 126 934 235 92 1 534 12 476 14 7 235 

Acquisition cost 
as at 31 December 2023 

3 678 5 394 218 181 1 823 280 301 3 871 24 476 17 16 263 

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment as at 31 
December 2023 

-1 743 -3 712 -23 -55 -889 -45 -209 -2 337 -12 -- -3 -9 028 

In 2023, the major additions to tangible assets include capitalised oil and gas wells and wells in progress or not put in use, which are part of tangible assets 
under construction. 

In 2023, no borrowing costs were capitalised due to insignificance. 

*) see Note 24 for more information on the impairment of non-current assets 
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2022 
Underground 
gas storages 

Wells Land 
Right of 
use land 

Buildings 
and 

structures 

Right of use 
buildings 

and 
structures 

Oil and 
gas 

property 

Machinery 
and 

equipment 

Right of use 
machinery 

and 
equipment 

Tangible 
assets under 
construction 

Other 
tangible 

assets 
Total 

Acquisition cost 
as at 1 January 2022 

3 685 4 890 118 122 1 597 235 847 3 511 35 163 8 15 211 

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment  
as at 1 January 2022 

-1 562 -3 382 -22 -34 -851 -22 -222 -1 895 -24 -- -3 -8 017 

Net book value 
as at 1 January 2022 

2 123 1 508 96 88 746 213 625 1 616 11 163 5 7 194 

Additions 1 298 24 42 102 4 -- 108 6 166 15 766 

Effect of asset acquisition  
(asset deal) 

-- -- 23 -- -- 16 -- -- -- -- -- 39 

Disposals -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -67 -- -- -- -67 

Transfers -18 4 -- -- 21 -- -- 6 -- -31 -- -18 

Depreciation expense for the 
current year 

-103 -214 -- -44 -60 -25 -143 -168 -5 -219 -- -981 

Impairment of assets*) -- 7 -- -- 86 -- -- 2 -- -- -- 95 

Change in value -- 152 -- 19 -- 42 -- -- -- 155 -- 368 

Effect of currency translation 
 

-- -94 -- -- -25 -1 -125 -1 -- -7 -- -253 

Net book value 
as at 31 December 2022 

2 003 1 661 143 105 870 249 357 1 496 12 227 20 7 143 

Acquisition cost 
as at 31 December 2022 

3 672 5 141 165 136 1 692 272 650 3 520 41 227 23 15 539 

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment as at 31 
December 2022 

-1 669 -3 480 -22 -31 -822 -23 -293 -2 024 -29 -- -3 -8 396 

 
In 2022, the major additions to tangible assets include capitalised oil and gas wells. 

In 2022, no borrowing costs were capitalised due to insignificance. 

*) see Note 24 for more information on the impairment of non-current assets 
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6. Intangible assets 

2023 Licences Software 

Intangible 

assets under 
construction 

Other Total 

Acquisition cost 
as at 1 January 2023 

120 254 21 25 420 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment as at 1 January 2023 

-31 -233 -- -1 -265 

Net book value 
as at 1 January 2023 

89 21 21 24 155 

Additions 1 19 14 12 46 

Transfers -- 9 -9 -- -- 

Disposals -- -- -- -10 -10 

Amortisation expense for the current year -8 -18 -- -- -26 

Effect of currency translation -4 -- -- -- -4 

Net book value 
as at 31 December 2023 
 

78 31 26 26 161 

Acquisition cost 
as at 31 December 2023 

109 274 26 27 436 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment as at 31 December 2023 

-31 -243 -- -1 -275 

 

2022 Licences Software 

Intangible 
assets under 
construction 

Other Total 

Acquisition cost 
as at 1 January 2022 

114 239 33 13 399 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment as at 1 January 2022 

-24 -223 -- -1 -248 

Net book value 
as at 1 January 2022 

90 16 33 12 151 

Additions 10 16 10 19 55 

Transfers 20 1 -20 -1 -- 

Disposals -- -- -- -6 -6 

Amortisation expense for the current year -7 -12 -- -- -19 

Effect of currency translation -24 -- -2 -- -26 

Net book value 
as at 31 December 2022 
 

89 21 21 24 155 

Acquisition cost 
as at 31 December 2022 

120 254 21 25 420 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment as at 31 December 2022 

-31 -233 -- -1 -265 

 

7. Equity-accounted investees 

 
Ownership 

interest 
31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Moravia Gas Storage a.s. 50 % 745 543 

Participation in a Silent partnership Anshof 30 % 26 -- 

Equity accounted investees  771 543 

 
Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. 

Equity-accounted investees are not a publicly traded companies, therefore, the publicly quoted prices of their 
shares are not available. 
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Moravia Gas Storage a.s. operates an underground gas storage and provides gas storage services based on an 
energy licence. 

The following table provides financial information on the joint venture: 

Moravia Gas Storage a.s. 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Non-current assets 3 183 3 413  

Current assets 254 247 

   of which: cash and cash equivalents 192 152 

Non-current liabilities -1 646 -2 110 

   of which: financial liabilities with the exception of trade and other payables and 
provisions 

-1 454 -1 987 

Current liabilities -584 -393 

   of which: financial liabilities with the exception of trade and other payables and 
provisions 

-458 -350 

Net assets (100%) 1 207 1 157 

Group’s share of net assets (50%) 604 579 

Fair value adjustment 141 141 

Carrying amount of interest in joint venture 745 720 

Revenue 724 668 

Depreciation and amortisation expense -216 -212 

Interest income -- 1 

Interest expense -73 -106 

Income tax (current and deferred) -76 -60 

Profit/Loss from continuing operations (100%) 78 259 

Other comprehensive income (100%) -28 95 

Group’s share of profit or loss of the joint venture (50%) 39 130 

Group’s share of other comprehensive income of the joint venture (50%) -14 47 

The joint venture does not prepare financial statements under IFRS. The statutory financial statements were 
adjusted so as to correspond with IFRS for the purposes of consolidation and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements. In 2023, the Group did not account for equity method. The profit or loss for 2022 was accounted for 
together with the profit or loss for 2023 in the profit and loss account for 2023. 

In 2023 and 2022, the Group did not receive any dividends from the joint venture. 

The silent partnership Anshof is not a legal entity, it is a share in the business of ADX VIE GmbH in the oil and 
gas production license Anshof in Upper Austria. The Group's share of the loss of the silent partnership Anshof and 

the impairment of the asset in 2023 amounted to CZK -74 million. 

As at 31 December the Group had the following receivables and liabilities and recognised the following income 
and expenses in respect of Moravia Gas Storage a.s.in the reporting period: 

 2023 2022 

Current and non-current receivables 38 2 

Current and non-current liabilities 1 6 

Revenue and other operating income 24 23 

Materials and energy used, services and other operating expenses 7 107 
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8. Other non-current investments 

 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Long-term restricted cash 4 1 

Long-term restricted debt securities – at amortised cost 42 40 

Total other non-current investments 46 41 

Long-term restricted cash represents funds at a bank account to cover statutory provisions for renewal and 
restoration. For Credit quality see Note 30b) Credit risk. Long-term restricted debt securities represent a 
government bond worth CZK 42 million to cover statutory provisions for renewal and restoration. 

9. Trade and other receivables 

Non-current trade and other receivables 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Non-current loans  310 262 

Non-current trade receivables -- 1 

Non-current refundable deposits -- 16 

Non-current receivables – financial 310 279 

Non-current contract costs 98 99 

Non-current trade advances -- 3 

Non-current prepaid expenses 12 16 

Non-current receivables - other 110 118 

Total non-current trade and other receivables 420 397 

For credit quality of non-current trade and other receivables see Note 30(b) Credit risk. 

 

Current trade and other receivables 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Current trade receivables 442 1 692 

Current refundable deposits 531 610 

Current loans  3 11 

Current contract assets 661 240 

Other current receivables 735 1 282 

Current receivables - financial 2 372 3 835 

Current trade advances 669 850 

Current prepaid expenses 56 46 

Current receivables from other taxes 84 19 

Current contract costs 47 42 

Current receivables - other 856 957 

Total current trade and other receivables 3 228 4 792 

As at 31 December 2023, short-term overdue receivables amounted to CZK 41 million (as at 31 December 2022: 

CZK 34 million). The provision for receivables as at 31 December 2023 amounted to CZK 125 million (as at 31 
December 2022: CZK 47 million). The credit quality and the amount of the provision are described in Section 
30(b) Credit risk. 

Other short-term receivables in 2023 include a receivable from a member of the settlement system in the amount 
of CZK 676 million (2022: CZK 1 268 million). 
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10. Other current financial assets 

 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Other current financial assets 4 262 4 321 

Total other current financial assets 4 262 4 321 

 

Other current financial assets comprise receivables relating to cash-pooling contracts with KKCG Structured 
Finance AG.  

This item is not considered a cash equivalent and is presented as part of investing activities in the statement of 
cash flows. For Credit quality see Note 30b) Credit risk. 

11. Inventories 

 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Material 334 257 

Goods 606 2 153 

Own products 24 51 

Work in progress and semi-finished goods 7 62 

Advances for inventories 7 22 

Total inventories 978 2 545 

 

In 2023, material includes an allowance for material of CZK 13 million (2022: CZK 10 million). 

Goods include gas for trading at fair value of CZK 597 million (2022: CZK 2 142 million). 

12. Cash and cash equivalents 

 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Cash in hand -- 1 

Cash at bank 1 228 1 094 

Cash equivalents -- 483 

Fixed-term deposits (less than 90 days) 474 293 

Total cash and cash equivalents 1 702 1 871 

Cash equivalents represents excess cash at accounts of clearing system members. For Credit quality see Note 
30b) Credit risk. 

 

13. Equity 

 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Share capital 1 000 1 000 

The parent company’s share capital consists of 50 000 ordinary certificated registered shares with a nominal 
value of CZK 20 000 per share. The share capital has been fully paid-up. All shares have the same rights and no 

restrictions. 

As at 15 August 2018, the imposition of negative pledge on Company’s shares was entered in the Commercial 
Register. 

Other capital contributions arose as a result of the shareholder’s monetary contributions of a shareholder in order 
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to strengthen the Group's equity capital and a non-monetary contribution of an 80% share in MND Ukraine a.s. 
from the parent company MND Group AG.  

 

Earnings per share 

 
    

Profit (+) / loss (-) attributable to ordinary shareholders   2023 2022 

Net profit (+) / loss (-) attributable to ordinary shareholders   802 3 055 

Net profit (+) / loss (-) attributable to ordinary shareholders   802 3 055 

 
  

  

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
Number 

of shares 
Weight 2023 2022 

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 50 000 1 50 000 50 000 

Issued ordinary shares at 31 December 50 000 1 50 000 50 000 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 50 000 1 50 000 50 000 

Basic earnings (+) / loss (-) per share for the year 
(in CZK thousand) 

    16 61 

Diluted earnings (+) / loss (-) per share for the year 
(in CZK thousand) 

    16 61 

14. Non-controlling interests 

In 2023, the Group had the following non-controlling interests: 

Consolidated statement of financial position  
as at 31 December 2023 

MND Ukraine a.s. subgroup 

Non-current assets 685 

Current assets 533 

Non-current liabilities -43 

Current liabilities -50 

Net assets attributable to the group 1 125 

Percentage of non-controlling interest 20.00 % 

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest 225 

 

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 



MND a.s. 
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (in millions of Czech crowns) 

Page 61 

 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 2023 MND Ukraine a.s. subgroup 

Revenues 547 

Profit (+) /loss (-) for the period 19 

Other comprehensive income -55 

Total comprehensive income -36 

Percentage of non-controlling interest 20.00% 

Profit or loss allocated to non-controlling interest 4 

Other comprehensive income allocated to non-controlling interest -11 

Total comprehensive profit or loss allocated to non-controlling interest -7 

In 2021, the Group had the following non-controlling interests: 

Consolidated statement of financial position  
as at 31 December 2022 MND Ukraine a.s. subgroup 

Non-current assets 936 

Current assets 411 

Non-current liabilities -88 

Current liabilities -99 

Net assets attributable to the group 1 160 

Percentage of non-controlling interest 20.00% 

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest 232 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 2022  

Revenues 1 628 

Profit (+) /loss (-) for the period 688 

Other comprehensive income -267 

Total comprehensive income 421 

Percentage of non-controlling interest 20.00 % 

Profit or loss allocated to non-controlling interest 138 

Other comprehensive income allocated to non-controlling interest -54 

Total comprehensive profit or loss allocated to non-controlling interest 84 
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15. Loans and bonds issued 

This note provides an overview of the contractual terms and conditions governing interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings of the Group.  

Non-current bank loans and bonds 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Non-current bank loans 221 89 

Non-current borrowings from companies outside the Group 41 22 

Bonds issued – non-current portion 2 193 2 188 

Total non-current loans and bonds 2 455 2 299 

 
  

Current loans and bonds 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Current bank loans -- 2 412 

Current portion of non-current bank loans 76 50 

Other current borrowings 17 10 

Overdrafts 57 -- 

Bonds issued – current portion 2 2 

Total current loans and bonds 152 2 474 

Long-term loans from non-group companies represent a long-term loan from a non-bank entity. The loan was 
drawn to finance the acquisition of a drilling rig. 

As at 31 December 2022, short-term bank loans include a short-term bank loan for the purpose of financing gas 
inventory in the amount of CZK 2 412 million. 

Based on the terms and conditions of loans and bonds, the Group companies must maintain specific financial debt 
covenants. As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the Group companies fulfilled these covenants. 

 

Bank loans 

The bank loans are due as follows: 

  31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Due within 1 year 76 2 462 

Due within 1 – 5 years 116 -- 

Due in more than 5 years 105 89 

  297 2 551 

The loans received by the Group are secured by land, buildings and facilities in the total amount of CZK 390 
million (as at 31 December 2022: CZK 304 million); inventories of CZK 629 million (as at 31 December 2022: 
CZK 859 million), receivables of CZK 917 million (as at 31 December 2022: CZK 1 169 million) and bank accounts 

at CZK 393 million CZK (as at 31 December 2022: CZK 513 million). 

Loan interest rates are based on PRIBOR, EURIBOR and a margin that ranges from 1.30% to 2.30% (2022: 
1.00% - 1.90%). 

As at 31 December 2023, the total amount of the Group's undrawn credit facilities is CZK 0 million (2022: CZK 
100 million).  

The transaction currencies of loans, bonds and borrowings as at 31 December 2023 are EUR and CZK; the balance 

of loans with the EUR transaction currency is CZK 413 million (2022: CZK 2 582 million) and the balance of loans 
with the CZK transaction currency is CZK 2 194 million (2022: CZK 2 191 million). 

 

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 



MND a.s. 
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (in millions of Czech crowns) 

Page 63 

 

Bonds issued 

On 3 March 2022, the Group issued unsecured bearer bonds MND VAR/27 in book form, which were admitted to 
trading on the regulated market of the Prague Stock Exchange under ISIN CZ0003538183. These bonds have 
variable interest of 3M PRIBOR + 2.8% p. a. and will mature on 3 March 2027. Bond coupons are paid out 
quarterly in arrears. The nominal value of one bond is CZK 3 million. The total nominal value of bonds is CZK 

2 202 million. The emission of bonds was issued in the Czech Republic in compliance with Czech law. 450 bonds 
with a nominal value of CZK 1 350 million was subscribed in exchange for MND VAR/22 bonds. 284 bonds with a 
nominal value of CZK 852 million was subscribed for cash. The funds raised were used to repay the remaining 
bonds of the MND VAR/22 issue, which matured in November 2022. 

The reconciliation of movements of non-current and current loans, issued bonds with cash flows: 

 2023 2022 

Balance at 1 January 4 773 4 983 

Cash flows   

Drawing of loans and borrowings 1 399 18 879 

Repayment of loans and borrowings -3 674 -18 972 

Interest paid from previous years (-) -7 -12 

Non-cash changes   

Effect of asset acquisition (asset deal) 112 -- 

Unpaid interest for the current period 6 7 

Foreign exchange differences recognised in profit or loss -2 -94 

Other non-monetary transactions -- -18 

Balance at 31 December 2 607 4 773 

16. Lease liabilities 

Lease liabilities 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Lease liabilities – non-current 292 281 

Lease liabilities - current 44 36 

Total lease liabilities 336 317 

Reconciliation of movements of lease liabilities with cash flows: 
 2023 2022 

Balance at 1 January 317 289 

Cash flows   

Payment of lease liabilities -44 -37 

Non-cash changes   

Recognition of lease liabilities 63 73 

Effect of asset acquisition (asset deal) -- 1 

Effect of currency translation -- -9 

Balance at 31 December 336 317 

For detail of right of use assets see the asset table in Note 5. 
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17. Trade and other payables 

Non-current trade and other payables 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Other non-current liabilities 61 94 

Non-current liabilities - financial 61 94 

Non-current contract liabilities 7 31 

Non-current liabilities - other 7 31 

Total non-current trade and other payables 68 125 

All other non-current liabilities are due between 1 and 5 years. Other non-current liabilities include payables 
arising from natural gas storage contracts of CZK 53 million (2021: CZK 83 million). 

Current trade and other payables 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Trade payables 1 662 2 721 

Other current liabilities 246 188 

Current payables - financial 1 908 2 909 

Current contract liabilities 1 285 829 

Other current payables to the state 213 192 

Current payables to employees 206 199 

Current deferred income 12 1 

Current payables - other 1 716 1 221 

Total current trade and other payables 3 624 4 130 

Current overdue trade liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 amounted to CZK 0 million. Current trade 
liabilities include liabilities arising from gas storage contracts of CZK 205 million (2022: CZK 174 million). 

18. Derivative financial instruments 

The Group uses the derivative financial instruments mainly for trading in electricity, gas and emissions allowances 

and to hedge the currency, interest and commodity risks. When the hedge accounting requirements are fulfilled, 
derivatives are designated and recognized as “Hedging derivatives”. 
 

Book value of receivables and payables from derivative financial instruments is as follows: 

 

 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

 

Hedging 
derivatives 

Trading 
derivatives 

Total 
Hedging 

derivatives 
Trading 

derivatives 
Total 

Long-term receivables 3 431 434 2 601 603 

Short-term receivables 24 873 897 3 4 684 4 687 

Total receivables from derivative 
financial instruments  

27 1 304 1 331 5 5 285 5 290 

Long-term payables -285 -46 -331 -- -1 089 -1 089 

Short-term payables -958 -1 472 -2 430 -- -5 098 -5 098 

Total payables from derivative 
financial instruments  

-1 243 -1 518 -2 761 -- -6 187 -6 187 

All financial derivatives are stated at fair value as at 31 December 2023 (or 31 December 2022) and are classified 
in level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 
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Hedging derivatives 

The Group had the following financial derivatives for hedging: 

2023 
Year of 

maturity 
Nominal value Average hedged rate Fair value 

Interest rate swaps 2025 91 0,5% 2 

Currency forwards 2024 226 22.74 CZK/USD 3 

Commodity swaps, crude oil 2025 19 84.02 USD/bbl 3 

Commodity swaps, crude oil 2024 207 84.02 USD/bbl 19 

Total receivables from hedging derivatives    27 

Commodity forwards, gas 2025 564           54.82 EUR/MWh -148 

Commodity forwards, electricity 2025 456 124.91 EUR/MWh -137 

Commodity forwards, gas 2024 1 322 47.94 EUR/MWh -463 

Commodity forwards, electricity 2024 1 293 140.70 EUR/MWh -495 

Total payables from hedging derivatives     -1 243 

Total hedging financial derivatives    -1 216 

 

2022 
Year of 

maturity 
Nominal value Average hedged rate Fair value 

Interest rate swaps 2025 138 0.5% 5 

Total receivables from hedging derivatives    5 

Total hedging financial derivatives    5 

*The nominal value of the commodity swaps and forwards represents hedged quantity of the commodity 
multiplied by the contract price. In the case of oil, the quantity is expressed in barrels, in the case of gas and 
electricity quantity is stated in MWh.  

In both 2023 and 2022, the revaluation of commodity hedging derivatives for each of the hedging relationships 
was recognised in other comprehensive income. In 2023, there were no reclassifications from the hedge reserve 
to the income statement, nor were there any reclassifications to the initial cost of inventory. In 2022, CZK 94 

million was reclassified to the profit or loss.  

Hedge accounting criteria were fulfilled as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022 respectively) for all of the 
above-mentioned derivatives hedging interest rate, currency and commodity risk and these derivatives were 
classified as "Hedging derivatives". Hedging relationships were effective in both periods and the Group did not 
identify any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of hedging derivatives that would be recognised in 

profit or loss. 
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Trading derivatives 

Besides the hedging derivatives the Group held the derivatives for trading as they do not fulfil the hedge 
accounting criteria as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022. These derivatives are classified as “Trading 
derivatives” and recognized in fair value. 

The Group had the following financial derivatives for trading: 

2023 Year of maturity Fair value 

Commodity forwards 2026 925 

Commodity futures 2024 122 

Currency forwards 2025 69 

Interest rate swaps 2027 188 

Total receivables from trading derivatives  1 304 

Commodity forwards 2024 -1 242 

Commodity futures 2025 -256 

Currency forwards 2024 -20 

Total payables from trading derivatives   -1 518 

Total trading financial derivatives  -214 

 

2022 Year of maturity Fair value 

Commodity forward 2025 11 

Commodity forward 2024 169 

Commodity forward 2023 3 920 

Commodity future 2024 154 

Commodity future 2023 630 

Currency forward 2024 9 

Currency forward 2023 54 

Interest rate swap 2027 338 

Total receivables from trading derivatives  5 285 

Commodity forward 2024 -1 086 

Commodity forward 2023 -4 944 

Commodity future 2023 -4 

Currency swap 2023 -16 

Currency forward 2024 -3 

Currency forward 2023 -134 

Total payables from trading derivatives   -6 187 

Total trading financial derivatives  -902 

The Group held trading derivatives in a form of currency forwards, currency swaps, interest rate swaps and 
commodity forwards, futures and swaps. For fair value determination, a market comparison technique was used 

and the inputs were based on the same fair value hierarchy. 
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19. Provisions 

 

Provision for 
decommissioning, 

renewals and 
restoration 

Other provisions Total 

Balance 1 January 2023 1 623 24 1 647 

Additions 14 1 15 

Utilization -81 -22 -103 

Unwinding of discount 70 -- 70 

Change in value 210 -- 210 

Effect of currency translation -1 -- -1 

Balance 31 December 2023 1 835 3 1 838 

Thereof:    

Non-current provisions 1 747 -- 1 747 

Current provisions 88 3 91 

Provisions for decommissioning, renewals and restorations are established based on rules described in Note  3(j). 

For 2023, interest rates in the range of 4.04% - 4.11% p.a. were used. In calculating provisions the expected 
inflation of 3 % was taken into account. The Group expects that costs will be incurred between 2024 and 2054. 

  

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 



MND a.s. 
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (in millions of Czech crowns) 

Page 68 

 

20. Revenue 

The following tables show the breakdown of total revenue for each segment based on the main type of goods, 
products or services and based on the recognition of revenue according to time perspective: 

2023 
Exploration and 
production of oil 

and gas 

Trading in gas and 
electricity, gas 

storage 
Drilling Revenue Revenue based on the main type of goods, 

products or services 

Revenue from trading in gas -- 39 014 -- 39 014 

Revenue from trading in electricity  -- 4 897 -- 4 897 

Revenue from the sale of gas to end customers -- 3 935 -- 3 935 

Revenue from the sale of electricity to end 
customers 

-- 3 690 -- 3 690 

Revenue from the sale of produced gas 2 203 -- -- 2 203 

Revenue from the sale of produced oil 833 -- -- 833 

Revenue from drilling activities -- -- 489 489 

Revenue from gas storage  -- 414  -- 414  

Revenue from the sale of goods 11 9 -- 20 

Revenue from the provision of services 38 46 55 139 

Revenue from the sale of products 11 -- 6 17 

Total revenue 3 096  52 005  550  55 651  

 

2022 
Exploration and 
production of oil 

and gas 

Trading in gas and 
electricity, gas 

storage 
Drilling Revenue Revenue based on the main type of goods, 

products or services 

Revenue from trading in gas -- 181 743 -- 181 743 

Revenue from trading in electricity  -- 14 680 -- 14 680 

Revenue from the sale of gas to end customers -- 3 998 -- 3 998 

Revenue from the sale of electricity to end 
customers 

-- 3 763 -- 3 763 

Revenue from the sale of produced gas 2 539 -- -- 2 539 

Revenue from the sale of produced oil 949 -- -- 949  

Revenue from drilling activities -- -- 523 523 

Revenue from gas storage  -- 390 -- 390 

Revenue from the sale of goods 28 -- -- 28 

Revenue from the provision of services 25 73 46 144 

Revenue from the sale of products -- -- 4 4 

Total revenue 3 541 204 647 573 208 761 

 

2023 
Exploration and 
production of oil 

and gas 

Trading in gas and 
electricity, gas 

storage 
Drilling Revenue 

Timing of revenue recognition 

Revenue recognised at a point in time  547  304 26 877 

Revenue recognised over time  2 549  7 790  524  10 863 

Subtotal 3 096 8 094 550 11 740 

Revenue from commodity trading  --     43 911   --    43 911 

Total revenue 3 096 52 005 550 55 651 

 

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 



MND a.s. 
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (in millions of Czech crowns) 

Page 69 

 

2022 
Exploration and 
production of oil 

and gas 

Trading in gas and 
electricity, gas 

storage 
Drilling Revenue 

Timing of revenue recognition 

Revenue recognised at a point in time 222 354 26 602 

Revenue recognised over time 3 319 7 870 547 11 736 

Subtotal 3 541 8 224 573 12 338 

Revenue from commodity trading -- 196 423 -- 196 423 

Total revenue 3 541 204 647 573 208 761 

 

Revenue based on geographical position of a point of sale 2023 2022 

Czechia 13 382 42 710 

Denmark 292 6 551 

France 30 -- 

Italy 167 -- 

Luxembourg 3 113 57 218 

Hungary 20 -- 

Germany 19 069 54 225 

Austria 2 143 3 750 

Slovakia 111 282 

Spain 90 -- 

Switzerland 6 198 17 265 

Ukraine 547 1 633 

United Kingdom 10 489 24 878 

Other -- 249 

Total revenue 55 651 208 761 

In 2023, the Group reported revenue of CZK 17 218 million (2022: CZK 34 064 million) for one customer. This 
revenue was allocated to the Trading in gas and electricity, gas storage segment. 

The remaining performance obligations relate to the contracts whose initial expected duration of one year or less, 
or to the contracts concluded for an indefinite period with a notice period shorter than 1 year, therefore the Group 
does not disclose their value. 

In 2023, CZK 1 457 million (2022: CZK 834 million) was recognised in revenue from the value of contractual 

liabilities as at 31 December 2022 (Note 18). 

Revenues in the segment Oil and gas exploration and production of CZK 2 550 million (2022: CZK 1 893 million) 
were realized in Czechia, the remaining sales were realized in Ukraine. 

Sales in the segment Trading in gas and electricity, gas storage" were realized in the countries of the European 
Union, Switzerland and the United Kingdom. 
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21. Other operating income 

  2023 2022 

Income from grants 634 40 

Profit from the sale of fixed assets 1 -- 

Income from lease 3 14 

Gain from trading in commodity contracts -- 1 308 

Fines and default interest -- 6 

Remaining operating income 127 133 

Total other operating income 765 1 501 

 

22. Consumption of materials, goods and services 

  2023 2022    

Cost of goods sold 13 29 

Cost of sale of gas and electricity to end customers 6 307 4 216 

Cost of trading in gas and electricity 42 834 196 355 

Materials and energy used 418 361 

Total materials and goods used 49 572 200 961 

   

Services used relating to revenue 1 980 2 366 

Lease expenses 78 76 

Other services 472 305 

Amortisation of contract costs 46 40 

Changes in product and work-in-progress inventories 60 -53 

Total services used 2 636 2 734 

   

Total consumption of materials, goods and services 52 208 203 695 

Lease expenses in 2023 and 2022 comprise short-term leases of CZK 67 million (2022: CZK 69 million), variable 
lease payments of CZK 7 million (2022: CZK 6 million) and low-value assets leases of CZK 4 million (2022: CZK 

1 million).  

Services used relating to revenues consist mainly of costs of purchased drilling work and distribution of electricity 

and gas. Other services include costs of services provided by a statutory auditor to the MND Group of CZK 9 
million (2022: CZK 6 million). Other non-audit services provided to MND Energie a.s. by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
ČR, s.r.o. in 2023 amounted to CZK 19 thousand. 

23. Personnel expenses 

  2023 2022 

Payroll expenses 699 643 

Social security and health insurance expenses 218 203 

Other social expenses 35 26 

Total personnel expenses 952 872 

The average number of employees in 2023 was 892 (2022: 821 employees). 
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24. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 

 2023 2022 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 5) 773 907 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 5) 147 -95 

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 6) 26 19 

Depreciation of right of use (Note 5) 55 74 

Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment 1 001 905 

The impairment of property, plant and equipment in 2023 is mainly related to oil and gas assets held in Ukraine. 
In 2022, provisions created in 2021 for property destroyed as a result of a natural disaster (tornado) were partially 

released. 

25. Other operating costs 

 2023 2022 

Repairs and maintenance 89 160 

Travel expenses 28 22 

Fees 195 548 

Other taxes 2 3 

Insurance premiums 30 24 

Loss on the sale of fixed assets --    5 

Loss from the sale of material 6 -- 

Loss from trading in commodity contracts 524 -- 

Credit loss allowance for financial assets 77 19 

Write off receivables -32 28 

Other overhead operating expenses 145 191 

Total other operating expenses 1 064 1 000 

The most significant part of the fees represents charges for produced oil and gas of CZK 154 million (2022: CZK 

507 million) and fees for mining areas and fees for exploration areas in the amount of CZK 38 million (2022: CZK 
36 million). 

 2023  2022    

Profit from trading in commodity contracts 4 289 134 350 

Loss from trading in commodity contracts -4 813 -133 042 

Net Profit/Loss (-) from trading in commodity contracts -524 1 308 
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26. Finance income and costs 

 2023 2022 

Interest income 155 60 

Total interest income 155 60 

   

Income from current financial assets 227 45 

Other finance income 1 387 

Total finance income  228 432 

   

Interest expense -172 -234 

Interest expense on leases -23 -17 

Other finance costs -329 -25 

Loss from foreign exchange transactions -18 -19 

Total finance costs -542 -295 

Net profit/loss from financial operations -159 197 

27. Taxation 

Income tax expense 2023 2022 

Current tax expense   

Current year 273 565 

Changes in estimates relating to the previous year 23 1 

Total current tax expense 296 566 

Deferred tax expense 25 228 

Total income tax (expense + / income -) 321 794 

 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 2023 2022 

       

Profit or loss before tax 1 207  3 987  

Income tax using the applicable tax rate 229 19.0%* 757 19.0%* 

Effect of different rates of current and deferred tax; Effect of rate 
change including windfall profits tax 

97 8.0% 2 0.1% 

Effect of tax non-deductible expenses  12 1.0% 18 0.5% 

Effect of tax-exempt income  -17 -1.4% -7 -0.2% 

Donations for charitable causes -2 -0.2% -- 0.0% 

Effect of accumulated tax loss claimed in the current period -- 0.0% -18 -0.5% 

Effect of tax loss related to previous periods (-) -1 -0.1% -- 0.0% 

Effect of not recognised deferred tax asset related to tax loss of 

current period 
-- 0.0% -- 0.0% 

Effect of share of profit (-) / loss (+)-of equity-accounted 
investee, net of tax 

-- 0.0% -- 0.0% 

Effect of different tax rate in companies within the Group -- -1.8% -9 -0.2% 

Other effects 3 0.3% 51 1.2% 

Total income tax expense / Effective tax rate 321 26.7% 794 19.9% 

* Tax rate valid in the Czech Republic until 31 December 2023 
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Deferred tax 

Deferred tax has been calculated using the expected average tax rate in the period when the temporary 
differences are realised. The expected average tax rate for 2024-2025 was calculated taking into account the 
standard corporate tax rate of 21% and the windfall profits tax rate of 60%. For the years 2026 and the following, 
the tax rate of 21% is used. 

The tax on windfall profits is determined in accordance with the relevant provisions of Act No. 586/1992 Coll., on 
Income Taxes, as amended. The tax amounts to 60% of the tax base, which is the difference between the 

compared tax base and the average of the adjusted comparative tax bases. The compared tax base is the tax 
base before the application of items reducing the tax base and deductible items or tax loss for individual periods 
of effectiveness of tax on windfall profits. The adjusted comparative tax base is the tax base before the application 
of items reducing the tax base and deductible items or tax loss for the entire periods in 2018–2021 increased by 
an absolute value of 20%. 

Based on the financial outlook, the Company expects to be able to utilise the deferred tax asset against future 
profits. 

Corporate income tax rates according to the countries where the Group's companies mainly operate: 

 2023 2022 

Czechia 19 % 19 % 

Ukraine 18 % 18 % 

 

Deferred tax 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Deferred tax asset 373 125 

Deferred tax liability -401 -401 

Net amount of deferred tax -28 -276 

For the purposes of consolidation, deferred tax assets and liabilities registered in respect of one tax authority are 
offset on the level of individual group companies. 

In accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 3(n), deferred tax was calculated based on tax rates 
valid in the countries in which individual Group companies operate. Due to the change in the tax rate in the Czech 

Republic to 21% as at 1 January 2024, a rate of 21% was used to calculate the deferred tax of companies from 
the Czech Republic. 

Change in deferred tax 

2023 
Balance at 
1/1/2023 

Change in 2023 
Balance at 

31/12/2023 

  
Deferred tax asset 

(+)/ liability (-) 
Recognised in 
profit or loss 

Recognised in 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

Deferred tax 
asset (+)/ 
liability (-) 

Recognised in profit 
or loss 

Deferred tax asset (+) /liability 
(-) 

-276 -25 271 2 -28 

Property, plant and equipment -528 33 -- 2 -493 

Intangible fixed assets 1 -1 -- -- -- 

Long-term and short-term financial 
assets 

1 -- -- -- 1 

Derivative financial instruments* 84 -120 271 -- 235 

Total inventories -140 156 -- -- 16 

Total receivables -51 6 -- -- -45 

Lease liabilities -- 4 -- -- 4 

Total liabilities 32 -19 -- -- 13 

Provisions 325 -84 -- -- 241 

* The net deferred tax receivable arising from derivative financial instruments totalling CZK 235 million is a result 
of offsetting of deferred tax liability from derivative financial instruments assets in amount of CZK 54 million and 

deferred tax asset arising from derivative financial instruments liabilities and liabilities from gas storage contracts 
in amount of CZK 289 million.  
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2022 
Balance at 
1/1/2022 

Change in 2022 
Balance at 

31/12/2022 

  
Deferred tax asset 

(+)/ liability (-) 
Recognised in 
profit or loss 

Recognised in 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

Deferred tax 
asset (+)/ 
liability (-) 

Recognised in profit 
or loss 

Deferred tax asset (+) /liability 
(-) 

-50 -228 -20 22 -276 

Property, plant and equipment -467 -84 -- 23 -528 

Intangible fixed assets -- 1 -- -- 1 

Derivative financial instruments* 817 -713 -20 -- 84 

Total inventories -576 436 -- -- -140 

Total receivables -13 -38 -- -- -51 

Lease liabilities 4 -4 -- -- -- 

Total liabilities 9 24 -- -- 33 

Provisions 176 150 -- -1 325 

*The net deferred tax receivable arising from derivative financial instruments totalling CZK 84 million is a result 
of offsetting of deferred tax liability from derivative financial instruments assets in amount of CZK 171 million 
and deferred tax asset arising from derivative financial instruments liabilities and liabilities from gas storage 

contracts in amount of CZK 113 million. 

The amount of the unrecognised deferred tax asset is as follows: 

 Unrecognised deferred tax asset 

 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Tax losses carried forward -- -- 

Total unrecognised deferred tax asset -- -- 

Tax losses from previous years were fully utilised in 2022. The Group has no taxable losses as at 31 December 
2023 and 2022.  

On the basis of EU Council Directive 2022/2523 on ensuring a global minimum level of effective taxation for 
multinational groups of enterprises and large domestic groups, Act No. 416/2023 Coll., on top-up taxes for large 
multinational groups and large domestic groups, was adopted. Top-up taxes aim to stop cross-country 
competition for different corporate tax rates by introducing a single minimum tax rate to ensure a level playing 
field for entities around the world and to allow countries to better protect their tax bases. Top-up taxes will be 
levied if the calculated effective tax rate in a given state is less than 15%. The payer of the top-up tax is a group 

company whose consolidated annual revenues reported in the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate 

parent entity amount to EUR 750 million in at least 2 of the 4 reporting periods immediately preceding the given 
tax period. 

The company expects not to become a top-up taxpayer in the immediately following period. Top-up tax was not 
taken into account in the calculation of deferred tax.  
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28. Other comprehensive income 

 

2023 
Currency 

translation 
reserve 

Hedging 
reserve 

Share on 
funds of 

equity-
accounted 
investees 

Other 
comprehensive 

profit or loss 
attributable to the 
shareholder of the 

company 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
attributable to 

non-controlling 
interests 

Total other 
comprehensive 

income 

Exchange rate differences 
from translation to 
presentation currency 

-45 -- -- -45 -11 -55 

Change in fair value of 
hedging instruments 

-- -950 -- -950 -- -950 

Share of other 
comprehensive income of 
equity-accounted investees 

-- -- 33 33 -- -- 

Total other 
comprehensive income, 
after tax 

-45 -950 33 -961 -11 -972 

 

 

2022 
Currency 

translation 
reserve 

Hedging 
reserve 

Share on 
funds of 
equity-

accounted 
investees 

Other 
comprehensive 

profit or loss 
attributable to the 
shareholder of the 

company 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
attributable to 

non-controlling 
interests 

Total other 
comprehensive 

income 

Exchange rate differences 
from translation to 
presentation currency 

-213 -- -- -213 -54 -267 

Change in fair value of 
hedging instruments 

-- 84 -- 84 -- 84 

Total other 
comprehensive income, 
after tax 

-213 84 -- -129 -54 -183 

 2023 2022 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments, before tax -1 221 10 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments – deferred tax 271 -2 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments, after tax -950 8 

   
Change in fair value of hedging instruments transferred to profit/loss, before 
tax 

-- 94 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments transferred to profit/loss - deferred 
tax 

-- -18 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments transferred to profit/loss, 
after tax 

-- 76 

   

Share of other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees 33 -- 

Share of other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees 33 -- 

Translation of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation 
currency 

-55 -267 

Total other comprehensive income -972 -183 
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29. Related parties 

Payroll expenses, bonuses and other personnel expenses incurred in respect of key employees of the Group are 
disclosed in the following table: 

 2023 2022 

 
Board of directors 

and supervisory 
board 

Executive 
management 

Board of directors 
and supervisory 

board 

Executive 
management 

Payroll expenses -- 22 -- 17 

Social security and health insurance expenses 2 5 2 4 

Bonuses to statutory body members 10 -- 6 -- 

Total 12 27 8 21 

 
MND Group is part of the consolidated group of KKCG AG with its registered office in Switzerland. All related party 
transactions are conducted on normal market terms.  
 

Related-party balances as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022: 

 
 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Non-current trade and other receivables 2 68 

Current trade and other receivables 45 11 

Current loans provided 3 11 

Other current financial assets 4 262 4 321 

Total receivables 4 312 4 411 

Current trade and other liabilities 42 38 

Total liabilities 42 38 

Other current financial assets of CZK 4 205 million (2021: CZK 4 321 million) represent receivables from KKCG 
Structured Finance AG under cash-pooling contracts (see Note 10). The receivables, payables, income and 
expenses of the Joint venture are disclosed in Note 7. 

Related-party transactions for the period ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022: 

 2023 2022 

Revenue and other operating income 90 166 

Interest income 18 2 

Other financial income 227 47 

Total revenue 335 215 

Consumption of materials and goods -- 8 

Consumed services 382 313 

Other operating expenses 6 948 

Total costs 388 1 269 

Expenses charged by related parties include in particular the lease of drilling rigs (MND Drilling Germany GmbH), 
services related to drilling work (MND Germany GmbH) and marketing services (Mindsquared a.s.). 

Revenue recognized in respect of related parties include in particular the sale of gas and electricity (Sazka a.s.) 
and financial income from cash-pooling contracts (KKCG Structured Finance AG).  
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30. Risk management 

(a) Financial risk management and financial instruments 

This section describes in detail the financial and operational risks the Group is exposed to and its risk management 
methods. Risk management is one of the core components of MND Group corporate governance. The main focus 
is placed on quantifying risks the Group is exposed to in the market (the risk of changes in foreign exchange 
rates, interest rates and commodity prices) and the credit risk. The Group’s risk management strategy 
concentrates on minimising potential negative impacts on the Group’s financial results. 

The principal role of the Group’s risk management is to identify risks, determine a risk measurement method, 
quantify and analyse risk exposure, define a hedging strategy and the hedging implementation as such. The 

overall responsibility for setting up the Group’s risk management system and supervising its operation lies on the 
level of the board of directors. With regard to the diversity of operations and the corresponding risks, the 
management of each Group company is responsible for setting up and monitoring risk management policies. 

Main financial instruments used by the Group include bank loans, bonds and derivatives. The principal task of 
these financial instruments is to acquire necessary funds to finance Group companies’ operations and hedge risks 
arising from the Group operations. 

The most significant financial risks the Group is exposed to are market risks (the risk of changes in commodity 

prices, currency risk, interest rate risk and credit risk, in case an important business partner or a customer does 
not fulfil its contractual obligations). These risk management processes are approved and monitored by the top 
management of individual Group companies. 

Group companies entered into derivative transactions (currency forwards, currency swaps, interest rate swaps 
and commodity forwards, futures and swaps) with the aim to manage the risk of exchange rate, interest rate and 
commodity price fluctuations. 

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk that is reflected by the cash flow sensitivity and profit or loss on 
interest rates changes. Interest rate risk is mostly managed and hedged by using interest rate swaps. 

The Group is also exposed to liquidity risk. Liquidity risk is managed within the Group based on data about 
necessity of free resources and it is monitored through risk management and in cooperation with the company´s 
finance department. Apart from the cash flow report that is additionally simulated for various scenarios the Group 
also uses a system to monitor receivables and payables, diversification of liquidity resources and daily monitoring. 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is a risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a transaction fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, such as payment, acceptance of a commodity or service for a pre-arranged price, failure 
to deliver the agreed commodity or service. 

The Group trades primarily with highly rated partners. The Group follows the principle that all customers that 
want to use credit facilities undergo procedures for credit risk assessment that is applied by using own scoring 
model. The Group continuously monitors the balance of receivables on an individual and aggregate level. 

MND Group companies generate revenue from the sale of oil, gas and electricity, the trade in gas and electricity, 
the provision of services connected with operation of underground gas storages and the drilling activities. All 
business counterparties are subject to individual analysis of creditworthiness, and they are assigned a credit limit. 
Credit limits are approved by the risk management committee based on external rating, if available, or based on 
internal risk assessment guidelines. Risk exposure is monitored for each counterparty on a daily basis, taking into 
consideration potential future impact. In relevant cases, the Group also requires the counterparty to provide a 
bank guarantee or its parent company’s guarantee, an advance payment or credit support instrument with the 

aim to minimise the credit risk. 

The total credit risk of the trading portfolio is monitored on an ongoing basis and calculated based on the expected 
loss, i.e., each counterparty is assigned internal credit rating with estimated probability of default. The expected 
loss is calculated by product of the default probability, the percentage of loss from a given exposure in the case 
of default and exposure to a counterparty at a given moment. 

With respect to the credit risk arising from the Group’s financial assets, comprising cash and cash equivalents 

and financial derivatives, the credit risk arises from a failure of the counterparty to discharge their obligations, 
where the maximum credit risk amount corresponds with the carrying amount of these instruments. The risk is 
mitigated by cooperating with reputable local and international banks and by diversifying the portfolio. 

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 



MND a.s. 
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (in millions of Czech crowns) 

Page 78 

 

For the calculation of credit exposure and the free trading limit, VaR at the 95% confidence level for holding 
period of 10 days is also taken into account in terms of credit risk calculation. The Risk Manager monitors credit 
exposure on a daily basis and if necessary makes remedial arrangements even in cooperation with the Risk 
Management Committee. 

Credit risk by type of counterparty 

At 31 December 2023 
Companies 

(non-financial 
institutions) 

State, 
government 

Financial 
institutions 

Individuals Total 

Assets      

Non-current receivables - financial 307 -- -- 1 308 

Non-current receivables from derivative 

instruments 
303 -- 131 -- 434 

Non-current restricted cash -- 42 4 -- 46 

Other current financial assets 4 262 -- -- -- 4 262 

Current receivables – financial 1 573 1 -- 798 2 372 

Current receivables from derivative instruments 768 -- 129 -- 897 

Cash and cash equivalents -- 207 1 495 -- 1 702 

Total 7 213 250 1 759 799 10 021 

 

At 31 December 2022 
Companies 

(non-financial 
institutions) 

State, 
government 

Financial 
institutions 

Individuals Total 

Assets      

Non-current receivables - financial 278 -- -- 1 279 

Non-current receivables from derivative 
instruments 

334 -- 269 -- 603 

Non-current restricted cash -- 40 1 -- 41 

Other current financial assets 4 250 -- 71 -- 4 321 

Current receivables – financial 3 529 3 -- 303 3 835 

Current receivables from derivative instruments 4 549 -- 138 -- 4 687 

Cash and cash equivalents 124 943 804 -- 1 871 

Total 13 064 986 1 283 304 15 637 
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Ageing structure of financial assets 

At 31 December 2023 
Not past 

due 

Past due Past due Past due Past due 
more than 1 

year 

Impairment 
allowance 

Total 
0-90 days 91-180 

days 
181-365 

days 

Non-current receivables  308 -- -- -- -- -- 308 

Non-current loans 286 -- -- -- -- -- 286 

Non-current refundable 
deposits 

21 -- -- -- -- -- 21 

Non-current receivables - 
other 

1 -- -- -- -- -- 1 

 

Non-current financial 
assets 

46 -- -- -- -- -- 46 

Non-current restricted 
debt securities – at 
amortised cost 

42 -- -- -- -- -- 42 

Non-current restricted 
cash 

4 -- -- -- -- -- 4 

 
       

Current receivables - 
financial 

2 366 31 17 31 88 -161 2 372 

Current trade receivables 401 30 16 30 83 -118 442 

Current loans provided to 
related parties 

3 -- -- -- -- -- 3 

Current loans granted to 
non-group undertakings 

36 -- -- -- -- -36 -- 

Current contract assets 661 -- -- -- -- -- 661 

Current refundable 

deposits 
531 -- -- -- -- -- 531 

Other current receivables 734 1 1 1 5 -7 735 

        

Other current financial 
assets 

4 262 -- -- -- -- -- 4 262 

Other current financial 
assets 

 
4 262 -- -- -- -- -- 4 262 

Cash and cash equivalents 1 702 -- -- -- -- -- 1 702 

Cash in hand -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Bank accounts and cash 
equivalents 

1 228 -- -- -- -- -- 1 228 

Fixed-term deposits 474 -- -- -- -- -- 474 

Total 8 684 31 17 31 88 -161 8 690 
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At 31 December 2022 
Not past 

due 

Past due Past due Past due Past due 
more than 

1 year 

Impairment 
allowance 

Total 
0-90 days 91-180 

days 
181-365 

days 

Non-current receivables  279 -- -- -- -- -- 279 

Non-current loans 262 -- -- -- -- -- 262 

Non-current refundable 
deposits 

16 -- -- -- -- -- 16 

Non-current receivables - 
other 

1 -- -- -- -- -- 1 

Non-current financial 
assets 

41 -- -- -- -- -- 41 

Non-current restricted 
debt securities – at 
amortised cost 

40 -- -- -- -- -- 40 

Non-current restricted 
cash 

1 -- -- -- -- -- 1 

        

Current receivables - 
financial 

3 836 27 20 33 -- -81 3 835 

Current trade receivables 1 660 26 19 31 1 -45 1 692 

Current loans provided to 
related parties 

11 -- -- -- -- -- 11 

Current loans granted to 
non-group undertakings 

34 -- -- -- -- -34 -- 

Current contract assets 240 -- -- -- -- -- 240 

Current refundable 
deposits 

610 -- -- -- -- -- 610 

Other current receivables 1 281 1 1 2 -1 -2 1 282 

        

Other current financial 
assets 

4 321 -- -- -- -- -- 4 321 

Other current financial 
assets 

4 321 -- -- -- -- -- 4 321 

Cash and cash equivalents 1 871 -- -- -- -- -- 1 871 

Cash in hand 1 -- -- -- -- -- 1 

Bank accounts and cash 
equivalents 

1 577 -- -- -- -- -- 1 577 

Fixed-term deposits 293 -- -- -- -- -- 293 

Total 10 348 27 20 33 -- -81 10 347 

 

The Group tests the amount of financial assets held in accordance with IFRS 9 and recognises allowances for 
financial assets in compliance with the accounting policy specified in Note 3(e) i.  

The following tables present credit quality of financial assets at amortised cost. Non-current and current derivative 
financial instrument assets are not included in the disclosures because they are measured at fair value through 
profit and loss.  
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Credit quality of financial assets at amortised cost 

The Group classifies the financial assets into the credit quality classes. Class 1 consists of high-quality financial 
assets that do not have any indicators of impairment and fulfils the definition for “low credit risk”. Class 2 consists 
of all other financial assets. Class 3 consists of financial assets whose credit quality has increased, and to which 
was created 100% impairment allowance. 

At 31 December 2023 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
Provision 

matrix 
Impairment 

allowance 
Net carrying 

amount 

Class 1       

Cash and cash equivalents 1 702 -- -- -- -- 1 702 

Cash in hand -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Bank accounts and cash equivalents  1 228 -- -- -- -- 1 228 

Fixed-term deposits 474 -- -- -- -- 474 

       
Other current financial assets 4 262 -- -- -- -- 4 262 

Other current financial assets 4 262 -- -- -- -- 4 262 

       

Non-current financial assets 46 -- -- -- -- 46 

Non-current restricted debt securities 
– at amortised cost 

42 -- -- -- -- 42 

Non-current restricted cash 4 -- -- -- -- 4 

       

Class 2       
Current receivables - financial 47 -- 36 2 450 -161 2 372 

Current trade receivables 5 -- -- 555 -118 442 

Current loans provided to related 
parties 

3 -- -- -- -- 3 

Current loans granted to non-group 
undertakings 

-- -- 36 -- -36 -- 

Current contract assets 2 -- -- 659 -- 661 

Current refundable deposits 1 -- -- 530 -- 531 

Other current receivables 36 -- -- 706 -7 735 

       

Non-current receivables - financial 308 -- -- -- -- 308 

Non-current loans 286 -- -- -- -- 286 

Non-current refundable deposits 21 -- -- -- -- 21 

Non-current receivables - other 1 -- -- -- -- 1 

       

Total 6 365 -- 36 2 450 -161 8 690 
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At 31 December 2022 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
Provision 

matrix 
Impairment 

allowance 
Net carrying 

amount 

Class 1       

Cash and cash equivalents 1 871 -- -- -- -- 1 871 

Cash in hand 1 -- -- -- -- 1 

Bank accounts and cash equivalents  1 577 -- -- -- -- 1 577 

Fixed-term deposits 293 -- -- -- -- 293 

       
Other current financial assets 4 321 -- -- -- -- 4 321 

Other current financial assets 4 321 -- -- -- -- 4 321 

       

Non-current financial assets 41 -- -- -- -- 41 

Non-current restricted debt securities 
– at amortised cost 

40 -- -- -- -- 40 

Non-current restricted cash 1 -- -- -- -- 1 

       

Class 2       
Current receivables - financial 19 -- 34 3 863 -81 3 835 

Current trade receivables 6 -- -- 1 731 -45 1 692 

Current loans provided to related 
parties 

11 -- -- -- -- 11 

Current loans granted to non-group 
undertakings 

-- -- 34 -- -34 -- 

Current contract assets -- -- -- 240 -- 240 

Current refundable deposits 1 -- -- 609 -- 610 

Other current receivables 1 -- -- 1 283 -2 1 282 

       

Non-current receivables - financial 279 -- -- -- -- 279 

Non-current loans 262 -- -- -- -- 262 

Non-current refundable deposits 16 -- -- -- -- 16 

Non-current receivables - other 1 -- -- -- -- 1 

       

Total 6 531 -- 34 3 863 -81 10 347 
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Movements in impairment allowances are shown in the following table: 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
Provision 

matrix 
Total 

Balance at 1 January 2023 -- -- -34 -47 -81 

Additions – increase in allowance recognized 
in profit or loss during the year 

-- -- -- -107 -107 

Reversals – amount unused   -- 1 1 

Write-offs – receivables written off during the 
year as uncollectible 

-- -- -- 29 29 

Effect of currency translation -- -- -1 -1 -2 

Effect of investments disposals -- -- -1 -- -1 

Balance at 31 December 2023 -- -- -36 -125 -161 

      

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
Provision 

matrix 
Total 

Balance at 1 January 2022 -- -- -35 -27 -62 

Additions – increase in allowance recognized 
in profit or loss during the year 

-- -- -- -93 -93 

Reversals – amount unused    13 13 

Write-offs – receivables written off during the 
year as uncollectible 

-- -- -- 61 61 

Effect of currency translation -- -- 1 -- 1 

Effect of investments disposals -- -- -- -1 -1 

Balance at 31 December 2022 -- -- -34 -47 -81 

 

  

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 



MND a.s. 
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (in millions of Czech crowns) 

Page 84 

 

Impairment matrix for current trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2023: 

 Gross carrying 
amount 

Expected credit 
loss rate 

ECL allowance 
Net carrying 

amount 

     
Due 2 283 0.00% -- 2 283 

Current trade receivables 396 0.00% -- 396 

Contract assets - current 659 0.00% -- 659 

Current refundable deposits 530 0.00% -- 530 

Other current receivables 698 0.00% -- 698 

     
Past due < 90 days 31 9.68% -3 28 

Current trade receivables 30 10.00% -3 27 

Other current receivables 1 0.00% -- 1 

     
Past due 91-180 days 17 64.71% -11 6 

Current trade receivables 16 62.50% -10 6 

Other current receivables 1 100.00% -1 -- 

     
Past due 181-365 days 31 77.42% -24 7 

Current trade receivables 30 76.67% -23 7 

Other current receivables 1 100.00% -1 -- 

     
Past due >365 days 88 98.86% -87 1 

Current trade receivables 83 98.80% -82 1 

Other current receivables 5 100.00% -5 -- 

      

Total 2 450 5.10% -125 2 325 
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Impairment matrix for current trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2022: 

  
Gross carrying 

amount 
Expected credit 

loss rate 
ECL allowance 

Net carrying 
amount 

     

Due 3 783 0.03% -1 3 782 

Current trade receivables 1 654 0.06% -1 1 653 

Contract assets - current 240 0.00% -- 240 

Current refundable deposits 609 0.00% -- 609 

Other current receivables 1 280 0.00% -- 1 280 

     
Past due < 90 days 27 0.00% -- 27 

Current trade receivables 26 0.00% -- 26 

Other current receivables 1 0.00% -- 1 

     
Past due 91-180 days 20 75.00% -15 5 

Current trade receivables 19 73.68% -14 5 

Other current receivables 1 100.00% -1 -- 

     
Past due 181-365 days 32 93.75% -30 2 

Current trade receivables 31 93.55% -29 2 

Other current receivables 1 100.00% -1 -- 

     
Past due >365 days 1 100.00% -1 -- 

Current trade receivables 1 100.00% -1 -- 

      

Total 3 863 1.22% -47 3 816 
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Credit risk by region (by the counterparty’s registered office) 

Non-current and current receivables - financial, non-current and 
current receivables from derivative instruments, non-current 
restricted cash, other current financial assets, cash and cash 
equivalents  

31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Czechia 3 854 5 056 

Switzerland 3 923 4 851 

United Kingdom 1 027 2 661 

Ukraine 795 621 

Germany 260 1 481 

Austria 65 156 

France 62 -- 

Hungary 13 -- 

Slovakia 9 684 

Italy 7 44 

Luxembourg 4 -- 

Denmark 2 -- 

Other countries -- 83 

Total 10 021 15 637 

 

Offsetting of receivables and liabilities from trading in gas and electricity: 

Offsetting in the balance sheet 

The Company trades gas and electricity under EFET framework contracts. These contracts allow offsetting 
receivables and liabilities during their payment and also offsetting at early termination of a contract. Trade 
receivables and payables from these contracts were recognised in the balance sheet on a net basis after offsetting.  

Potential offsetting 
Receivables and liabilities from derivative transactions include the remeasurement of commodity contracts that 

are considered financial instruments. With respect to these contracts there is a possibility of offsetting at early 
termination of a contract where the receivables and liabilities with the originally different maturity can be offset. 
This potential offsetting was not recognised in the balance sheet and is recorded in the column “Potential 
offsetting”. 

At 31 December 2023 
Gross amount 

before offsetting 
Offsetting in the 

balance sheet 

Net amount in 
the balance 

sheet 

Potential 
offsetting  

Amount after 
potential 
offsetting 

Assets      

Non-current receivables from 
derivative instruments 

 2 309  -1 875   434  -3   431  

Current receivables from 
derivative instruments 

 26 342  -25 445   897  -74   823  

Current receivables   6 084  -3 652   2 432  --     2 432  

Total  34 735  -30 972   3 763  -77   3 686  

      

Liabilities      

Non-current liabilities from 
derivative instruments 

 2 206  -1 875   331  -5   326  

Current liabilities from derivative 
instruments 

 27 875  -25 445   2 430  -72   2 358  

Current liabilities  4 943  -3 652   1 291   -     1 291  

Total  35 024  -30 972   4 052  -77   3 975  
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At 31 December 2022 
Gross amount 

before offsetting 
Offsetting in the 

balance sheet 

Net amount in 
the balance 

sheet 

Potential 
offsetting  

Amount after 
potential 

offsetting 

Assets      

Non-current receivables from 
derivative instruments 

9 159 -8 556 603 -145 458 

Current receivables from 
derivative instruments 

68 330 -63 643 4 687 -991 3 696 

Current receivables 7 126 -3 578 3 548 -- 3 548 

Total 84 615 -75 777 8 838 -1 136 7 702 

      

Liabilities      

Non-current liabilities from 
derivative instruments 

9 645 -8 556 1 089 -465 624 

Current liabilities from derivative 
instruments 

68 741 -63 643 5 098 -671 4 427 

Current liabilities 5 489 -3 578 1 911 -- 1 911 

Total 83 875 -75 777 8 098 -1 136 6 962 

 

(c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of changes in the value of assets, liabilities and cash flows denominated in foreign currency 
due to changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices. The Group implemented policies 

and methodologies for monitoring and hedging these risks to which it is exposed. 

i. Currency risk 

The MND Group is exposed to currency risk as a result of its foreign currency transactions. These risks arise from 
purchases and sales in other than functional currency of companies in the Group (CZK, UAH).  

Group companies monitor currency risks on an ongoing basis and assess possible impact of changes in foreign 
exchange rates on Group transactions. A significant part of foreign currency exposure is hedged naturally, i.e. 
revenue and expenses are denominated in the same foreign currency, or by using currency forwards or swaps. 

Group companies are exposed to currency risk from the sale of oil in USD, from the sale of gas, electricity and 

other energy commodities in EUR. Group companies are exposed to currency risk from received non-current loans 
denominated in EUR that are not hedged against currency risk since the Group companies expect that the loans 
will be repaid from revenues in EUR from drilling services and from cross-currency swap. 

ii. Commodity risk 

For the purposes of commodity risk management, the Group monitors separately commodity trading, which is 

carried out within MND a.s., and activities related to energy supplies to end customers, which are carried out by 
the entity MND Energie a.s. 

Commodities trading 

As a part of trading activities the price risk is monitored on a daily basis by observing market prices, mark-to-
market and value-at-risk of the open positions and is subject to approved limits for individual risk indicators. The 
exposure to market risk, within the limits approved by the board of directors and the Risk Management 
Committee, depends on the market conditions and expectations. All risk limits are monitored and reviewed on a 
regular basis. 

VaR is the basic metric for assessing the risk of the Group's open trading positions. To calculate it, the Monte 
Carlo simulation method is applied at a significance level of 99% and with a horizon of two days. Furthermore, 

the total utilization of risk capital must not exceed the total risk capital for speculative trading, which was CZK 
244 million in 2023. We calculate the risk on all individual commodities in speculative trading using VaR metrics, 

both in the positions of individual traders and overall. The value of VaR at the end of the year was CZK 4 million. 
The average VaR in 2023 was CZK 10 million. These calculations do not include the risk arising from energy 
supply activities to end customers (see description below).  
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Supply of energy to end customers 

As part of its activities, the Group provides natural gas and electricity supply services to end customers. For the 
purposes of managing the risks arising from this activity, the Group has a long-term commodity purchasing 
strategy based on which the Group makes purchases in the form of forwards and futures on wholesale markets. 
An important part of this strategy is the regular performance of predictions and analyses of end customer portfolio 

consumption. 

The Group's purchasing strategy reflects the structure of the customer portfolio: 

• for customers with open ended contracts with the possibility of changing the contractual price, the 
Group purchases continuously. For a given year, the Group purchases in a period of several years 
in advance up to the day before; 

• for customers with fixed price lists, the Group purchases the expected consumption of the 

commodity for the entire period of the price fixation, at or near the time when customer contracts 

are concluded; 

• for more dynamic acquisition price lists with flexible prices (i.e. the contract price may change), 
the Group purchases the expected consumption of the commodity for a period of several months 
in advance. 

Since January 2023, the Group has been applying hedge accounting for forward purchases of gas and electricity 
with physical delivery in 2024-2025, which are concluded for the purpose of hedging supplies to end customers 

and that meet the requirements for hedge accounting according to IFRS 9. The accounting effects of the 
application of hedge accounting are described in more detail in Note 18.  

Oil and gas production 

Changes in commodity prices represent significant risk for MND Group. In 2023, lower oil prices of  USD 1 per 

barrel would cause a decrease in profit before tax of approximately CZK 11 million without hedging. In 2023, the 
impact of the appreciation of CZK against the US dollar by CZK 1 would result in a decrease in profit before tax 
by CZK 38 million without hedging. In contrast, oil prices growth and the depreciation of CZK against the US 

dollar would have a positive impact on the operating result in the same amount. In 2023, lower prices of natural 
gas from own production by EUR 1/MWh would cause a decrease in profit before tax of approximately CZK 31 
million without hedging. In 2023, the impact of the appreciation of the CZK against EUR by CZK 1 would result 
in a decrease in profit before tax by CZK 92 million without hedging. In contrast, natural gas price growth and a 
decrease in the value of CZK against EUR would have a positive impact on the operating profit in the same 
amount. 

Currency risk analysis 

As at 31 December 2023, and 2022, the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk when financial assets and 

liabilities are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency in which they are measured. Foreign 
currency denominated intercompany receivables and payables are included in sensitivity analysis for foreign 
exchange risk. These balances are eliminated in consolidated balance sheet but their effect on profit or loss of 
their currency revaluation is not fully eliminated. Therefore, the total amounts of exposure to foreign exchange 
risk do not equal to respective items reported on consolidated statement of financial position.  

 

 

 

 

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 



MND a.s. 
Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (in millions of Czech crowns) 

Page 89 

 

Financial assets and liabilities denominated in a currency different from the functional currency in which they are 
measured are presented in the table below: 

At 31 December 2023 EUR USD CZK Other Total 

Non-current receivables – financial 299 -- -- -- 299 

Non-current receivables from derivative instruments 432 2 -- -- 434 

Non-current financial assets -- -- -- -- -- 

Other current financial assets 1 487 -- -- -- 1 487 

Current receivables - financial 1 091 7 -- -- 1 098 

Current receivables from derivative instruments 875 22 -- -- 897 

Cash and cash equivalents 438 3 -- 1 442 

Total assets 4 622 34 -- 1 4 657 

Non-current loans and interest-bearing borrowings  -262 -- -- -- -262 

Non-current liabilities from derivative instruments -331 -- -- -- -331 

Other non-current liabilities -- -- -- -- -- 

Current loans and interest-bearing borrowings *) -152 -- -- -- -152 

Current payables - financial -1 007 -9 -2 -2 -1 020 

Current liabilities from derivative instruments -2 430 -- -- -- -2 430 

Total liabilities -4 182 -9 -2 -2 -4 195 

Total 440 25 -2 -1 462 

*) The item Current loans and interest-bearing borrowings (EUR) comprises current bank loan loans and 

borrowings of CZK 597 million for financing of gas inventories, that will be repaid from future cash flows in EUR 
from the sale of gas inventories. 

At 31 December 2022 EUR USD Other Total 

Non-current receivables – financial 270 -- -- 270 

Non-current receivables from derivative instruments 520 -- -- 520 

Non-current financial assets -- -- -- -- 

Other current financial assets 2 683 -- -- 2 683 

Current receivables - financial 2 861 1 -- 2 862 

Current receivables from derivative instruments 4 500 -- -- 4 500 

Cash and cash equivalents 184 2 1 187 

Total assets 11 018 3 1 11 022 

Non-current loans and interest-bearing borrowings  -110 -- -- -110 

Non-current liabilities from derivative instruments -1 088 -- -- -1 088 

Other non-current liabilities -1 -- -- -1 

Current loans and interest-bearing borrowings *) -2 472 -- -- -2 472 

Current payables - financial -664 -9 -- -673 

Current liabilities from derivative instruments -5 036 -- -- -5 036 

Total liabilities -9 371 -9 -- -9 380 

Total 1 647 -6 1 1 642 

*) The item Current loans and interest-bearing borrowings (EUR) comprises current bank loan loans and 

borrowings of CZK 2 412 million for financing of gas inventories, that will be repaid from future cash flows in EUR 
from the sale of gas inventories.  
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Currency risk sensitivity analysis 

As at 31 December 2023, the potential appreciation (depreciation) of EUR or USD against CZK could impact the 
measurement of financial instruments denominated in the foreign currency and gas inventories denominated in 
EUR and impact profit or loss by an amount disclosed in the following table. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables remain constant. 

Effect recognised in CZK million 

Profit or loss 
10% appreciation 

+ profit/ - loss 
10% appreciation 

+ profit/ - loss 

2023   
EUR  104 -104 

USD  3 -3 

 

Effect recognised in CZK million 

Profit or loss 
10% appreciation 

+ profit/ - loss 
10% appreciation 

+ profit/ - loss 

2022   
EUR  379 -379 

USD  -1 1 

iii. Interest rate risk 

The Group is exposed to the risk of interest rate fluctuations primarily as a result of bank loans with floating 
interest rate. The Group continuously monitors the development in financial markets and based on the current 

situation decides whether loans will be drawn with either floating or fixed interest rate. The risk of increase in 
interest rates is monitored on an ongoing basis and if necessary, the application of standard tools for risk 
elimination (interest rate swap) is considered. 

Non-current bonds of MND a.s. and non-current loans of MND Drilling & Services a.s. were issued and concluded 
with a floating interest rate, but the interest rate risk of these loans and bonds was hedged by interest rate 
swaps. 

Interest rate swaps are concluded with the hedge ratio set at 1:1 so that all derivative conditions correspond with 
the hedged risk of cash flow changes due to floating interest rates. Potential hedge ineffectiveness can also be 
caused only by swap illiquidity or the counterparty’s credit risk.  

The Group conducted an interest rate risk sensitivity analysis using a standardised interest rate shock, which 

means that an immediate increase/decrease in interest rates of 1 percentage point (ceteris paribus) is applied to 
the portfolio's interest rate positions. A rate increase of 1 percentage point would mean a decrease in profit by 

EUR 1 million. CZK (2022: CZK 0 million) and a rate cut of 1 percentage point would mean an increase in profit 
by CZK 1 million. CZK (2022: CZK 0 million) in the period of the next twelve months. 

(d) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk represents the possibility that the Group might not be able to fulfil its payment obligations primarily 

relating to amounts payable to the providers of bank loans and borrowings. 

The Group monitors the risk of having insufficient funds on an ongoing basis by managing liquidity and monitoring 
the maturity of debts and investments, other assets and the expected cash flows from its operations. 

The Group holds sufficient disposable liquid resources, i.e., cash, cash equivalents and current financial assets in 
currencies in which future cash needs are expected. To maintain liquidity, the Group uses bank loans and 
borrowings. 

The Group uses proprietary IT tools for liquidity management, valuation of financial instruments and for trading 
and risk management purposes. 
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The following table shows the Group’s financial assets and liabilities by maturity: 

At 31 December 2023 
Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

1 year or 
less 

1-5 years 
More than 5 

years 

Undefined 
maturity/on 

demand 

Assets       

Non-current receivables - financial 46 47 -- 43 -- 4 

Non-current receivables from 
derivative instruments 

308 335 -- 330 5 -- 

Non-current financial assets 434 679 -- 679 -- -- 

Other current financial assets 4 262 4 262 4 262 -- -- -- 

Current receivables - financial 2 372 2 372 2 372 -- -- -- 

Current receivables from derivative 
instruments 

897 1 771 1 771 -- -- -- 

Total 8 319 9 466 8 405 1 052 5 4 

       

Cash and cash equivalents 1 702 1 702 -- -- -- 1 702 

       

Liabilities       

Non-current loans and interest-
bearing borrowings  

-2 607 -2 874 -238 -2 531 -105 -- 

Non-current lease liabilities -292 -398 -- -178 -220 -- 

Non-current liabilities - financial -61 -61 -- -61 -- -- 

Non-current liabilities from 
derivative instruments 

-331 -695 -- -695 -- -- 

Current lease liabilities -44 -67 -67 -- -- -- 

Current liabilities - financial -1 908 -1 908 -1 908 -- -- -- 

Current liabilities from derivative 
instruments 

-2 430 -4 801 -4 801 -- -- -- 

Total -7 673 -10 804 -7 014 -3 465 -325 -- 

Net balance – liquidity risk 
(financial assets & liabilities) 

2 348 364 1 391 -2 413 -320 1 706 

Non-bank guarantees issued -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Net balance – liquidity risk 
(including off-balance sheet) 

2 348 364 1 391 -2 413 -320 1 706 

The following table shows the detailed breakdown of the maturity of derivative instruments up to 1 year as at 31 

December 2023: 

Due < 3 months 3 – 6 months 6 – 9 months  9 – 12 months Total 

Receivables from derivative 
instruments 

     1 148          206          206                211        1 771 

Liabilities arising from derivative 
instruments 

-1 798     -998     -1 077     -928     -4 801     

Net cash flow from derivative 
instruments 

-650     -792     -871     -717     -3 030     
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The following table shows the detailed breakdown of the maturity of derivative instruments up to 1 year as at 31 
December 2022: 

Due < 3 months 3 – 6 months 6 – 9 months  9 – 12 months Total 

Receivables from derivative 
instruments 

4 598  884  867  1 677  8 026  

Liabilities arising from 
derivative instruments 

-5 606  -1 503  -1 424  -3 119  -11 652  

Net cash flow from 
derivative instruments 

-1 008  -619  -557  -1 442  -3 626  

 

At 31 December 2022 
Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

1 year or 
less 

1-5 years 
More than 5 

years 

Undefined 
maturity/on 

demand 

Assets       

Non-current receivables - financial 279 387 -- 17 370 -- 

Non-current receivables from 
derivative instruments 

603 982 -- 982 -- -- 

Non-current financial assets 41 48 -- 47 -- 1 

Other current financial assets 4 321 4 321 4 321 -- -- -- 

Current receivables - financial 3 835 3 835 3 835 -- -- -- 

Current receivables from 
derivative instruments 

4 687 8 025 8 025 -- -- -- 

Total 13 766 17 598 16 181 1 046 370 1 

       

Cash and cash equivalents 1 871 1 871 -- -- -- 1 871 

       

Liabilities       

Non-current loans and interest-
bearing borrowings  

-4 773 -5 131 -2 570 -2 472 -89 -- 

Non-current lease liabilities -281 -372 -- -179 -193 -- 

Non-current liabilities - financial -94 -94 -- -94 -- -- 

Non-current liabilities from 
derivative instruments 

-1 089 -2 555 -- -2 555 -- -- 

Current lease liabilities -36 -55 -55 -- -- -- 

Current liabilities - financial -2 909 -2 909 -2 909 -- -- -- 

Current liabilities from derivative 
instruments 

-5 098 -11 651 -11 651 -- -- -- 

Total -14 280 -22 767 -17 185 -5 300 -282 -- 

Net balance – liquidity risk 
(financial assets & liabilities) 

1 357 -3 298 -1 004 -4 254 88 1 872 

Non-bank guarantees issued -118 -118 -- -- -- -118 

Net balance – liquidity risk 
(including off-balance sheet) 

1 239 -3 416 -1 004 -4 254 88 1 754 
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(e) Capital management 

The Group’s aim is to keep a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence and sustain 
future development of own business.  

Group companies are responsible for managing its capital structures and flexible in responding to potential 

condition changes in financial markets. With the aim to maintain and protect the strong capital basis, group 
companies may adjust dividend amount or other shareholders’ contributions. The Group aims to maintain an 
optimal ratio of net debt (loans and bonds, less current loans for the financing of gas inventory and cash and 
cash equivalents) to equity and the level of assets and liabilities utilising the high rating of the Group to obtain 
low-cost external funds. 

  31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Bank loans and bonds issued 2 607 4 773 

Less: current debts for the financing of gas inventory -- -2 412 

Less: cash and cash equivalents  -5 964 -1 871 

Net debt (+) / surplus (-) -3 357 490 

Total equity 9 206 9 373 

Net debt to equity ratio -0.365 0.052 

(f) Fair value 

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities, including their 
levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial 
liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of the fair value:  

 

 Carrying amount at 31/12/2023 Fair value at 31/12/2023 

  Trading derivatives 
Hedging 

derivatives 
Level 1  Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets measured at fair value     

Commodity forwards 925 -- -- 925 -- 

Commodity swap -- 22 -- 22 -- 

Commodity futures 122 -- -- 122 -- 

Currency forward 69 3 -- 72 -- 

Interest rate swap 188 2 -- 190 -- 

Financial assets measured at fair value     

Commodity forwards -1 242 -1 243 -- -2 485 -- 

Commodity futures -256 -- -- -256 -- 

Currency forward -20 -- -- -20 -- 
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  Carrying amount at 31/12/2022 Fair value at 31/12/2022 

  Trading derivatives 
Hedging 

derivatives 
Level 1  Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets measured at fair value     

Commodity forwards 4 100 -- -- 4 100 -- 

Commodity futures 784 -- -- 784 -- 

Currency forward 63 -- -- 63 -- 

Interest rate swap 338 5 -- 343 -- 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value     

Currency swap -16 -- -- -16 -- 

Commodity forwards -6 031 -- -- -6 031 -- 

Commodity futures -3 -- -- -3 -- 

Currency forward -136 -- -- -136 -- 

 

Inventory of gas for trading is measured at fair value with carrying amount of CZK 597 million under Level 2. 

The fair values of financial derivatives fulfil the criteria of level 2 in compliance with the IFRS 13 hierarchy (the 
fair values are derived from market quotations of forward exchange rates, commodity prices and yield curves, 
however the financial derivatives are not directly traded in active financial markets). 

In 2023 and 2022, there were not transfers between individual levels of the fair value hierarchy. 

31. Items not recognised in the statement of financial position 

The Group records issued non-bank guarantees for the liabilities of related companies in the amount of CZK 242 
million (2022: CZK 544 million). Out of that CZK 121 million (2022: CZK 118 million) was issued in favour of the 
State of Hessen in Germany in connection with provision of natural gas storage services by MND Energy Storage 
Germany GmbH in Germany. This liability is fully offset by a financial guarantee issued by MND Group AG in 
favour of the Group. 

The Group records the bank guarantees received in the amount of CZK 1 million (2022: CZK 18 million) for 
liabilities of the Group's customers. 

32. Material subsequent events 

Following the resolution of the general meeting of Moravia Gas Storage a.s. to increase its share capital, MND 
a.s. subscribed for new shares with a total nominal value of CZK 36 million. As a result of the subscription, MND 

a.s. increased its share on the registered capital and voting rights from 50% to 97.37% resulting in obtaining 
control over Moravia Gas Storage a.s. The completion of the transaction was subject to regulatory approvals and 
other legal factors. The transaction was completed on 9 February 2024 and from that date, Moravia Gas Storage 
a.s. is fully consolidated. 

The acquisition accounting is ongoing. The purchase price allocation and the fair value measurement of assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed were not completed before these financial statements were authorised for issue. 

There were no events subsequent to year end that would have a significant impact on consolidated financial 

statements as at 31 December 2023. 

Date:  

24 May 2024 

Signature of the statutory body: 
 

 

 

 Miroslav Jestřabík Jiří Ječmen 

  Member of the Board of Directors  Member of the Board of Directors 
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IV. Separate financial statements of MND as at 31 December 2023 

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Note 

The financial statements have been prepared in the Czech language and in English. In all matters of interpretation of 
information, views or opinions, the Czech version of the financial statements takes precedence over the English version.
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Separate statement of financial position Note 31/12/2023 31/12/2022  

 
   

Assets    

    

Land  228 207 

Buildings and structures  744 756 

Oil and gas wells  1 375 1 397 

Machinery and equipment  410 414 

Other tangible fixed assets and assets under 
construction 

 304 152 

Property, plant and equipment 4 3 061 2 926 
    

Intangible assets 5 26 21 
    

Investments in subsidiaries 6 4 518 4 012 

Investments in joint ventures and associates 6 451 415 

Non-current trade and other receivables 8 329 277 

Non-current receivables from derivative financial 
instruments 

16 716 718 

Other non-current investments 7 46 41 

Non-current financial assets  6 060 5 463 

    

Deferred tax asset 25 117 181 
    

Total non-current assets  9 264 8 591 

    

Inventories 10 848 2 271 

Current trade and other receivables 8 2 525 3 605 

Income tax receivables  299 - 

Current receivables from derivative financial 
instruments 

16 1 935 4 498 

Other current financial assets 9 1 506 2 683 

Cash and cash equivalents 11 666 1 068 

Total current assets  7 779 14 125 

    

Total assets  17 043 22 716 

 
 

The notes form an integral part of these separate financial statements. 
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Separate statement of financial position 
(continued) 

Note 31/12/2023 31/12/2022  

    

Liabilities and equity    

    

Equity    

Share capital 12 1 000 1 000 

Capital contributions and other reserves  1 440 1 420 

Retained earnings and profit/loss for the current period  5 792 5 144 

Equity attributable to the shareholder of the Company  8 232 7 564 

    

Total equity  8 232 7 564 

    

Liabilities    

Loans and bonds issued - non-current portion 13 2 193 2 188 

Non-current lease liabilities 14 304 291 

Non-current trade and other payables 15 122 99 

Non-current liabilities from derivative financial 
instruments 

16 271 1 118 

Non-current provisions 17 1 702 1 495 

Total non-current liabilities  4 592 5 191 

    

Loans and bonds issued - current portion 13 2 2 414 

Current lease liabilities 14 38 31 

Current trade and other payables 15 1 551 2 090 

Income tax liabilities  -- 80 

Current liabilities from derivative financial instruments 16 2 540 5 257 

Current provisions 17 88 89 

Total current liabilities  4 219 9 961 

    

Total liabilities  8 811 15 152 

    

Total equity and liabilities  17 043 22 716 

 

 
 

The notes form an integral part of these separate financial statements. 
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Separate statement of comprehensive income Note 2023 2022  

Revenue 18 54 376 216 964 

Other operating income 19 671 1 178 

Total income  55 047 218 142 
    

Materials and goods used  20 -51 606 -214 623 

Services used 20 -885 -491 

Personnel expenses 21 -426 -409 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  22 -512 -587 

Other operating expenses 23 -463 -433 

Result from operating activities  1 155 1 599 

    

Interest income 24 88 35 

Other finance income 24 98 772 

Finance costs 24 -442 -286 

Result from financing activities   -256 521 

    

Profit or loss before tax   899 2 120 

    

Income tax expense 25 -251 -338 
    

Profit or loss for the year  648 1 782 

    
    

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss:    

Change in fair value of hedging instruments, net of 
tax 

 
20 -- 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments 
reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax 

 
-- 76 

    

Other comprehensive income/loss for the year  
(net of tax) 

26 20 76 

    

Total comprehensive income/loss for the year  668 1 858 

    

 

Separate statement of comprehensive income Note 2023 
 

2022 
 

    

Basic earnings / loss (-) per share (in thousands of 
Czech crowns) 12 

12.96 35.64 

Diluted earnings / loss (-) per share (in thousands of 
Czech crowns)  

12.96 35.64 

    

 

The notes form an integral part of these separate financial statements.
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Separate statement of changes in equity 

2023 Share capital 
Other 

contributions 
and reserves 

Hedging reserve Retained earnings 
Profit (+)/Loss 
(-) for the year 

Total equity 

Balance at 1 January 2023 1 000 1 420 --  3 362 1 782 7 564 

Profit or loss for 2023 -- --  -- -- 648 648 

Other comprehensive income/loss -- -- 20 -- -- 20 

Total comprehensive income/loss -- -- 20 -- 648 668 

Transactions with owners of the Company, 
reported directly in equity: 

      

Reallocation of profit for 2022 -- -- -- 1 782 -1 782 -- 

Total transactions with owners of the 
Company, reported directly in equity 

-- -- -- -- -- -- 

Balance at 31 December 2023 1 000 1 420 20 5 144 648 8 232 

 
 

2022 Share capital 

Other 

contributions and 
reserves 

Hedging reserve Retained earnings 
Profit (+)/Loss (-) 

for the year 
Total equity 

Balance at 1 January 2022 1 000  1 420 -76 3 645 -283 5 706 

Profit or loss for 2022 -- -- -- -- 1 782  1 782 

Other comprehensive income/loss -- -- 76 -- -- 76 

Total comprehensive income/loss -- -- 76 -- 1 782 1 858 

Transactions with owners of the Company, 
reported directly in equity: 

      

Reallocation of profit for 2021 -- -- -- -283 283 -- 

Total transactions with owners of the 
Company, reported directly in equity 

-- -- -- -283 283 -- 

Balance at 31 December 2022 1 000  1 420 -- 3 362 1 782 7 564 

 
The notes form an integral part of these separate financial statements. 
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The notes form an integral part of these separate financial statements.  

Separate statement of cash flows  Note 2023 2022  

Operating activities      

Net profit (+) / loss (-) for the year  648 1 782 

Adjustments for:    

Interest expense (net of interest income) 24 97 209 

Tax expense (+) / income (-) 25 251 338 

Effect of currency translation (gains - / losses +) 24 22 25 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 22 467 556 

Amortisation of intangible assets 22 5 4 

Depreciation of right of use 22 50 68 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 22 -10 -41 

Income from dividends and current financial assets 24 -98 -386 

Non-cash changes of financial derivatives  -976 -4 383 

Non-cash changes of inventories  3 -1 

Gain (-) / loss (+) on sale of non-current assets 19 -2 -1 

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in 
working capital and provisions 

 457 -1 830 
    

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in provisions   -68 -31 

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories  1 421 2 311 

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in receivables   707 2 577 

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in current liabilities  -268 -465 

Cash flows from operating activities  2 249 2 562 
    

Interest paid  -118 -215 

Income tax paid  -572 -193 

Net cash flows generated from operating activities  1 559 2 154 

    

Investing activities    

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 19 2 5 

Profit shares received (dividends) and payments from Other 
capital funds received 

24,6 -- 469 

Income from current financial assets 24 98 29 

Interest received 24 88 35 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets 

4,5 -346 -415 

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, net of cash 
acquired 

 -542 -41 

Decrease (+) / Increase (-) in current financial assets, net  1 173 -2 312 

Cash flows from investing activities  473 -2 230 

Financial activities    

Drawing of loans and borrowings 13 1 209 18 749 

Repayment of loans and borrowings 13 -3 606 -18 721 

Payments of lease liabilities 14 -37 -31 

Cash flows from financing activities  -2 434 -3 
    

Net decrease (-) / increase (+) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 -402 -79 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 11 1 068 1 147 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 11 666 1 068 
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1. General information about the Group 

 

1.1. Description 

 

MND a.s. (“the Company”) was established by its sole founder on 30 September 2008 under the original corporate 
name ORTOKLAS a.s. The Company was incorporated on 3 November 2008 and is recorded in the Commercial 
Register maintained by the Regional Court in Brno under file number B 6209. The Company’s registered office is 
at Úprkova 807/6, Hodonín, post code 695 01, identification number 284 83 006. 

 

1.2. Current economic situation 

 
At the end of February 2022, ongoing political tensions between Russia and Ukraine escalated into conflict with 
Russia's military invasion of Ukraine. The global response to Russia's violation of international law and aggression 

against Ukraine has been the imposition of extensive sanctions and restrictions on business activities in Russia 
and business trade with Russia and Russian companies. Uncertainty about future developments resulted in 
increased volatility in financial and commodity markets and other negative consequences for the economy. The 
Company took steps to mitigate the impact of the situation on its activities, in particular by temporarily halting 

commodity trading, reducing the size of leased natural gas storage facilities and suspending the acquisition of 
new customers in the sale of gas and electricity. In the second half of 2022, the Company gradually resumed 
commodity trading and by the end of the year also resumed the acquisition of new customers. As at 31 December 
2023, the Company had a financial investment in its subsidiary MND Ukraine a.s. with a book value of CZK 455 
million, a long-term loan provided to Oriv Windpark LLC with a book value of CZK 284 million and a trade 
receivable from Horyzonty LLC in the amount of CZK 4 million. 

 

1.3. Principal activities 

 

The principal business activities of the MND Group are: 

• trading in energy commodities; 
• exploration and production of oil and natural gas; 
• investment in renewable energy sources and the development of new technologies. 

 

1.4. Statutory body and supervisory board 

 
The board of directors as at 31 December 2023: 
Chairman of the board of directors:   Mr. Karel Komárek 

Member of the board of directors:   Mr. Jiří Ječmen 
Member of the board of directors:   Mr. Miroslav Jestřabík 
 
Supervisory board as at 31 December 2023: 
Chairman of the supervisory board:   Mr. Robert Kolář 
Member of the supervisory board:   Mr. Pavel Šaroch 

Member of the supervisory board:   Mr. Josef Novotný 

 

 

1.5. Sole shareholder of the Company as at 31 December 2023 
 

MND Group AG     100 % 
Registered office:    Kapellgasse 21, 6004 Lucerne, Switzerland 

The Company together with its parent company MND Group AG are part of the consolidation unit of KKCG AG 
based in Switzerland. The ultimate owner is VALEA FOUNDATION registered in Liechtenstein, whose designated 

beneficiary is Mr. Karel Komárek. 
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2. Basis of preparation 

 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS“) as adopted by the European Union.  

(b) Basis of measurement 

The separate financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, using the historical cost 
method, unless otherwise stated in the accounting policies. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of the Company is the Czech crown (CZK). 

These financial statements are presented in Czech crowns (CZK). All financial information reported in the 
financial statements is rounded to the nearest millions (MCZK, CZK million), except when otherwise 
indicated. 

(d) Use of significant accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of accounting estimates 
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. It also requires the Company 
management to make assumptions based on its own judgement in applying accounting policies. 
Consequently, the actual results often differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions of accounting 

estimates are reported in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision impacts only this period, 
or in the revision period and future periods, if the revision impacts the current and future periods. 

Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the separate financial 
statements and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year include: 

• Impairments. Impairment calculations require the use of various estimates and assumptions depending 
on the business activity of the Company. The most significant estimates influencing the impairment 

models are commodity prices, oil and gas reserves, future production profiles, gross margins, operating 
expenses and discount rates. (Notes 4 and 5; accounting policy 3f); 

• Provision for decommissioning, renewals and restorations. The Company establishes a provision for the 
renewal and restoration of areas affected by oil and gas extraction and provision for decommissioning 
of assets. Most of these activities will be performed in the distant future whereas decommissioning 
technologies, costs and environmental and safety regulations are constantly changing. The most 
significant estimates entering the provision calculation model are stated above. The Company also 

includes costs and timing of the decommissioning activities, expected inflation and discount rates. Note 
17; accounting policy 3(j). 

(e) Determination of fair value (Note 28) 

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for 
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.  

Fair value is defined as a price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid for assuming a 

liability in an arm’s length transaction between market participants at the measurement date irrespective 
of whether the price is directly observable or determined using an estimate carried out based on valuation 
methods. Fair values are determined based on quoted market prices, discounted cash flows or by means 
of valuation methods. 

Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following 
methods. Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is 

disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 
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Fair value hierarchy 

The Company applies the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments by valuation method: 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
• Level 2: other input-based methods that have a significant impact on the reported fair value and that 

are observable either directly or indirectly 
• Level 3: input-based methods that have a significant impact on the reported fair value and that are not 

based on observable market data 

Potential transfers between individual levels are described in Note 289 Risk management, in part (f). 

(f) New standards effective from 1 January 2023 

The preparation of these financial statements involved the use of the following new or amended standards 

and interpretations, whose initial application is required for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2023. 

Amendment to IAS 1: Preparation and disclosure of financial statements: Disclosure of 
accounting policies 

The Company applied the amendments to IAS 1 for the first time in the current accounting period. The 
amendments change the requirements regarding the disclosure of accounting rules. The amendments 
replace all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material accounting policy 
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other information 
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the 
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. 

Following standards and amendments did not have any material impact on the Company’s separate 
financial statements. 

• Amendments to IAS 8: Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: 
Definition of Accounting Estimates 

• Amendments to IFRS 17: Insurance contracts- Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – 

Comparative Information 

• Amendments to IAS 12: Income Taxes- Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from 
a Single Transaction 

• Amendments to IAS 12: Income taxes - International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules 

(g) Standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the EUbut not effective 

The following new Standards, Amendments and Interpretations have been approved by the EU, but were 
not effective for the period ending 31 December 2023 and were not applied in the preparation of these 

separate financial statements. 

Effective date 1 January 2024 or later: 

• Amendments to IFRS 16: Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 
• Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 

• Amendments to IAS 1: Non-current liabilities with Covenants 

(h) Standards, interpretations and amendments issued before 31 December 2023 but 

not yet adopted by the EU 

The following new standards, supplements and interpretations have been issued but not yet approved by 
the EU and have not been applied in the preparation of these separate financial statements. 

Effective date January 1, 2024 and later: 

• Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture (effective date not specified) 

• Amendments to IAS 7: Supplier Finance Arrangements (IASB effective from 1 January 2024) 
• Amendments to IAS 21: Lack of Exchangeability (IASB effective 1 January 2025) 

The Company does not expect that the adoption of the above amendments to the existing standards will 
have a material impact on the Company's separate financial statements in future financial years. 
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3. Significant accounting policies 

 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Company to all periods presented in 

these financial statements, unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Company at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 
the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value at the date of 

acquisition are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value 
was determined. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss, except 
for financial instruments to hedge cash flows, which are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

(b) Property, plant and equipment 

i. Owned assets 

Property, plant and equipment consists of buildings and structures, oil and gas wells, production machinery, 
machinery and equipment, information technology, motor vehicles, fixtures and fittings and other property, 
plant and equipment. Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses (see accounting policy 3(f) ii). 

The cost of self-constructed property, plant and equipment (including oil and gas wells) comprises the 
consumption of materials, wages and a portion of overhead costs directly associated with the production. 
Cost also includes an estimate of costs of dismantling and removing the items, as well as costs of land 

restoration. 

The acquisition cost does not include administrative or other overhead costs or an initial operating loss. 

Research and development expenditure is not capitalised. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the relevant asset are capitalised until the acquisition is completed.  

ii. Exploration costs 

Costs incurred in the search and exploration for new oil and/or gas deposits including costs of wells are 
charged directly to expenses as incurred, with the exception of costs associated with successful exploratory 

wells (“the successful effort method“). Costs associated with successful exploratory wells are capitalised as 
property, plant and equipment if they are expected to provide future economic benefits and if they relate 
to wells under construction or wells that have not yet been assessed, no later than the end of the reporting 
period on condition that we do not have information that the well is unsuccessful. In case a capitalised well 
is subsequently assessed as unsuccessful, the capitalised expenditures are written off to expenses. The 
capitalised costs are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period (see accounting policy 

3(f) ii). Once the wells start to be used for commercial purposes, depreciation of these capitalised costs 
over the estimated life of the wells is commenced.  

iii. Right of use of leased assets 

Contract is or contains a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
the time in exchange for consideration. For such contracts a lessee recognizes a right of use asset and a 
lease liability. The right of use of asset is depreciated and the liability accrues interest. 

Right of use of asset is initially measured in the amount of recognized lease liability, plus advance payments 

or related accrued payments, less rent concessions. Further, the initial measurement of right of use should 
be increased by the following items, when significant:  

• initial direct lease costs paid by the lessee, and  

• provision for estimated costs of dismantling and removal of the identified asset or restoration of 
the site where the asset was installed. 

Right of use asset and leasing liability are not recognized for short-term leases (when the lease maturity 
is 12 months or less) and for low value leased asset (the value below CZK 120 000 or EUR 4 500). 

Payments of these leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as an expense over 
the term of the lease. 
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iv. Subsequent costs 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated 
with the expenditure will flow to the Company, and the expenditure can be measured reliably. All other 
expenses, including the costs of regular servicing of property, plant and equipment, are recognised directly 
in profit or loss. 

v. Depreciation expense 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis. Land is not depreciated. Right of 
use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term, unless the 
title to the asset transfers at the end of the lease term, in which case depreciation is over the useful life. 

The estimated useful lives for the individual categories of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

Buildings and halls 20 - 50 years 

Structures 20 - 30 years 

Oil and gas wells expected production period 

Machinery and equipment 3 - 15 years 

Information technology 3 - 6 years 

Motor vehicles 4 - 10 years 

Inventory 3 - 14 years 

Other property, plant and equipment 4 - 12 years 

 

The oil and gas wells and related property are being depreciated for its estimated production life which 
ranges from 3 to 25 years and is based on expected length of production of hydrocarbons. 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted 

if appropriate. 

 

(c) Intangible assets 

i. Software and other intangible assets 

Software and other intangible assets that are acquired by the Company and have finite (definite) useful 
lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. 

ii. Subsequent costs 

Subsequent expenditure in respect of intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future 
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in 

profit or loss as incurred. 

iii. Amortisation expense 

Apart from goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, intangible assets are amortised 
on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over their estimated useful lives, from the date they are available 
for use.  
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The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

Software 3 - 6 years 

Licences 2 - 6 years 

Other intangible assets 3 - 6 years 

 

iv. Research 

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical 
knowledge, is recognised in profit or loss in the period when they were incurred. 

 

(d) Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 

Subsidiaries are entities in which the Company controls financial and operational procedures. The Company 
is deemed to control subsidiaries following the satisfaction of requirements set by IFRS 10 - Consolidated 
Financial Statements. Among other things, these include the situation when the Company holds more than 
50% of voting rights in another entity and other matters that would deny the control do not form an 

obstacle. 

Joint ventures are entities over whose activities the Company exercises joint control, which arose from a 
contractual agreement and requires unanimous consent in case of strategic financial and operational 
decisions.  

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are recognised using the ‘deemed’ cost, which comprises 
the carrying amount based on Czech Accounting Standards as at the date of first adoption of IFRS, i.e. 
1 January 2017 (the Company used the equity method valuation based on Czech Accounting Standards) 

that is impacted by potential cash and non-cash contributions in the Company’s capital and distributions 
from the Company’s capital and in the following periods. Investments in new subsidiaries or joint 

ventures are measured at acquisition cost.  

(e) Financial instruments 

i. Financial assets at amortised cost 

Financial instruments held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows are measured at amortised cost. Contractual cash flows are solely payments 
of principal and interest. 

This category includes mainly (short-term and long-term) trade and other receivables, provided loans and 
borrowings, restricted cash and other short-term financial assets (e.g. receivables arising from cash 
pooling agreements). 

In compliance with IFRS 9, the Company calculates effective rate of return at initial recognition, reflecting 

the relation between actually invested funds and future investment income. The effective interest rate is 

used as a discount factor for calculating premium or discount that is subsequently amortised over the 
lifetime of the financial asset.  

At the same time, the Company tests the value of assets held in compliance with IFRS 9.  

Allowances for financial assets are recognised in the amount of the expected credit loss of the relevant 
financial asset. Expected losses are reported in the profit or loss from operating activities (Note 3f). 

Amortised cost is the amount at which a financial instrument was recognized at initial recognition less any 

principal repayments, plus accrued interest, and, for financial assets less any allowance for expected credit 
losses (“ECL”). Accrued interest includes amortisation of transaction costs deferred at initial recognition 
and of any premium or discount to the amount payable upon maturity using the effective interest method. 
Accrued interest income and accrued interest expense, including both accrued coupon and amortised 
discount or premium (including fees deferred at origination, if any), are not presented separately and are 
included in the carrying values of the related items in the separate statement of financial position. 
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Trade and other receivables, loans provided 

Trade and other receivables, loans provided are initially recognized on the date when they are originated 
and measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at amortised cost, less any impairment losses, if they are held to collect 
the cash flows and not expected to be sold.  

When applying amortised cost, any difference between the cost and the value upon redemption is 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income over the duration of the asset or liability, using the 
effective interest method. 

The Company derecognizes trade receivables, other receivables and loans provided when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the rights to receive the contractual 
cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the 

Company is recognized as a separate asset or liability. 

ii. Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI“) 

FVOCI is the classification of financial instruments for which dual business model applies, i.e. they are held 
for the purposes of both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. Contractual cash 
flows of instruments in this category are solely payments of principal and interest. 

At initial recognition, an entity may classify an equity instrument as measured at FVOCI based on an 

irrevocable election. This option may be applied only in respect of instruments that are not held for trading 
and do not constitute derivatives. 

Changes in the fair value of debt instruments measured at FVOCI are reported in other comprehensive 
income. Interest income, foreign exchange gains/losses and impairment losses are immediately reported 
in profit or loss. Changes in the fair value previously reported in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss at the moment the debt instrument is sold. 

Gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income for capital instruments are never reclassified 

from equity to profit or loss. 

iii. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL“) 

A financial instrument is classified as measured at FVTPL if it is held for trading or within a business model 
whose objective is to manage a financial asset on the basis of fair value, i.e. it will be realised through 
sale, in contrast to the objective of holding this asset to obtain contractual cash flows. This category 
presents the “initial” or “residual” category, unless the requirements for classifying a financial asset as a 
financial asset at amortised cost or a financial asset at FVOCI are met. At initial recognition, the related 

transaction costs are reported in profit or loss at the moment they are incurred. Financial instruments at 
FVTPL are measured at fair value and their changes are reported in the profit or loss from financing 
activities. 

iv. Financial derivatives and hedging instruments 

The Company holds derivative financial instruments for trading in electricity, gas and emission allowances, 
and to hedge its currency, interest rate and commodity risk exposures arising from its operating, financial 

and investment activities. Derivatives that are not classified as hedging derivatives, are recognised as 
derivatives held-for-trading. 

Derivative financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as 
described below. 

Cash flow hedges 

All derivative transactions designated as hedging instruments are documented and the effectiveness of 

individual hedge relationships is evaluated on continuous basis. The Company decided to apply hedge 
accounting in accordance with IAS 39 after the application of IFRS 9 and so therefore maintains 
documentation of the hedge relationship between the hedged item and the hedging derivative in line with 
IAS 39. 
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The Company applies hedge accounting if: 

• the hedge is in line with the Company’s risk management strategy, 

• the hedge relationship is formally documented at the inception of the hedge, 

• the hedge relationship is expected to be effective throughout its duration, 

• the effectiveness of the hedge relationship can be objectively measured, 

• the hedge relationship is effective throughout the accounting period, i.e. changes in the fair value 
or cash flows of the hedging instruments attributable to the hedged risk are within a range of 
80 - 125% of the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged instruments attributable to 
the hedged risk, and 

• for cash flow hedges, a forecast transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure to 
variations in cash flows that could affect profit or loss. 

 The hedging documentation contains information about the following: 

• hedging derivatives, 

• hedge effectiveness, and 

• hedged items and risks that are being hedged. 

Changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument or designated non-derivative financial 
liability designated as a cash flow hedge are recognized directly in the other comprehensive income to the 
extent that the hedge is effective. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, changes in fair value are 

recognized in profit or loss for the period.  

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated 
or exercised, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognized in equity as a “Hedging reserve” remains there until the forecast transaction occurs. If a hedge 
of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial 
liability, then the associated gains and losses that were recognised in other comprehensive income are 

included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the asset or liability. 

In other cases, the amount recognized in other comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss in 
the same period that the hedged item affects profit or loss. 

If cash flows relating to recognized foreign currency receivables are hedged by other hedging instruments 
(e.g. designating foreign currency payables as the hedging instruments), the accounting treatment is the 
same as the treatment for hedging with financial derivatives. 

The Company decided to apply cash flow hedge accounting to mitigate following risks: 

Interest rate risk 

The risk that is being hedged relates to change in future cash flows due to change in interest rates. The 
hedged items are future interest payments of long-term debts that are hedged by interest rate swaps (the 
hedging instruments). For cash flow hedges, a forecast transaction is highly probable and presents an 
exposure to variations in cash flows that could affect profit or loss.  

Foreign currency rates risk 

The risk that is being hedged relates to change in future cash flows due to change in foreign currency 

rates. The hedged items are future expected transactions that are hedged by hedging instruments (e.g. 
foreign currency payables/receivables designating as the hedging instruments). For cash flow hedges, 
a forecast transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure to variations in cash flows that could 
affect profit or loss. 

Commodity price risk 

The hedged items are cash flows from the sale of commodities that are hedged by commodity swaps (the 
hedging instruments). For cash flow hedges, a forecast transaction is highly probable and presents an 

exposure to variations in cash flows that could affect profit or loss. The risk that is being hedged relates 
to change in future cash flows due to change in prices of commodities sold. 

Trading derivatives 

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading derivatives. Changes in 
the fair value of trading derivatives are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 



MND a.s. 
Separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (in millions of Czech crowns) 

Page 110 

 

Commodity contracts 

Except for contracts for the purchase and sale of commodities concluded for the purpose of serving the 
Company's portfolio of end customers, the Company enters into commodity trading contracts for the 
purpose of generating a profit from short-term price fluctuations or traders' margin. The Company 
systematically settles similar contracts on a net basis. The net settlement is realised either through 

exchange-traded instruments or via bilateral agreements by entering into offsetting contracts or through 
the sale of a contract prior to settlement.  

These contracts typically require no initial net investment and are settled at future dates thereby meeting 
the definition of derivative contracts. Simultaneously, they can no longer qualify for exemption applied for 
physical purchase and sale of non-financial asset because they are exchange-traded or routinely net settled 
as described above. 

Forward contracts for the purchase and sale of gas and electricity, contracts for physical natural gas 

storage, contracts for gas flexibility service (virtual natural gas storage) and contracts for security of supply 
that can be settled net in cash or another financial instrument and which do not serve the purposes of the 

expected receipt or delivery of a commodity are considered financial instruments under IFRS 9 and they 
are measured at fair value through profit or loss and recognised as trading derivatives. Changes in their 
fair value are recognised in the profit or loss from operating activities. 

Delivery of the commodity under commodity contracts is recognised either in inventory, or in revenues 

and cost of sales at fair value of the commodity, when the commodity is delivered  

Changes in the fair value of commodity and currency derivative financial instruments are recognised in the 
profit or loss from operating activities; changes in the fair value of interest rate derivative instruments are 
reported in the profit or loss from financing activities. 

v. Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The Company has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: trade and other payables, interest-
bearing loans and borrowings, bonds issued and lease liabilities. These financial liabilities, other than 

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are recognised initially on the settlement date at fair 

value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, financial liabilities, are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

The Company derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expire. 

vi. Current and non-current loans  

Current and non-current loans are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost. A part of non-current loans due within one year of the end of the period are recognised as 
current loans. 

vii. Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and recognised in the balance sheet on a net basis if and 
only if the Company has a legally enforceable right for the offsetting and intends to settle them on the net 
basis. 

(f) Impairment  

i. Financial assets  

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces a model for impairment of financial assets and contract assets 
that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – so called 
“expected credit losses” or “ECL” model. 

The Company recognises an allowance based on expected credit losses for financial assets measured at 

amortised cost. 

Measurement of ECLs 

Simplified approach – Provisioning Matrix 

Provisioning Matrix approach can be used for financial assets, which do not contain significant financing 
component. The Company applies this model primarily to short-term trade receivables.  
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In the provisioning matrix approach, impairment is calculated using the historical loss rate and adjusted 
for forward looking information. The Company monitors macroeconomic development of GDP and Czech 
National Bank forecast. 

Significant receivables are assessed individually using expected discounted cash-flows method and an 
expert-based approach. 

Significant increase in credit risk is not assessed for trade receivables subject to provisioning matrix 
approach as they are always measured at Lifetime ECL.  

Standard ECL model – Stage model 

The Company assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the ECL for the exposures arising from loans and 
borrowings and from other financial assets.  

The measurement of ECL reflects:  

- an unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible 

outcomes,  
- time value of money and 
- all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost and effort at the end 

of each reporting period about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions. 

Long-term restricted cash, long-term trade and other receivables from government contracts, short-term 
financial assets, cash and cash equivalents and term deposits that are placed at strong and stable credit 

institutions that are meeting all requirements for capital and liquidity stipulated in Basel III are considered 
by the Company as assets with „low credit risk “. In these cases the Company applies the “low credit risk” 
exemption from standard ECL model and therefore do not assess a significant increase in credit risk for 
these assets. 

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default, if:  

• it is probable that the debtor will fail to pay its liabilities to the Company in full without the Company’s 
intervention in form of realising security (if it has any); or 

• the financial asset is more than 90 days past due. 

ii. Non-financial assets  

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed 
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell 

and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset.  

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or a group of assets (the “cash-
generating unit”, or “CGU”) exceeds its recoverable amount. The cash-generating unit is the smallest 
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent 

of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the CGUs, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU 
(or group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.  

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 
recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 

used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
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(g) Inventories 

Inventories required for providing operating services are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value.  

The cost of inventories comprises the purchase price and costs directly associated with the acquisition. 

Acquisition costs are reduced with rebates, trade discounts and other similar items. Interest on loans 
received to acquire inventories (borrowing costs) is not capitalised. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated 
costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

Inventories of gas in underground gas storages are measured at fair value less costs to sell. Changes in 
the fair value less cost to sell of these inventories are recognised in the profit or loss from operating 
activities as Gain/Loss from trading in commodity contracts. 

Work in progress and own products are measured at own cost, which also includes the appropriate part of 
production overheads determined based on normal operating capacity. Selling costs are not capitalised. 

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cash at the bank and short-term highly liquid 
investments (including fixed-term deposits) with original maturities of up to three months of the acquisition 
date. Bank overdraft accounts with a negative balance are not included in the statement of cash flows. 

(i) Equity 

Share capital 

The Company’s issued share capital has been paid up in full. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of new shares are recognised as a deduction from equity. 

(j) Provisions 

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position if, as a result of a past event, the Company 
has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

Provision for decommissioning, renewal and restoration  

The Company establishes a provision for renewal and restoration of land affected by production of oil and 
gas and also a provision for the decommissioning of assets. The amount of the provision is the best estimate 
of the expenditure needed to cover a liability at the end of the reporting period. The provision is adjusted 
to reflect the current estimate at the end of the period. The estimates of costs incurred on decommissioning 
of assets, renewal and restoration of land are based on current prices and the estimated inflation and are 
discounted using the market risk-free interest rate. 

Actual expenses incurred for decommissioning, renewal and restoration during the year may differ from 

the estimates as a result of changes in regulations and technologies, an increase in personnel expenses, 

an increase in prices of raw materials and equipment or in the time needed to complete decommissioning, 
renewal and restoration, or a change in the inflation rate or long-term real interest rates. 

The initial discounted expenses related to the decommissioning of property, plant and equipment are 
recognised as part of property, plant and equipment and depreciated over the estimated life of that asset. 

Year-on-year changes relating to a future liability in connection with the decommissioning of property, plant 
and equipment that arise due to the change in estimates of future cash flows necessary to settle this liability 

or as a result of a change in the estimated real interest rate, are reflected as an increase in or decrease of 
capitalised property, plant and equipment in compliance with IFRIC 1. 

The Company also establishes a provision for other liabilities with uncertain timing or value. 

(k) Revenue and other operating income 

i) Revenue (revenue from contracts with customers) 

The Company’s revenue includes in particular revenue from trading in gas and electricity, revenue from 
the sale of gas and electricity to end customers, revenue from the sale of produced oil and gas, revenue 
from the sale of goods, and revenue from the provision of services (see Note 18). 
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The revenue is recognised at the moment the control over goods or services supplied is transferred to the 
customer in the amount of anticipated consideration that the Company expects it should receive for the 
goods or services. The Company applies a five-step model defined in IFRS 15 to determine the amount, 
time and method of revenue recognition. The amount of consideration that the Company expects to be 
entitled to is the transaction price. In determining the transaction price, the following factors are 

considered: the estimate of the variable portion of consideration (provided discounts, compensations, 
bonuses, sanctions and other similar items), the time value of money in case the contract contains a 
significant financing component, the fair value of potential non-monetary consideration, a portion of value 
that the customer will not pay (e.g. discount vouchers). The method and moment of revenue recognition 
depends on the method of control transfer: satisfaction of obligation at a point in time is reported at the 
moment the control over goods or services is transferred, satisfaction of obligation over time is recognised 
over the period during which the entity satisfies performance obligation. The Company measures revenue 

from satisfaction of obligation over time using the input method, i.e. the revenue is reported based on 
expenses incurred on satisfying the obligation in relation to the total expected expenses, with the exception 
of revenue from the sale of gas and electricity to end customers that is measured using the output method, 

as described below. 

Contract costs 

The Company provides sales agents with commissions as remuneration for activities that lead to obtaining 

new customers for the sale of gas and electricity. The costs of acquiring a contract are recognised if an 
entitlement to the commission arises at the moment the contract with the customer is actually obtained 
and the commission would not be paid had the contract not been obtained. Capitalised contract costs are 
subsequently recognised in profit or loss over the term of the contract or over 5 years for contracts for an 
indefinite period. 

Sale of oil 

The Company sells produced and purchased oil to its customers based on annual or long-term contracts on 

oil supplies. Customers obtain control over the product at a place agreed for product delivery. The Company 
classifies revenue as satisfaction of obligation over time that is recognised for a calendar month depending 
on the actual volume of supplies. Contracts do not contain a financing component, because the invoices 

are payable within 30 days. 

Sale of electricity and gas to end customers 

The sale of gas and electricity to end customers is carried out based on contracts on combined gas or 
electricity supply services which include the supply of the commodity itself together with distribution 

services. Distribution services are provided to the Company by local distribution companies. The access to 
these services and their prices is regulated. The prices for distribution services form part of the price for 
combined services provided to the customers. The Company recognises the full amount of revenue for 
services, including the portion of distribution services, because it provides these services for itself (i.e. the 
Company is the principal). 

The services of gas and electricity supplies for corporate customers are usually invoiced once per month or 

quarter, based on the actual consumption ascertained at consumption reading. Customers pay advances 
at a fixed amount on a monthly basis. Uninvoiced supplies of gas and electricity are recognised as contract 
assets. Advances received are recognised as contract liabilities. 

When concluding a contract, the price for services can contain a variable consideration as a result of 
discounts provided to customers. Discounts are provided from list prices and the customers are charged 
with the prices less discounts. 

The Company classifies revenue as satisfaction of obligation over time. The Company recognises revenue 

using the output method based on the estimated energy supplies. Contracts do not contain a significant 
financing component because of the advances payment scheme and delivery performed within a short 
period of time. 

ii) Other revenue 

Revenue from trading in gas and electricity 

Trading in gas and electricity is carried out based on framework contracts concluded under the EFET 
standard with other gas and electricity traders. Customers obtain control over the commodity at a delivery 

point which usually means a virtual point of the given gas or electricity grid. The Company classifies revenue 
as satisfaction of obligation over time that is recognised for a calendar month depending on the actual 

volume of supplies. Contracts do not contain a financing component, because the invoices are issued within 
a short period of time after the commodity is delivered and the invoices are payable within 30 days. 
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Revenue from ordinary transactions is recognised using agreed selling prices. Revenue from derivative 
commodity contracts that are settled by physical delivery is recognised at fair value of the given commodity 
at the beginning of the period of physical delivery. 

iii) Other operating income 

Lease income 

Lease income from non-residential premises, office premises and moveable assets is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  

Grants 

A conditional government grant is recognised initially in the statement of financial position as deferred 
income when there is reasonable assurance that it will be received, and the Company will comply with the 
conditions associated with the grant. Grants that compensate the Company for expenses incurred are 
recognised as income in the period they were incurred. Grants that compensate for the expenses incurred 

in connection with the acquisition of a non-current asset, are recognised in other operating income in the 
statement of comprehensive income over the useful life of the asset. 

(l) Finance income and costs 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, gains on the disposal of financial assets, 
changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, unless these are commodity 

derivative financial instruments and derivatives held-for-trading arising from forward contracts for the 
purchase or sale of gas and electricity, foreign exchange gains, and gains from hedging instruments 
recognised in profit or loss.  

Finance costs comprise interest expense on loans and borrowings, unwinding of discount on provisions, 
foreign exchange losses, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
unless these are commodity derivative financial instruments and derivatives held-for-trading arising from 
forward contracts for the purchase or sale of gas and electricity, losses from the impairment of financial 

assets and losses from hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. 

(m) Income Tax expense 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income, apart from deferred tax recognised directly in equity.  

Current tax includes the tax estimate calculated from the taxable income for the year using tax rates valid 
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial 
recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and temporary differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities, if it is probable that they will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 

differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred 
tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.  

(n) Payment of dividends 

The payment of dividends to the Company’s shareholders is recognised in the Company’s financial 
statements as a liability in the period in which the payment of dividends is approved by the Company’s 
shareholders. 

(o) Earnings per share 

The Company presents basic earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.  
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4. Property, plant and equipment 

 

2023 Wells Land 
Right of 
use land 

Buildings 
and 

structures 

Right of 
use 

buildings 
and 

structures 

Machinery 
and 

equipment 

Right of 
use 

machinery 
and 

equipment 

Tangible 
assets 
under 

constructio
n 

Other 
tangible 

assets 
Total 

Acquisition cost 
as at 1 January 2023 

4 973 127 131 1 207 269 1 253 2 132 24 8 118 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  
as at 1 January 2023 

-3 576 -23 -28 -702 -18 -840 -1 -- -4 -5 192 

Net book value 
as at 1 January 2023 

1 397 104 103 505 251 413 1 132 20 2 926 

Additions 73 1 45 11 17 80 -- 203 10 440 

Disposals -- -1 -- -- -3 -- -- 13 -4 5 

Transfers -- -- -- 28 -- 3 -- -18 -13 -- 

Depreciation expense of the current year -296 -- -25 -43 -24 -88 -1 -40 -- -517 

Reversals of impairment of assets*) 5 -- -- 2 -- 2 -- -- 1 10 

Change in value 196 -- 1 -- -- -- -- -- -- 197 

Net book value 
as at 31 December 2023 
 

1 375 104 124 503 241 410 -- 290 14 3 061 

Acquisition cost 
as at 31 December 2023 

5 242 127 177 1 246 283 1 336 2 290 17 8 760 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at 
31 December 2023 

-3 867 -23 -53 -743 -42 -926 
-2 

-- -3 -5 699 

 

In 2023, no borrowing costs were capitalized due to insignificance. 
*) see Note 22 for more information on the impairment of non-current assets. 
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2022 Wells Land 
Right of 
use land 

Buildings 
and 

structures 

Right of 
use 

buildings 
and 

structures 

Machinery 
and 

equipment 

Right of 
use 

machinery 
and 

equipment 

Tangible 
assets 
under 

constructio
n 

Other 
tangible 

assets 
Total 

Acquisition cost 
as at 1 January 2022 

4 707 103 118 1 169 229 1 222 2 134 11 7 695 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment  
as at 1 January 2022 

-3 484 -23 -33 -699 -17 -772 -1 -- -4 -5 033 

Net book value 
as at 1 January 2022 

1 223 80 85 470 212 450 1 134 7 2 662 

Additions 215 24 41 27 21 46 1 95 13 483 

Disposals -- -- -- -- -- -4 -- -- -- -4 

Transfers -- -- -- 21 -- 6 -- -27 -- -- 

Depreciation expense of the current year -199 -- -42 -46 -24 -87 -1 -225 -- -624 

Reversals of impairment of assets*) 6 -- -- 33 -- 2 -- -- -- 41 

Change in value 152 -- 19 -- 42 -- -- 155 -- 368 

Net book value 
as at 31 December 2022 
 

1 397 104 103 505 251 413 1 132 20 2 926 

Acquisition cost 
as at 31 December 2022 

4 973 127 131 1 207 269 1 253 2 132 24 8 118 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at 
31 December 2022 

-3 576 -23 -28 -702 -18 -840 -1 -- -4 -5 192 

 

In 2022, no borrowing costs were capitalized due to insignificance. 
*) see Note 22 for more information on the impairment of non-current assets. 

 

I 11 I II 1111
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5. Intangible assets 

 

 

 

 

2023 Licences Software 
Intangible 

assets under 
construction 

Total 

Acquisition cost 
as at 1 January 2023 

3 132 15 150 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment  
as at 1 January 2023 

-3 -126 -- -129 

Net book value 
as at 1 January 2023 

-- 6 15 21 

Additions -- 2 8 10 

Transfers -- 3 -3 -- 

Disposals -- -- -- -- 

Amortisation expense of the current year -- -5 -- -5 

Net book value 
as at 31 December 2023 
 

-- 6 20 26 

Acquisition cost 
as at 31 December 2023 

3 137 20 160 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment as at 31 December 2023 

-3 -131 -- -134 

 

 

 

 

2022 Licences Software 
Intangible 

assets under 
construction 

Total 

Acquisition cost 
as at 1 January 2022 

3 128 12 143 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment  

as at 1 January 2022 

-3 -123 -- -126 

Net book value 
as at 1 January 2022 

-- 5 12 17 

Additions -- 3 5 8 

Transfers -- 2 -2 -- 

Disposals -- -- -- -- 

Amortisation expense of the current year -- -4 -- -4 

Net book value 
as at 31 December 2022 
 

-- 6 15 21 

Acquisition cost 
as at 31 December 2022 

3 132 15 150 

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment as at 31 December 2022 

-3 -126 -- -129 
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6. Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 

 

31/12/2023 
Ownership 

interest 
Shares held 

Nominal value 
of shares 

Carrying amount 
at 31 December 

2023 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. 100% 74 211 1 421 

MND Energy Storage a.s. 100% 2 438 001 1 749 1 943 

MND Energie a.s.  100% 97 500 1 950 148 

MND Ukraine a.s. 80% 20 2 455 

MND Austria a.s. 100% 2 2 336 

MND Wind s.r.o. 100% -- -- 3 

MND GasInvestUA s.r.o. 100% -- -- -- 

Moravia Gas Storage a.s. 50% 50 1 451 

Oriv Holding a.s. 100% 2 2 6 

FVE Tichá s.r.o. 100% -- -- 40 

FVE Mušov I s.r.o. 100% -- -- -- 

FVE Mušov II s.r.o. 100% -- -- 1 

FVE Orlová I s.r.o. 100% -- -- 94 

FVE Orlová I s.r.o. 100% -- -- 1 

G2P Borkovany s.r.o. 100% -- -- 70 

KBOC Director s.r.o. 100% -- -- -- 

Total investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 
   

4 969 

On 1 March 2024, the Company purchased MND Wind s.r.o., FVE Mušov II s.r.o. and G2P Borkovany s.r.o. 
On March 22, 2023, the company FVE Mušov I s.r.o. was founded. 
On 11 April 2023, MND GasInvestUA s.r.o. was founded. 
On 2 June 2023, MND Austria a.s. was founded. 
On 18 July 2023, the Company purchased shares in the companies FVE Orlová I s.r.o. and FVE Orlová II. s.r.o. 
The transfer of shares was completed on August 14, 2023. 

On August 29, 2023, KBOC Director s.r.o. was founded. 
In October 2023, the Company paid CZK 36 million for subscription of new shares of Moravia Gas Storage a.s. 
By the balance sheet date, the increase of share capital had not been entered in the company's commercial 
register. 
During the accounting period, the Company increased the value of its investments through contributions to other 
capital funds of Oriv Holding a.s. of CZK 1 million, MND Austria a.s. of CZK 407 million, G2P Borkovany s.r.o. of 

CZK 70 million and MND Wind of CZK 3 million. 

As at 31 December 2023, the Company created a provision of CZK 74 million to shares in MND Austria a.s. 
 

31/12/2022 
Ownership 

interest 
Shares held 

Nominal value 
of shares 

Carrying amount 
at 31 December 

2022 

MND Drilling & Services a.s. 100% 74 211 1 421 

MND Energy Storage a.s. 100% 2 438 001 1 749 1 943 

MND Energie a.s.  100% 97 500 1 950 148 

Oriv Holding a.s. 100% 2 2 5 

FVE Tichá s.r.o. 100% -- -- 40 

MND Ukraine a.s. 80% 20 2 455 

Moravia Gas Storage a.s. 50% 20 1 415 

Total investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 
   

4 427 

 
On 23 August 2022, the Company purchased the company FVE Tichá s.r.o.. 
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7. Other non-current investments 

 

 
31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Long-term restricted cash 4 1 

Long-term restricted debt securities – at amortised cost 42 40 

Total other non-current investments 
 

46 41 

 

Long-term restricted cash represents funds at a bank account to cover statutory provisions for renewal and 
restoration. For Credit quality see Note 28b) Credit risk. Long-term restricted debt securities represent a 
government bond worth CZK 42 million to cover statutory provisions for renewal and restoration. 

 
8. Trade and other receivables 

 

Non-current trade and other receivables 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Non-current loans  308 260 

Non-current trade receivables 1 1 

Non-current refundable deposits 15 11 

Non-current receivables – financial 324 272 

Non-current trade advances 2 3 

Non-current prepaid expenses 3 2 

Non-current receivables - other 5 5 

Total non-current trade and other receivables 329 277 

 

For credit quality of non-current trade and other receivables see Note 28b) Credit risk. 

 

Current trade and other receivables 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Current trade receivables 1 046 1 659 

Current refundable deposits 662 607 

Current contract assets -- 10 

Other current receivables 688 1 272 

Current receivables - financial 2 396 3 548 

Current trade advances 13 19 

Current prepaid expenses 47 36 

Current receivables from other taxes 69 2 

Current receivables - other 129 57 

Total current trade and other receivables 2 525 3 605 

 

 

As at 31 December 2023, net overdue current receivables totalled CZK 2 million (as at 31 December 2022: CZK 
2 million). As at 31 December 2023 an allowance for receivables totalled CZK 13 million (as at 31 December 
2022: 13 million). For credit quality and amount of provision see Note 28b) Credit risk. 

In 2023, other short-term receivables include a receivable from a clearing system member totalling CZK 676 
million (2022: CZK 1 268 million). 
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9. Other current financial assets 

 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Other current financial assets 1 506 2 683 

Total other current financial assets 1 506 2 683 

 
Other current financial assets comprise receivables relating to cash-pooling contracts with KKCG Structured 
Finance AG. 

This item is not considered a cash equivalent and is presented as part of investing activities in the statement of 
cash flows. For Credit quality see Note 28b) Credit risk. 

 

10. Inventories 

 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Material 132 90 

Goods 686 2 153 

Own products (oil)  21 26 

Work in progress and semi-finished products 2 -- 

Advances for inventories 7 2 

Total inventories 848 2 271 

 

In 2023, material includes an allowance for material of CZK 12 million (as at 31 December 2022: CZK 9 

million). 

Goods include gas for trading at a fair value of CZK 676 million (as at 31 December 2022: CZK 2 142 million). 

 
 

11. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Cash at bank 459 585 

Cash equivalents 207 483 

Total cash and cash equivalents 666 1 068 

 

Cash equivalents represents excess cash at accounts of clearing system members. For Credit quality see Note 
28b) Credit risk. 

 

12. Equity 

 

 
31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Share capital 1 000 1 000  

 

The share capital consists of 50 000 ordinary certificated registered shares with a nominal value of CZK 20 000 
per share. The share capital has been fully paid-up. All shares have the same rights and no restrictions. 

As at 15 August 2018, the imposition of a negative pledge on Company’s shares was entered in the Commercial 

Register. 

Other capital contributions arose as a result of the shareholder’s monetary contributions to strengthen the 
Company’s equity and the remeasurement of investments in subsidiaries and the joint venture using the equity 
method as at 1 January 2017 based on Czech Accounting Standards (at 31 December 2023: CZK 613 million) 
and a non-monetary contribution of an 80% share in MND Ukraine a.s. from the parent company MND Group AG. 
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Earnings per share 
 

    

Profit (+) / loss (-) attributable to ordinary shareholders     2023 2022 

Net profit (+) / loss (-) attributable to ordinary shareholders     648 1 782 

Net profit (+) / loss (-) attributable to ordinary shareholders     648 1 782 

 
  

  

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
Number of 

shares 
Weight 

2023 2022 

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 50 000 1 50 000 50 000 

Issued ordinary shares at 31 December 50 000 1 50 000 50 000 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 50 000 1 50 000 50 000 

Basic earnings (+) / loss (-) per share for the year  

(in CZK thousand) 
   12.96 35.64 

Diluted earnings (+) / loss (-) per share for the year 
(in CZK thousand) 

   12.96 35.64 

 

 
13. Loans and bonds issued 

 

This note provides an overview of the contractual terms and conditions governing interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings of the Company.  

 

Non-current loans and bonds 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Bonds issued – non-current portion 2 193 2 188 

Total non-current loans and bonds 2 193 2 188 

   

Current loans and bonds 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Current bank loans -- 2 412 

Bonds issued – current portion 2 2 

Total current loans and bonds 2 2 414 

 

As at 31 December 2023, the company had not drawn any short-term bank loans (as at 31 December 2022: CZK 
2 412 million). 

Based on the contractual terms of loans and bonds, the Company had to maintain specific financial debt covenant. 
As at December 31, 2023, the Company has fulfilled this covenant. 

 

Bank loans 

The bank loans are due as follows: 

  31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Due within 1 year -- 2 412 

  -- 2 412 

 

The loans received were secured in 2022 by pledged inventories of CZK 859 million, pledged receivables of CZK 
1 127 million and pledged receivables from current accounts of CZK 513 million. 

Interest rate on loan is based on EURIBOR and margin. 

The transaction currencies of loans and bonds as at 31 December 2023 are EUR and CZK, of which the balance 
of loans with the EUR transaction currency is CZK 0 million (as at 31 December 2022: CZK 2 412 million) and the 
balance of bonds with the CZK transaction currency is CZK 2 195 million (as at 31 December 2022: CZK 2 190 

million). 
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Bonds issued 

On 3 March 2022, the Company issued unsecured MND VAR/27 bonds in "bearer" form in book-entry form, which 
were admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Prague Stock Exchange under ISIN CZ0003538183. 
These bonds have variable interest of 3M PRIBOR + 2.8% p.a. and will mature on 3 March 2027. Bond coupons 
are paid quarterly in arrears. The nominal value of one bond is CZK 3 million. The total nominal value is CZK 

2 202 million. The emission of bonds was issued in the Czech Republic in compliance with Czech law. 450 bonds 
with a nominal value of CZK 1 350 million was subscribed in exchange for MND VAR/22 bonds. 284 bonds with a 
nominal value of CZK 852 million was subscribed for cash. The funds raised were used to repay the remaining 
bonds of the MND VAR/22 issue, which matured in November 2022. 

The reconciliation of movements of non-current and current loans, issued bonds with cash flows: 

 

14. Lease liabilities 

Lease liabilities 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Lease liabilities – non-current 304 291 

Lease liabilities - current 38 31 

Total lease liabilities 342 322 

Reconciliation of movements of lease liabilities with cash flows: 
 2023 2022 

Balance at 1 January 322 275 

Cash flows   

Payment of lease liabilities -37 -31 

Non-cash changes   

Recognition of lease liabilities 58 87 

Effect of currency translation -1 -9 

Balance at 31 December 342 322 

For detail of rights to use assets see the asset table in Note 4. 
 

15. Trade and other payables 

 

Non-current trade and other payables 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Other non-current liabilities 122 99 

Total non-current trade and other payables 122 99 

All other non-current liabilities are due between 1 and 5 years. Other non-current liabilities include payables 
arising from natural gas storage contracts of CZK 117 million (2022: CZK 90 million). 

 

 2023 2022 

Balance at 1 January 4 602 4 685 

Cash flows   

Drawing of loans and borrowings 1 209 18 749 

Repayment of loans and borrowings -3 606 -18 721 

Interest paid from previous years (-) -7 -12 

Non-cash changes   

Unpaid interest for the current period 6 7 

Foreign exchange differences recognised in profit or loss -9 -88 

Other non-monetary transactions -- -18 

Balance at 31 December 2 195 4 602 
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Current trade and other payables 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Trade payables 1 359 1 911 

Current payables - financial 1 359 1 911 

Current contract liabilities 13 20 

Other current payables to the state 43 38 

Current payables to employees 122 118 

Current deferred income 14 3 

Current payables - other 192 179 

Total current trade and other payables 1 551 2 090 

 

As at 31 December 2023, the Company does not record any overdue current trade payables (as at 31 December 
2022: 0 million CZK). Current trade payables include liabilities from natural gas storage contracts of CZK 205 
million (2022: CZK 209 million). 
 

 

16. Derivative financial instruments 

 

The Company uses the derivative financial instruments mainly for trading in electricity, gas and emissions 
allowances and to hedge the currency, interest and commodity risks. When the hedge accounting requirements 
are fulfilled, derivatives are designated and recognized as “Hedging derivatives”. 

Carrying amounts of receivables and payables from derivative financial instruments are as follows: 

 

 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

 

Hedging 
derivatives 

Trading 
derivatives 

Total 
Hedging 

derivatives 
Trading 

derivatives 
Total 

Long-term receivables 2 714 716 -- 718 718 

Short-term receivables 22 1 913 1 935 -- 4 498 4 498 

Total receivables from 
derivative financial 
instruments  

24 2 627 2 651 -- 5 216 5 216 

Long-term payables -- -271 -271 -- -1 118 - 1 118 

Short-term payables -- -2 540 -2 540 --  - 5 257 -5 257 

Total payables from derivative 
financial instruments  

-- -2 811 -2 811 -- -6 375 -6 375 

 

All financial derivatives are stated at fair value as at 31 December 2023 (and 31 December 2022) and categorised 
to Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 

 

Hedging derivatives 

The Company had the following financial derivatives for hedging in 2023: 

2023 
Year of 

maturity 
Nominal value Average hedged rate Fair value 

Currency forwards 2024 226 22.74 CZK/USD 3 

Commodity swaps 2024 207 84.02 USD/bbl 19 

Commodity swaps 2025 19 84.02 USD/bbl 2 

Total receivables from hedging derivatives    24 

Total hedging financial derivatives    24 

 

The company did not report any hedging derivatives as at 31 December 2022. 

The hedge relationships are effective through the accounting period (see accounting policies in Note 3(e). 

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 



MND a.s. 
Separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (in millions of Czech crowns) 

Page 124 

 

Hedge accounting criteria were fulfilled as at 31 December 2023 for all the derivates which are recognized as 
”Hedging derivatives”. The changes in the fair value for such derivatives are recognized directly in the other 
comprehensive income. The company does not recognize any hedge ineffectiveness arising from these forwards 
and swaps in the profit or loss statement. 

Fair values of hedging derivatives stated in the table above corresponds to value obtained from the financial 

institution with whom the company entered into the derivative transaction in question. 

Trading derivatives 

Besides the hedging derivatives the Company held the derivatives for trading as they do not fulfil the hedge 
accounting criteria as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022. These derivatives are classified as “Trading 
derivatives” and recognized in fair value. 

The Company had the following financial derivatives for trading: 

2023 Year of maturity Fair value 

Commodity forward 2026 2 248 

Commodity future 2024 122 

Currency forward 2025 69 

Interest rate swap 2027 188 

Total receivables from trading derivatives  2 627 

Commodity forward 2024 -2 535 

Commodity future 2025 -256 

Currency forward 2025 -20 

Total payables from trading derivatives   -2 811 

Total trading financial derivatives  -184 

 

2022 Year of maturity Fair value 

Commodity forward 2025 11 

Commodity forward 2024 286 

Commodity forward 2023 3 733 

Commodity future 2024 154 

Commodity future 2023 630 

Currency forward 2024 9 

Currency forward 2023 54 

Interest rate swap 2027 339 

Total receivables from trading derivatives  5 216 

Commodity forward 2024 -1 115 

Commodity forward 2023 -5 104 

Commodity future 2023 -3 

Currency forward 2024 -3 

Currency forward 2023 -134 

Currency swap 2023 -16 

Total payables from trading derivatives   -6 375 

Total trading financial derivatives  -1 159 

 

The Company held trading derivatives in a form of currency forwards and swaps, interest rate swaps and 
commodity forwards, futures and swaps. For fair value determination, a market comparison technique was used 
and the inputs were based on the same fair value hierarchy. 
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17. Provisions 

 

31/12/2023 
Provision for 

decommissioning, renewal 
and restoration 

Balance 1 January 2023 1 584 

Additions 10 

Utilization -81 

Unwinding of discount 68 

Change in value 209 

Balance 31 December 2023 1 790 

Thereof:  

Non-current provisions 1 702 

Current provisions 88 

Provisions for decommissioning, renewals and restorations are established based on rules described in Note 
3(j). For 2023 interest rates in range of 4.04 – 4.11 % p. a. were used. In calculating provisions, the expected 
inflation of 3 % p. a. was used. The Company expects that costs will be incurred between 2024 and 2054. 

18. Revenue 
 

The following tables show the breakdown of total revenue for each segment based on the main type of goods, 
products or services and based on the recognition of revenue according to time perspective: 

2023 
Exploration and 

production of oil and gas 
Trading in gas and 

electricity, gas storage 
Revenue Revenue based on the main type of 

goods, products or services 

Revenue from trading in gas -- 44 790 44 790 

Revenue from trading in electricity  -- 6 536 6 536 

Revenue from the sale of gas to end 
customers 

-- 48 48 

Revenue from the sale of electricity to end 
customers 

-- 211 211 

Revenue from the sale of produced oil 833 -- 833 

Revenue from the sale of produced gas 1 663 -- 1 663 

Revenue from the provision of services 79 197 276 

Revenue from the sale of goods 11 8 19 

Total revenue 2 586 51 790 54 376 

 

2022 
Exploration and 

production of oil and gas 
Trading in gas and 

electricity, gas storage 
Revenue Revenue based on the main type of 

goods, products or services 

Revenue from trading in gas -- 193 489 193 489 

Revenue from trading in electricity  -- 20 332 20 332 

Revenue from the sale of gas to end 
customers 

-- 395 395 

Revenue from the sale of electricity to end 
customers 

-- 624 624 

Revenue from the sale of produced oil 949 -- 949 

Revenue from the sale of produced gas 926 -- 926 

Revenue from the provision of services 28 -- 28 

Revenue from the sale of goods 56 109 165 

Revenue from gas storage -- 56 56 

Total revenue 1 959 215 005 216 964 
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2023 2022   Revenue based on geographical position of a point of sale 

Czechia 16 734 53 161 

Germany 15 371 54 019 

Netherlands 5 -- 

Luxembourg 3 113 57 218 

Switzerland 6 163 17 133 

Denmark 288 6 549 

Austria 2 143 3 750 

Slovakia 84 278 

Ukraine 6 20 

United Kingdom 10 469 24 831 

Other -- 5 

Total revenue 54 376 216 964 

 

All revenue was in terms of timeframe recognized over time. 

In 2023, the Company reported revenue of CZK 17 218 million (2022: CZK 34 064 million) for one customer. 
This revenue was allocated to the Trading in gas and electricity, gas storage segment. 

The remaining performance obligations relate to the contracts whose initial expected duration is one year or less, 
or to the contracts concluded for an indefinite period with a notice period shorter than 1 year, therefore the 
Company does not disclose their value. 

In 2023, CZK 17 million was recognised (2022: CZK 565 million) in revenue from the value of contract liabilities 
as at 31 December 2022 (Note 15). 

 

19. Other operating income 

 

  2023 2022  

Income from grants 15 10 

Gain on sale of non-current assets 2 1 

Income from lease 21 20 

Gain from trading in commodity contracts 543 1 032 

Remaining operating income 90 115 

Total other operating income 671 1 178 

 

 2023  2022    

Profit from trading in commodity contracts 4 382 134 166 

Loss from trading in commodity contracts -3 839 -133 134 

Net Profit/Loss (-) from trading in commodity contracts 543 1 032 
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20. Consumption of materials, goods and services 

  2023 2022     

Cost of goods sold 12 21 

Cost of sale of gas and electricity to end customers 202 600 

Cost of trading in gas and electricity 51 163 213 821 

Materials and energy used 229 181 

Total materials and goods used 51 606 214 623 

   

Services used relating to revenue 677 360 

Lease expenses 15 8 

Other services 190 123 

Changes in product and work-in-progress inventories 3 -- 

Total services used 885 491 

   

Total consumption of materials, goods and services 52 491 215 114 

 

Services used relating to revenue include primarily the costs of drilling work, abandonment of wells and land 
restoration. 

Other services include cost of services provided by a statutory auditor; this information is disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 

21. Personnel expenses 

  2023 2022  

Payroll expenses 314 304 

Social security and health insurance expenses 95 92 

Other social expenses 17 13 

Total personnel expenses 426 409 

 

The average number of employees in 2023 was 310 (2022: 307 employees). 

 

22. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 

 2023 2022 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 4) 467 557 

Reversals of (-)/Impairment (+) of property, plant and equipment (Note 4) -10 -41 

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 5) 5 4 

Depreciation of right of use (Note 4) 50 67 

Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment 512 587 
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23. Other operating costs 

 2023 2022        

Repairs and maintenance 208 168 

Travel expenses 4 3 

Fees 98 112 

Other taxes 1 1 

Insurance premiums 8 7 

Release of allowances for receivables -1 -3 

Other overhead operating expenses 145 145 

Total other operating expenses 463 433 

 

The most significant part of the fees represents charges for produced oil and gas of CZK 57 million (2022: CZK 
73 million) and fees for mining areas and fees for exploration areas of CZK 38 million (2022: CZK 36 million). 

 

24. Finance income and costs 
 2023 2022 

Interest income 88 35 

Total interest income 88 35 

   

Dividend income -- 357 

Income from current financial assets 98 29 

Other finance income -- 386 

Total finance income  186 807 

   

Interest expense -160 -227 

Interest expense on leases -24 -17 

Other finance costs -162 -17 

Impairment of financial investments -74 -- 

Loss from foreign exchange transactions -22 -25 

Total finance costs -442 -286 

Net profit/loss from financial operations -256 521 

 
 

25. Taxation 

 

Income tax expense 
 2023 2022 

Current tax expense   

Current year 167 145 

Changes in estimates relating to the previous year 25 2 

Total current tax expense 192 147 

Deferred tax expense 59 191 

Total income tax (expense + / income -) 251 338 
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

 
2023 % 2022 % 

      

Profit or loss before tax 899  2 120  

     

Income tax using the valid tax rate 171 19.00% 403 19.00% 

Effect of different current and deferred tax rates, effect 
of rate change and windfall profits tax 

57 6.34% 2 0.09% 

Effect of tax non-deductible expenses that do not result 
in deferred tax 

16 1.78% 5 0.24% 

Effect of tax-exempt income  -17 -1.89% -70 -3.30% 

Donation for charitable purposes -2 -0.22% -1 -0.05% 

Tax relating to prior periods 25 2.78% -2 -0.09% 

Other effects 1 0.11% 1 0.05% 

Total income tax expense / Effective tax rate 251 27.90% 338 15.94% 

 

Deferred tax 

 

The deferred tax was calculated using the expected average tax rate during the period when the transitional 
differences were applied. The expected average tax rate for 2024 was 21%, for 2025 it was calculated taking into 

account the standard corporate income tax rate of 21% and the windfall profits tax rate of 60%. For the years 

2026 and the following, the tax rate of 21% is used. 

The tax on windfall profits is determined in accordance with the relevant provisions of Act No. 586/1992 Coll., on 
Income Taxes, as amended. The tax amounts to 60% of the tax base, which is the difference between the 
compared tax base and the average of the adjusted comparative tax bases. The compared tax base is the tax 
base before the application of items reducing the tax base and deductible items or tax loss for individual periods 

of effectiveness of tax on windfall profits. The adjusted comparative tax base is the tax base before the application 
of items reducing the tax base and deductible items or the tax loss for the entire periods in 2018–2021 increased 
by an absolute value of 20%. 

Based on the financial outlook, the Company expects that it will be able to utilise the deferred tax asset against 
future profits. 

 
Change in deferred tax 

 

2023 Balance at 1/1/2023 Change in 2023 
Balance at 
31/12/2023 

 

 
Deferred tax asset 

(+)/ liability (-) 
Recognised in 
profit or loss 

Recognised in other 
comprehensive 

income 

Deferred tax asset 
(+)/ liability (-) 

Deferred tax asset (+)/liability (-)  181 -59 -5 117 

Property, plant and equipment  -159 36 -- -123 

Derivative financial instruments*  142 -156 -5 -19 

Inventories  -141 157 -- 16 

Total liabilities  20 -11 -- 9 

Provisions  319 -85 -- 234 

 

  

Member of KKCG Group www.mnd.eu 



MND a.s. 
Separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 (in millions of Czech crowns) 

Page 130 

 

 

2022 
Balance at 
1/1/2022 

Change in 2022 
Balance at 

31/12/2022 

  

 
Deferred tax asset 

(+)/ liability (-) 
Recognised in 
profit or loss 

Recognised in other 
comprehensive 

income 

Deferred tax asset 
(+)/ liability (-) 

Deferred tax asset (+)/liability (-)  390 -191 -18 181 

Property, plant and equipment  -34 -125 -- -159 

Derivative financial instruments*  824 -664 -18 142 

Inventories  -577 436 -- -141 

Receivables  1 -1 -- -- 

Total liabilities  6 14 -- 20 

Provisions  170 149 -- 319 

 

 

 

26. Other comprehensive income 

 2023 2022 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments, before tax 25 -- 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments – deferred tax -5 -- 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments, after tax 20 -- 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments transferred to profit/loss, before tax -- 94 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments transferred to profit/loss – deferred tax -- -18 

Change in fair value of hedging instruments transferred to profit/loss, after 
tax 

-- 76 

Total other comprehensive income 20 76 
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27. Related parties 

 
Payroll expenses, bonuses and other personnel expenses incurred in respect of members of the board of directors, 
supervisory board and executive management of the Company are disclosed in the following table: 

 2023 2022 

 

Board of 
directors and 

supervisory 
board 

Executive 
management 

Board of 
directors and 

supervisory 
board 

Executive 
management 

Payroll expenses -- 36 -- 46 

Social security and health insurance expenses 1 11 1 11 

Bonuses to statutory body members 6 -- 2 -- 

Total 7 47 3 57 

 
The Company is part of the consolidated group of KKCG AG with its registered office in Switzerland. All companies 
presented below are the Company’s related parties, because they are part of the same consolidated group.  
 
 

Related-party balances as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022: 

 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Non-current trade and other receivables 2 3 

Long-term loans 24 -- 

Current trade and other receivables 969 178 

Other current financial assets 1 506 2 683 

Total receivables 2 501 2 864 

Current trade and other liabilities 298 999 

Current liabilities – other 2 7 

Total liabilities 300 1 006 

 

Other current financial assets of CZK 1 506 million (2022: CZK 2 683 million) represent a receivable from KKCG 

Structured Finance AG under cash pooling contracts (see Note 9). 
 

Related-party transactions for the period ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022: 

 
 2023 2022 

Revenue and other operating income 13 401 8 403 

Interest income 99 29 

Other income – re-invoicing 3 2 

Total revenue 13 503 8 434 

Consumption of materials and goods 6 984 4 567 

Consumed services 813 317 

Other operating expenses 109 1 126 

Total costs 7 906 6 010 

 

Expenses charged by the related parties include, in particular, gas and electricity purchase costs and further the 
costs of drilling and workover operations and the costs of gas storage services.  
 
Revenue recognized in respect of related parties include in particular the sale of gas and electricity (MND Energie 
a.s.) and financial income from the contracts on cash pooling (KKCG Structured Finance AG). 
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28. Risk management 

 

(a) Financial risk management and financial instruments 

This section describes in detail the financial and operational risks the Company is exposed to and its risk 
management methods. Risk management is one of the core components of Company corporate governance. The 
main focus is placed on quantifying risks the Company is exposed to in the market (the risk of changes in foreign 
exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices) and the credit risk. The Company’s risk management 

strategy concentrates on minimising potential negative impacts on the Company’s financial results. 

The principal role of the Company’s risk management is to identify risks, determine a risk measurement method, 
quantify and analyse risk exposure, define a hedging strategy and the hedging implementation as such. The 
overall responsibility for setting up the Company’s risk management system and supervising its operation lies on 
the level of the board of directors. 

Main financial instruments used by the Company include bank loans, bonds and derivatives. The principal task of 
these financial instruments is to acquire necessary funds to finance Company’s operations and hedge risks arising 

from the Company’s operations. 

The most significant financial risks the Company is exposed to are market risks (the risk of changes in commodity 
prices, currency risk, interest rate risk and credit risk, in case an important business partner or a customer does 
not fulfil its contractual obligations). These risk management processes are approved and monitored by the top 
management of the Company. 

Company entered into derivative transactions (currency forwards, currency swaps, interest rate swaps, 
commodity futures and commodity forwards) with the aim to manage the risk of exchange rate, interest rate and 

commodity price fluctuations. 

The Company is also exposed to interest rate risk that is reflected by the cash flow sensitivity and profit or loss 
on interest rates changes. Interest rate risk is mostly managed and hedged by using interest rate swaps (float to 

fix). 

The Company is also exposed to liquidity risk. Liquidity risk is managed based on data about necessity of free 
resources and it is monitored through risk management and in cooperation with the company´s finance 

department. Apart from the cash flow report that is additionally simulated for various scenarios the Company 
also uses a system to monitor the management of receivables and payables balancing, diversification of liquidity 
resources and daily monitoring. 

 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is a risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a transaction fails to meet 

its contractual obligations, such as payment, acceptance of a commodity or service for a pre-arranged price, 
failure to deliver the agreed commodity or service. 

The Company trades primarily with highly rated partners. The Company follows the principle that all customers 

that want to use credit facilities undergo procedures for credit risk assessment that is applied by using own 
scoring model. The Company continuously monitors the balance of receivables on an individual and aggregate 
level. 

The Company generates revenue from the sale of oil, gas and electricity, the trade in gas and electricity, the 

provision of services. All business counterparties are subject to individual analysis of creditworthiness and they 
are assigned a credit limit. Credit limits are approved by the risk management committee based on external 
rating, if available, or based on internal risk assessment guidelines. Risk exposure is monitored for each 
counterparty on a daily basis, taking into consideration potential future impact. In relevant cases, the Company 
also requires the counterparty to provide a bank guarantee or its parent company’s guarantee, an advance 
payment or credit support instrument with the aim to minimise the credit risk. 

The total credit risk of the trading portfolio is monitored on an ongoing basis and calculated based on the expected 

loss, i.e. each counterparty is assigned internal credit rating with estimated probability of default. The expected 
loss is calculated by product of the default probability, the percentage of loss from a given exposure in the case 

of default and exposure to a counterparty at a given moment. 

With respect to the credit risk arising from the Company’s financial assets, comprising cash and cash equivalents 
and financial derivatives, the credit risk arises from a failure of the counterparty to discharge their obligations, 
where the maximum amount of credit risk represents the carrying amount of these instruments. The risk is 

mitigated by cooperating with reputable local and international banks and by diversifying the portfolio. 
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For the calculation of credit exposure and the free trading limit, VaR at the 95% confidence level for holding 
period of 10 days is also taken into account in terms of credit risk calculation. The Risk Management Department 
monitors credit exposure on a daily basis and if necessary makes remedial arrangements even in cooperation 
with the Risk Management Committee. 

 

Credit risk by type of counterparty 

 

At 31 December 2023 
Companies 

(non-financial 
institutions) 

State, 
government 

Financial 
institutions 

Individuals Total 

Assets      

Non-current receivables - financial 323 -- -- 1 324 
Non-current receivables from derivative 
instruments 

585 -- 131 -- 716 

Other non-current financial assets -- 42 4 -- 46 

Other current financial assets 1 506 -- -- -- 1 506 

Current receivables – financial 2 396 -- -- -- 2 396 

Current receivables from derivative 
instruments 

1 808 -- 127 -- 1 935 

Cash and cash equivalents 207 -- 459 -- 666 

Total 6 825 42 721 1 7 589 

 

 

At 31 December 2022 
Companies 

(non-financial 
institutions) 

State, 
government 

Financial 
institutions 

Individuals Total 

Assets      

Non-current receivables - financial 270 -- -- 1 271 
Non-current receivables from derivative 
instruments 

450 -- 268 -- 718 

Other non-current financial assets -- 40 1 -- 41 

Other current financial assets 2 683 -- -- -- 2 683 

Current receivables – financial 3 548 -- -- -- 3 548 

Current receivables from derivative 
instruments 

4 363 -- 135 -- 4 498 

Cash and cash equivalents 483 -- 585 -- 1 068 

Total 11 797 40 989 1 12 827 
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Ageing structure of financial assets 

At 31 December 2023 
Not past 

due 

Past due Past due Past due Past due 
more than 1 

year 

Impairment 
allowance 

Total 0-90 days 91-180 
days 

181-365 
days 

Non-current receivables 323 --  -- -- -- -- 323 

Non-current loans 308 -- -- -- -- -- 308 

Non-current refundable 
deposits 

15 -- -- -- -- -- 15 

Non-current financial 
assets 

46 -- -- -- -- -- 46 

Non-current restricted debt 
securities - at amortized cost 

42 -- -- -- -- -- 42 

Non-current restricted cash 4 -- -- -- -- -- 4 

Current receivables - 
financial 

2 394 -- -- 1 14 -13 2 396 

Current trade receivables 1 044 -- -- 1 14 -13 1 046 

Current refundable deposits 662 -- -- -- -- -- 662 

Other current receivables 688 -- -- -- -- -- 668 

Other current financial 
assets 

1 506 -- -- -- -- -- 1 506 

Other current financial 

assets 
1 506 -- -- -- -- -- 1 506 

Cash and cash equivalents 666 -- -- -- -- -- 666 

Bank accounts and cash 
equivalents 

666 -- -- -- -- -- 666 

Total 4 935 -- -- 1 14 -13 4 937 

 

At 31 December 2022 
Not past 

due 

Past due Past due Past due Past due 
more than 1 

year 

Impairment 
allowance 

Total 0-90 days 91-180 
days 

181-365 
days 

Non-current receivables 271 -- -- -- -- -- 271 

Non-current loans 260 -- -- -- -- -- 260 

Non-current refundable 
deposits 

11 -- -- -- -- -- 11 

Non-current financial assets 41 -- -- -- -- -- 41 

Non-current restricted debt 
securities -at amortized cost 

40 -- -- -- -- -- 40 

Non-current restricted cash 1 -- -- -- -- -- 1 

Current receivables - 
financial 

3 547 -- -- 2 12 -13 3 548 

Current trade receivables 1 657 -- -- 2 12 -13 1 658 

Current contract assets 10 -- -- -- -- -- 10 

Current refundable deposits 608 -- -- -- -- -- 608 

Other current receivables 1 272 -- -- -- -- -- 1 272 

Other current financial 
assets 

2 683 -- -- -- -- -- 2 683 

Other current financial assets 2 683 -- -- -- -- -- 2 683 

Cash and cash equivalents 1 068      1 068 

Bank accounts and cash 
equivalents 

1 068 -- -- -- -- -- 1 068 

Total 7 610 -- -- 2 12 -13 7 611 

 

The Company tests the amount of financial assets held in accordance with IFRS 9 and recognises allowances for 
financial assets in compliance with the accounting policy specified in Note 3(e) i.  

The following tables present credit quality of financial assets at amortised cost. Non-current and current derivative 
financial instrument assets are not included in the disclosures because they are measured at fair value through 

profit and loss.  
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Credit quality of financial assets at amortised cost 

The company classifies the financial assets into the credit quality classes. Class 1 consists of high-quality financial 
assets that do not have any indicators of impairment and fulfils the definition for “low credit risk”. Class 2 consists 
of all other financial assets. 

At 31 December 2023 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
Provision 

matrix 
Impairment 

allowance 
Net carrying 

amount 

Class 1            

Cash and cash equivalents 666  --  --  --  --  666  

Bank accounts and cash equivalents 666 -- -- -- -- 666 
       

Other current financial assets 1 506 -- -- -- -- 1 506 

Other current financial assets 1 506 -- -- -- -- 1 506 

       

Long-term financial assets 46 -- -- -- -- 46 

Long-term debt securities – at 
amortised cost 

42 -- -- -- -- 42 

Non-current restricted cash 4 -- -- -- -- 4 

       

Class 2       

Current receivables - financial 981 -- -- 1 428 -13 2 396 

Trade receivables 848 -- -- 211 -13 1 046 

Current refundable deposits 133 -- -- 529 -- 662 

Other current receivables -- -- -- 688 -- 688 

       

Non-current receivables - 
financial 

323 -- -- -- -- 323 

Non-current loans 308 -- -- -- -- 308 

Non-current refundable deposits 15 -- -- -- -- 15 
       

Total 3 522 -- -- 1 428 -13 4 937 
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At 31 December 2022 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
Provision 

matrix 
Impairment 

allowance 
Net carrying 

amount 

Class 1             

Cash and cash equivalents 1 068 -- -- -- -- 1 068 

Bank accounts and cash equivalents 1 068 -- -- -- -- 1 068 
       

Other current financial assets 2 683 -- -- -- -- 2 683 
Other current financial assets 2 683 -- -- -- -- 2 683 

       

Long-term financial assets 41 -- -- -- -- 41  

Long-term debt securities – at 
amortised cost 

40 -- -- -- -- 40 

Non-current restricted cash 1 -- -- -- -- 1 

       

Class 2       

Current receivables - financial 176 -- -- 3 385 -13 3 548 

Trade receivables 176 -- -- 1 496 -13 1 659 

Current contract assets -- -- -- 10 -- 10 

Current refundable deposits -- -- -- 607 -- 607 

Other current receivables -- -- -- 1 272 -- 1 272 

       

Non-current receivables - 
financial 

271 -- -- -- -- 271 

Non-current loans 260 -- -- -- -- 260 

Non-current refundable deposits 11 -- -- -- -- 11 
       

Total 4 239 -- -- 3 385 -13 7 611 

 

Movements in impairment allowances are shown in the following table: 

 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
Provision 
matrix 

Total 

Balance at 1 January 2023 -- -- -- -13 -13 

Additions  -- -- -- -1 -1 

Reversals – receivables written off  -- -- -- 1 1 

Balance at 31 December 2023 -- -- -- -13 -13 

      

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
Provision 
matrix 

Total 

Balance at 1 January 2022 -- -- -- -17 -17 

Additions  -- -- -- -1 -1 

Reversals – receivables written off  -- -- -- 5 5 

Balance at 31 December 2022 -- -- -- -13 -13 
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Impairment matrix for current financial receivables as at 31 December 2023: 

 

  
Gross carrying 

amount 
Expected credit 

loss rate 
ECL allowance 

Net carrying 
amount 

     

Due 2 394 0.00% -- 2 394 

Current trade receivables 1 044 0.00% -- 1 044 

Current refundable deposits 662 0.00% -- 662 

Other current receivables 688 0.00% -- 688 
     
Past due < 90 days -- 0.00% -- -- 

Current trade receivables -- 0.00% -- -- 

Other current receivables -- 0.00% -- -- 
     
Past due 91-180 days -- 0.00% -- -- 

Current trade receivables -- 0.00% -- -- 

    Other current receivables -- 0.00% -- -- 

     

Past due 181-365 days 1 0.00% -- 1 

Current trade receivables 1 0.00% -- 1 

Other current receivables -- 0.00% -- -- 
     
Past due >365 days 14 92.86% -13 1 

Current trade receivables 14 92.86% -13 1 

      

Total 2 409 0.54% -13 2 396 

 

Impairment matrix for current financial receivables as at 31 December 2022: 

 

  
Gross carrying 

amount 

Expected credit 

loss rate 
ECL allowance 

Net carrying 

amount 

     

Due 3 537 0.00% -- 3 537 

Current trade receivables  1 657 0.00% -- 1 657 

Current refundable deposits 608 0.00% -- 608 

Other current receivables 1 272 0.00% -- 1 272 
     
Past due < 90 days -- 0.00% -- -- 

Current trade receivables -- 0.00% -- -- 

Other current receivables -- 0.00% -- -- 
     
Past due 91-180 days -- 0.00% -- -- 

Current trade receivables -- 0.00% -- -- 

    Other current receivables -- 0.00% -- -- 
     
Past due 181-365 days 2 50.00% -1 1 

Current trade receivables 2 50.00% -1 1 

Other current receivables -- 0.00% -- -- 
     
Past due >365 days 12 100.00% -12 -- 

Current trade receivables 12 100.00% -12 -- 

      

Total 3 551 0.37% -13 3 538 
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Credit risk by region (by the counterparty’s registered office) 

Non-current and current receivables - financial, non-current 
and current receivables from derivative instruments, non-
current restricted cash, other current financial assets, cash 
and cash equivalents  

31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Czechia 4 367 4 339 

Germany 170 1 454 

Switzerland 1 623 3 211 

Austria 65 156 

Slovakia 9 683 

Ukraine 288 263 

United Kingdom 1 027 2 660 

Other countries 40 61 

Total 7 589 12 827 

 

Offsetting of receivables and liabilities from trading in gas and electricity: 

Offsetting in the balance sheet 

The Company trades gas and electricity under EFET framework contracts. These contracts allow offsetting 
receivables and liabilities during their payment and also offsetting at early termination of a contract. Trade 
receivables and payables from these contracts were recognised in the balance sheet on a net basis after offsetting.  

Potential offsetting 

Receivables and liabilities from derivative transactions include the remeasurement of commodity contracts that 

are considered financial instruments. With respect to these contracts there is a possibility of offsetting at early 
termination of a contract where the receivables and liabilities with the originally different maturity can be offset. 
This potential offsetting was not recognised in the balance sheet and is recorded in the column “Potential 
offsetting”. 

 
 

At 31 December 2023 
Gross amount 

before 
offsetting 

Offsetting in 
the balance 

sheet 

Net amount in 
the balance 

sheet 

Potential 
offsetting  

Amount after 
potential 
offsetting 

Assets      

Non-current receivables from 
derivative instruments 

2 603 -1 887 716 -5 711 

Current receivables from 
derivative instruments 

28 261 -26 326 1 935 -74 1 861 

Current receivables  6 048 -3 652 2 396 -- 2 396 

Total 36 912 -31 865 5 047 -79 4 968 

      
Liabilities      
Non-current liabilities from 
derivative instruments 

2 158 -1 887 271 -7 264 

Current liabilities from 
derivative instruments 

28 866 -26 326 2 540 -72 2 468 

Current liabilities 5 011 -3 652 1 359 -- 1 359 

Total 36 035 -31 865 4 170 -79 4 091 
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At 31 December 2022 
Gross amount 

before offsetting 
Offsetting in the 

balance sheet 

Net amount in 
the balance 

sheet 

Potential 
offsetting  

Amount after 
potential 
offsetting 

Assets      

Non-current receivables 
from derivative instruments 

9 348 -8 630 718 -145 573 

Current receivables from 
derivative instruments 

71 334 -66 836 4 498 -991 3 507 

Current receivables  7 126 -3 578 3 548 -- 3 548 

Total 87 808 -79 044 8 764 -1 136 7 628 

      
Liabilities      
Non-current liabilities from 
derivative instruments 

9 748 -8 630 1 118 -465 653 

Current liabilities from 
derivative instruments 

72 093 -66 836 5 257 -671 4 586 

Current liabilities 5 489 -3 578 1 911 -- 1 911 

Total 87 330 -79 044 8 286 -1 136 7 150 

 

(c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of changes in the value of assets, liabilities and cash flows denominated in foreign currency 
due to changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices. The Company implemented 
policies and methodologies for monitoring and hedging these risks to which it is exposed. 

i. Currency risk 

The Company is exposed to currency risk as a result of its foreign currency transactions. These risks arise from 
purchases and sales in other than functional currency (CZK).  

The Company monitors currency risks on an ongoing basis and assess possible impact of changes in foreign 
exchange rates on Company’s transactions. A significant part of foreign currency exposure is hedged naturally, 
i.e. revenue and expenses are denominated in the same foreign currency, or by using currency forwards or swaps. 

The Company is exposed to currency risk from the sale of oil in USD, from the sale of gas, electricity and other 
energy commodities in EUR.  

ii. Commodity risk 

Risk exposure arising from energy commodities trading is monitored on a daily basis by observing market prices, 
mark-to-market and value-at-risk of the open positions and is subject to approved limits for individual risk 

indicators. The exposure to market risk, within the limits approved by the board of directors and the Risk 
Management Committee, depends on the market conditions and expectations. All risk limits are monitored and 

reviewed on a regular basis.  

Changes in commodity prices represent the highest risk for the Company. The decrease in oil price by 1 
USD/barrel in 2023 would result in a decrease in profit or loss before tax of approximately CZK 11 million without 
hedging. The effect of CZK appreciation against USD by CZK 1 in 2023 would result in a decrease in profit or loss 
before tax of CZK 38 million without hedging. In contrast, oil price growth and the depreciation of CZK against 

USD would have a positive impact on profit or loss before tax in the same amount. Lower prices of natural gas 
from own production by EUR 1/MWh in 2023 would cause a decrease in profit or loss before tax by approximately 
CZK 31 million without the hedging. The impact of CZK appreciation against EUR by CZK 1 in 2023 would 
represent a decrease in profit or loss before tax of CZK 92 million without hedging. In contrast , natural gas price 
growth and the depreciation of CZK against EUR would have a positive impact on operating profit in the same 
amount. 

In respect of gas trading while using underground gas storages, the main risk is the change of the summer/winter 
spread (the difference between summer and winter gas prices). The decrease in the summer/winter spread by 

0.1 EUR/MWh in the storage period 2023/2024 would result in a decrease in profit or loss before tax of CZK 2 
million without hedging in relation to the total working gas volume. Currency risk exposure (EUR position) from 
gas trading is relatively low since trading over natural gas storage capacities is financed by current loans 
denominated in EUR and open positions are hedged by FX forward and FX swap contracts. 
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VaR is the basic metric for risk assessment at open trading positions in the Company. For its calculation, the 
Monte Carlo simulation method is applied at a 99% significance level and with 2 days horizon. Furthermore, the 
total utilization of risk capital shall not exceed the total risk capital for speculative trading that was in 2023 CZK 
244 million. The Company calculates the risk on all individual commodities in the framework of speculative trading 
using VaR metrics, both at individual trader positions and overall. Value of VaR was CZK 4 million at the year-

end 2023. In 2023 the average value of VaR was CZK 10 million. 

Currency risk analysis 

As at 31 December 2023 and as at 31 December 2022, the Company is exposed to currency risk when financial 
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency in which they are measured. 
Financial assets and liabilities denominated in a currency different from the functional currency in which they are 
measured are presented in the table below:  
 

At 31 December 2023 EUR USD Other Total 

Non-current receivables – financial 299 -- -- 299 

Non-current receivables from derivative 
instruments 

714 2 -- 716 

Other current financial assets 916 -- -- 916 

Current receivables - financial 1 010 7 -- 1 017 

Current receivables from derivative 
instruments 

1 912 23 -- 1 935 

Cash and cash equivalents 666 2 -- 346 

Total assets 5 195 34 -- 5 229 

Non-current liabilities from derivative 
instruments 

-271 -- -- -271 

Current loans and interest-bearing 
borrowings *) 

-- -- --  -- 

Current payables - financial -930 -5 -2 -937 

Current liabilities from derivative 
instruments 

-2 540 -- -- -2 540 

Total liabilities -3 741 -5 -2 -3 748 

Total 1 454 29 -2 1 481 

 

At 31 December 2022 EUR USD Total 

Non-current receivables – financial 271 -- 271 

Non-current receivables from derivative 
instruments 

518 -- 518 

Other current financial assets 2 683 -- 2 683 

Current receivables - financial 2 766 1 2 767 

Current receivables from derivative instruments 4 415 -- 4 415 

Cash and cash equivalents 124 2 126 

Total assets 10 777 3 10 780 

Non-current liabilities from derivative instruments -1 118 -- -1 118 

Other non-current liabilities -1 -- -1 

Current loans and interest-bearing borrowings *) -2 412 -- -2 412 

Current payables - financial -631 -4 -635 

Current liabilities from derivative instruments -5 195 -- -5 195 

Total liabilities -9 357 -4 -9 361 

Total 1 420 -1 1 419 

*) The item Current loans and interest-bearing borrowings (EUR) comprises current bank loans and borrowings 
of CZK 2 412 million for financing of gas inventories, that will be repaid from future cash flows in EUR from the 
sale of gas inventories.  
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Currency risk sensitivity analysis 

As at 31 December 2023, the potential appreciation (depreciation) of EUR or USD against CZK could impact the 
measurement of financial instruments denominated in the foreign currency and gas inventories denominated in 
EUR and impact profit or loss by an amount disclosed in the following table. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables remain constant. 

 

Effect recognised in CZK million 

Profit or loss 

10% appreciation 
+ profit/ - loss 

10% depreciation 
+ profit/ - loss 

2023   

EUR  213 -213 

USD  3 -3 

 

Effect recognised in CZK million 

Profit or loss 

10% appreciation 
+ profit/ - loss 

10% depreciation 
+ profit/ - loss 

2022   

EUR  356 -356 

USD  -- -- 

 

Interest rate risk 
 

The Company is exposed to the risk of interest rate fluctuations primarily as a result of bank loans with floating 
interest rate. The Company continuously monitors the development in financial markets and based on the current 
situation decides whether loans will be drawn with either floating or fixed interest rate. The risk of increase in 
interest rates is monitored on an ongoing basis and if necessary, the application of standard tools for risk 

elimination (interest rate swap) is considered. 

Non-current bonds were issued and concluded with a floating interest rate, but the interest rate risk was hedged 
by interest rate swap. 

Interest rate swaps are concluded with the hedge ratio set at 1:1 so that all derivative conditions correspond with 
the hedged risk of cash flow changes due to floating interest rates. Potential hedge ineffectiveness can also be 
caused only by swap illiquidity or the counterparty’s credit risk.  

As the variable interest rate of non-current bonds is hedged, the sensitivity of the financial result from current 
revolving loans is very low and insignificant compared with the profit from operating activities. 

 

(d) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk represents the possibility that the Company might not be able to fulfil its payment obligations 
primarily relating to amounts payable to the providers of bank loans and borrowings and liabilities arising from 

energy commodities trading in organized markets (margining) and on a bilateral basis. 

The Company monitors the risk of having insufficient funds on an ongoing basis by managing liquidity and 
monitoring the maturity of debts and investments, other assets and the expected cash flows from its operations. 

The Company holds sufficient disposable liquid resources, i.e., cash, cash equivalents and current financial assets 
in currencies in which future cash needs are expected. To maintain liquidity, the Company uses bank loans and 
borrowings. 

The Company uses proprietary IT tools for liquidity management, valuation of financial instruments and for 

trading and risk management purposes. 
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The following table shows the Company’s financial assets and liabilities by maturity: 

At 31 December 2023 
Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

1 year or 
less 

1-5 years 
More than 

5 years 

Undefined 
maturity/on 

demand 

Assets       

Non-current receivables - financial 324 332 -- 332 -- -- 

Non-current receivables from 
derivative instruments 

716 1 863 -- 1 863 -- -- 

Non-current financial assets 46 47 -- 43 -- 4 

Other current financial assets 1 506 1 506 1 506 -- -- -- 

Current receivables - financial 2 396 2 396 2 396 -- -- -- 

Current receivables from derivative 
instruments 
 

1 935 4 646 4 646 -- -- -- 

Total 6 923 10 790 8 548 2 238 -- 4 

       

Cash and cash equivalents 666 666 -- -- -- 666 

       

Liabilities       

Non-current loans and interest-
bearing borrowings 

-2 193 -2 364 -- -2 364 -- -- 

Non-current lease liabilities -304 -409 -- -190 -219 -- 

Non-current liabilities - financial -122 -122 -- -122 -- -- 

Non-current liabilities from 
derivative instruments 

-271 -635 -- -635 -- -- 

Current loans and interest-bearing 
borrowings 

-2 -81 -81 -- -- -- 

Current lease liabilities -38 -60 -60 -- -- -- 

Current liabilities - financial -1 359 -1 359 -1 359 -- -- -- 

Current liabilities from derivative 
instruments 

-2 540 -4 911 -4 911 -- -- -- 

Total -6 829 -9 941 -6 411 -3 311 -219 -- 

Net balance – liquidity risk 
(financial assets and liabilities) 

760 1 515 2 137 -1 073 -219 670 

       

The following table shows the detailed breakdown of the maturity of derivative instruments up to 1 year as at 31 
December 2023: 

Due < 3 months 3 – 6 months 6 – 9 months  9 – 12 months 
Total up to 1 

year 

Receivables from derivative 
instruments 

2 660 593 408 985 4 646 

Liabilities arising from 
derivative instruments 

-1 909 -998 -1 077 -927 -4 911 

Net cash flow from 
derivative instruments 

751 -405 -669 58 -265 
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At 31 December 2022 
Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

1 year or 
less 

1-5 years 
More than 

5 years 

Undefined 
maturity/on 

demand 

Assets       

Non-current receivables - financial 271 365 -- 1 364 -- 

Non-current receivables from 
derivative instruments 

718 987 -- 987 -- -- 

Non-current financial assets 41 48 -- 47 -- 1 

Other current financial assets 2 683 2 683 2 683 -- -- -- 

Current receivables - financial 3 548 3 548 3 548 -- -- -- 

Current receivables from derivative 
instruments 
 

4 497 8 115 8 115 -- -- -- 

Total 11 758 15 746 14 346 1 035 364 1 

       

Cash and cash equivalents 1 068 1 068 -- -- -- 1 068 

       

Liabilities       

Non-current loans and interest-
bearing borrowings 

-2 188 -2 449 -- -2 449 -- -- 

Non-current lease liabilities -291 -396 -- -178 -218 -- 

Non-current liabilities - financial -99 -99 -- -99 -- -- 

Non-current liabilities from 
derivative instruments 

-1 118 -2 199 -- -2 199 -- -- 

Current loans and interest-bearing 
borrowings 

-2 414 -2 509 -2 509 -- -- -- 

Current lease liabilities -31 -51 -51 -- -- -- 

Current liabilities - financial - 1 911 -1 911 -1 911 -- -- -- 

Current liabilities from derivative 
instruments 

-5 257 -8 239 -8 239 -- -- -- 

Total -13 309 -17 853 -12 710 -4 925 -218 -- 

Net balance – liquidity risk 
(financial assets and liabilities) 

-483 -1 039 1 636 -3 890 146 1 069 

       

The following table shows the detailed breakdown of the maturity of derivative instruments up to 1 year as at 31 
December 2022: 

Due < 3 months 3 – 6 months 6 – 9 months  9 – 12 months 
Total up to 1 

year 

Receivables from derivative 
instruments 

4 691 883 865 1 676 8 115 

Liabilities arising from 
derivative instruments 

-3 424 -1 360 -1 301 -2 154 -8 239 

Net cash flow from 
derivative instruments 

1 267 -477 -436 -478 -124 
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(e) Capital management 

The Company’s aim is to keep a strong capital base to maintain creditor and market confidence and sustain future 
development of own business.  

The Company is responsible for managing its capital structure and flexible in responding to potential condition 

changes in financial markets. With the aim to maintain and protect the strong capital basis, the Company may 
adjust dividend amount or other shareholders’ contributions. The Company aims to maintain an optimal ratio of 
net debt (loans and bonds, less current loans for the financing of gas inventory and cash and cash equivalents) 
to equity and the level of assets and liabilities utilising the high rating of the Company to obtain low-cost external 
funds.  
 

31/12/2023 31/12/2022 

Bank loans and bonds issued 2 195 4 602 

Less: current debts for the financing of gas inventory -- -2 412 

Less: cash and cash equivalents  -666 -1 068 

Net debt (+) / surplus (-) 1 529 1 122 

Total equity 8 232 7 564 

Net debt to equity ratio 0.19 0.15 

 

 

(f) Fair value 

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities, including their 
levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial 
liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of the fair value:  

  Carrying amount at 31/12/2023 Fair value at 31/12/2023 

  Trading derivatives 
Hedging 

derivatives 
Level 1  Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets measured 
at fair value 

     

Commodity forwards 2 248 -- -- 2 248 -- 

Commodity futures 122 -- -- 122 -- 

Commodity swap -- 21  21  

Currency forward 69 3 -- 72 -- 

Interest rate swap 188 -- -- 188 -- 

Financial liabilities 
measured at fair value 

     

Commodity forwards -2 535 -- -- -2 535 -- 

Commodity futures -256 -- -- -256 -- 

Currency forward -20 -- -- -20 -- 

 

Inventory of gas for trading is measured at fair value of CZK 676 million under Level 2. 
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  Carrying amount at 31/12/2022 Fair value at 31/12/2022 

  Trading derivatives 
Hedging 

derivatives 
Level 1  Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets measured 
at fair value 

     

Commodity forwards 4 030 -- -- 4 030 -- 

Commodity futures 784 -- -- 784 -- 

Currency forward 63 -- -- 63 -- 

Interest rate swap 339 -- -- 339 -- 

      

Financial liabilities 
measured at fair value 

     

Currency swap -16 -- -- -16 -- 

Commodity forwards -6 219 -- -- -6 219 -- 

Commodity futures -3 -- -- -3 -- 

Currency forward -137 -- -- -137 -- 

 

Inventory of gas for trading is measured at fair value of CZK 2 142 million under Level 2. 

The fair values of financial derivatives fulfil the criteria of level 2 in compliance with the IFRS 13 hierarchy (the 

fair values are derived from market quotations of forward exchange rates, commodity prices and yield curves, 
however the financial derivatives are not directly traded in active financial markets). 

In 2023 and 2022, there were not transfers between individual levels of the fair value hierarchy. 

 
  

29. Material subsequent events 

 
Following the resolution of the general meeting of Moravia Gas Storage a.s. to increase its share capital, MND 
a.s. subscribed for new shares with a total nominal value of CZK 36 million. As a result of the subscription, MND 
a.s. increased its share on the registered capital and voting rights from 50% to 97.37% resulting in obtaining 
control over Moravia Gas Storage a.s. The completion of the transaction was subject to regulatory approvals and 
other legal factors. The transaction was completed on 9 February 2024. 

The acquisition accounting is ongoing. The purchase price allocation and the fair value measurement of assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed were not completed before these financial statements were authorised for issue. 

There were no events subsequent to year end that would have a significant impact on separate financial 
statements as at 31 December 2023. 

 

  

 

Date:  Signature of the statutory body: 
 

24 May 2024  
 
 

       

  Miroslav Jestřabík  Jiří Ječmen    

   Member of the Board of Directors  Member of the Board of Directors  
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PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit, s.r.o., Hvězdova 1734/2c, 140 00 Prague 4, Czech Republic 
T: +420 251 151 111, www.pwc.com/cz 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit, s.r.o., registered seat Hvězdova 1734/2c, 140 00 Prague 4, Czech Republic, Identification Number: 40765521, registered with 
the Commercial Register kept by the Municipal Court in Prague, Section C, Insert 3637, and in the Register of Audit Companies with the Chamber of Auditors 
of the Czech Republic under Licence No. 021. 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the shareholder of MND a.s. 

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 
Our opinion 
In our opinion: 

• the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of MND a.s., with its registered office at Úprkova 807/6, Hodonín (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) as at 31 December 2023, and of the Group’s 
consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the year ended 
31 December 2023 in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted  
by the European Union, and 

• the separate financial statements give a true and fair view of the separate financial position 
of the Company as at 31 December 2023, and of the Company’s separate financial performance 
and separate cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023 in accordance with IFRS 
Accounting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 

What we have audited 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise: 

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023; 

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2023; 

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2023; 

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023; and 

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy 
information and other explanatory information. 

The Company’s separate financial statements comprise: 

• the separate statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023; 

• the separate statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2023; 

• the separate statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2023; 

• the separate statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023; and 

• the notes to the separate financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information 
and other explanatory information. 
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Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Act on Auditors, Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 
of the European Parliament and of the Council (the “EU Regulation”) and Standards on Auditing 
of the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic (together the “Audit regulations”). These standards 
consist of International Standards on Auditing as supplemented and modified by related application 
guidance. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the International Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued 
by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) as adopted 
by the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic, with the Act on Auditors and with the EU 
Regulation. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code, 
the Act on Auditors and the EU Regulation. 

Our audit approach 
Overview 

The overall materiality for the Group and the Company was set  
at 0.8% of average total sales for the years 2021 – 2023, 
which represents approximately CZK 899 million for both the Group 
and the Company. 

We have selected, including the Company, four entities that, in our opinion, 
based on their size or risk, require a full audit for consolidation purposes 
and we have performed the audits. The entities we audited accounted for 
99% of the Group's total sales. On the remaining subsidiaries we performed 
audit procedures based on the audit scope described above to obtain 
sufficient audit evidence as a basis for issuing an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as a whole. 

Valuation of financial instruments (separate and consolidated financial 
statements). 
  

 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material 
misstatement in the consolidated and separate financial statements (together the “financial 
statements”). In particular, we considered where management made subjective judgements, 
for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions 
and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed 
the risk of management override of internal controls including, among other matters, consideration 
of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

Materiality 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain 
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually 
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements.  

Materiality 

Group scoping 

Key audit 
matters 
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Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, 
including the overall materiality for each set of financial statements as a whole as set out in the table 
below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit 
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, 
if any, both individually and in aggregate, on each set of financial statements as a whole. 

 

Overall Group 
materiality 

CZK 899 million 

Overall Company 
materiality 

CZK 899 million 

How we determined it Materiality for the Group and the Company was determined as 0.8% 
of average total sales for the years 2021 – 2023. 

Rationale 
for the materiality 
benchmark applied 

We also considered using profit before tax as a benchmark, but as it was 
volatile for both the Company and the Group in the recent years (in 2021, 
the Company showed negative profit before tax and the Group positive 
and in 2022 and 2023 both the Company and the Group reached 
a positive profit before tax, however with relatively low margin), we have 
assessed total sales as the most suitable usable benchmark, 
which is also relevant to the specifics of the industry in which the Group 
operates. We also considered the Group’s and the Company’s 
performance measurement, which is primarily oriented on EBITDA. 
To reflect the impact of all these performance indicators, the basis 
for determining the materiality level was defined as 0.8% of total sales. 
The indicator of average total sales was chosen due to volatility in recent 
years. 

    

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of each set of financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Valuation of financial instruments (separate financial statements) 
(see Note 3, para (e) and Notes 16 and 28) 
 

As at 31 December 2023, the Company showed 
in the separate statement of financial position 
and in the Notes 16 and 28 of the notes to 
the separate financial statements receivables 
from derivative financial instruments in the total 
amount of CZK 2,651 million 
(of which CZK 716 million are long-term 
receivables) and liabilities from derivative 
financial instruments in the total amount 
of CZK 2,811 million (of which CZK 271 million 
are long-term liabilities). 

Our audit procedures around the fair values 
of these financial instruments were focused 
on the adequacy of the accounting methodology, 
the correctness and accuracy of fair value 
determination and the completeness 
and accuracy of the data entering the fair value 
calculations. Our procedures consisted of:  
 
• obtaining an understanding of the trading 
strategies and the process of energy commodity 
trading and the related transaction streams; 

pwc 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 
 

The fair value of financial instruments 
(including mainly commodity forwards 
and storage capacity contracts) is determined 
by calculations and models that use common 
but subjectively selected calculation methods 
and a range of market and market observable 
input data. Given the subjectivity of the choice 
of calculation methods and the number 
of market and market-observable input data, 
we evaluated the related area of valuation 
and accounting for financial instruments 
as the key audit matter. 

Fair values of these financial instruments, 
including a description of the calculations, 
models and significant inputs used 
by the Company’s management in determining 
the fair value are disclosed in Note 16 and 28 
of the notes to the separate financial statements 
together with other mandatory disclosures 
in accordance with IFRS 7, 9 and 13. 

 
• assessment of the accounting methodology;  
 
• assessment of the methodology of determination 
of fair value of particular types of the financial 
instruments;  
 
• verification of market conformity of the input data 
sample;  
 
• testing of internal control focused 
on the completeness and accuracy of data 
in the Company's information systems;  
 
• testing of the accuracy of data in the Company's 
information systems on a selected sample; 
 
• confirmation of the completeness and existence 
of financial instruments in the Company's financial 
statements on a selected sample;  
 
• independent recalculation of the financial 
instruments’ fair value on a sample basis;  
 
• verification of disclosures in the Notes 
to the separate financial statements 
of the Company in accordance with IFRS. 

Valuation of financial instruments (consolidated financial statements) 
(consolidated financial statements: see Note 3, para (e) and Note 18 and 30) 

As at 31 December 2023, the Group showed 
in the consolidated statement of financial 
position and in the Notes 18 and 30 of the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements 
receivables from derivative financial instruments 
in the total amount of CZK 1,331 million 
(of which CZK 434 million are long-term 
receivables) and liabilities from derivative 
financial instruments in the total amount 
of CZK 2,761 million (of which CZK 331 million 
are long-term liabilities). 

The Group buys and sells energy commodities 
in multiple markets using forward over-the-
counter trades and futures. The Group applies 
hedge accounting to reduce volatility of profit 
of loss. The use of commodity forwards 
and futures in combination with application 
of the hedge accounting represents a complex 
accounting scheme. Hence, we have assessed 
the related areas of valuation of financial 
instruments and accounting for the financial 
instruments as a key audit matter. 
 

Our audit procedures around the fair values 
of these financial instruments were focused 
on the adequacy of the accounting methodology, 
the correctness and accuracy of fair value 
determination and the completeness 
and accuracy of the data entering the fair value 
calculations. Our procedures consisted of:  
 
• obtaining an understanding of the trading 
strategies and the process of energy commodity 
trading and the related transaction streams; 
 
• assessment of the accounting methodology;  
 
• assessment of the methodology of determination 
of fair value of particular types of the financial 
instruments;  
 
• verification of market conformity of the input data 
sample;  
 
• testing of internal control focused 
on the completeness and accuracy of data 
in the Company's information systems;  
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The fair value of financial instruments 
(including mainly commodity forwards 
and storage capacity contracts) is determined 
by calculations and models that use common 
but subjectively selected calculation methods 
and a range of market and market observable 
input data. Fair values of these financial 
instruments, including a description 
of the calculations, models and significant inputs 
used by the Group’s management 
in determining the fair value are disclosed 
in Note 18 and 30 of the notes to the  
consolidated financial statements together 
with other mandatory disclosures in accordance 
with IFRS 7, 9 and 13. 

• testing of the accuracy of data in the Company's 
information systems on a selected sample; 
 
• confirmation of the completeness and existence 
of financial instruments in the Company's financial 
statements on a selected sample;  
 
• independent recalculation of the financial 
instruments’ fair value on a sample basis; 
 
• understanding and evaluation of the risk 
management strategy employed within the Group; 
 
• assessing compliance of the Group’s hedge 
accounting documentation with IFRS;   
 
• verification of disclosures in the Notes 
to the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group in accordance with IFRS. 

    

How we tailored our Group audit scope 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide 
an opinion on each set of financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure 
of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, the share of individual subsidiaries on the Group 
financial position and performance and specifics of the industry in which the Group and the Company 
operate. 

We have selected, including the parent company, four entities that, in our opinion, based on their size 
or risk, require a full audit performed by a group auditor and we have audited their financial statements 
in full. The entities we audited accounted for 97% of the Group's total assets and 99% of sales. 
On the remaining subsidiaries we performed audit procedures based on the audit scope described 
above in order to obtain sufficient audit evidence as a basis for issuing an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group as a whole. 

Other information 
The board of directors is responsible for the other information. As defined in Section 2(b) of the Act 
on Auditors, the other information comprises the annual report but does not include both 
of the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. In connection 
with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge about the Group and the Company obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. In addition, we assessed whether the other information has been 
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with applicable legal requirements, i.e. whether 
the other information complies with the legal requirements both in terms of formal requisites 
and the procedure for preparing the other information in the context of materiality. 
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Based on the procedures performed in the course of our audit, to the extent we are able to assess 
it, in our opinion: 

• the other information describing the facts that are also presented in the financial statements is, 
in all material respects, consistent with the financial statements; and 

• the other information has been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements. 
In addition, in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Company 
and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we are required to report if we have 
identified material misstatements in the other information. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the board of directors, supervisory board and audit committee 
of the Company for the financial statements 
The board of directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union and for such internal control as the board of directors determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the board of directors is responsible for assessing the Group 
and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the board of directors either 
intends to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

The supervisory board of the Company is responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process. 

The audit committee of the Company is responsible for monitoring the financial statements’ 
preparation process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Audit regulations will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Audit regulations, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group and the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the board of directors. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the board of directors' use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group and the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the board of directors and audit committee regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the audit committee with a statement showing that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and we communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
Information required by the EU Regulation 
In compliance with Article 10(2) of the EU Regulation, we provide the following information, 
which is required in addition to the requirements of International Standards on Auditing: 

Consistency of the audit opinion with the additional report to the audit committee 
We confirm that the audit opinion expressed herein is consistent with the additional report to the audit 
committee of the Company, which we issued today in accordance with Article 11 of the EU Regulation. 

Appointment of auditor and period of engagement 
We were appointed as the auditors of the Group and the Company for year 2023 by the general 
meeting of shareholders of the Company on 12 October 2022. Our uninterrupted engagement 
as auditors of the Group and the Company has lasted for five years. 
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Provided non-audit services 
We declare that the PwC Network has not provided non-audit services to the Company 
and its subsidiaries that are prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Regulation, as amended 
by the Czech law following Article 5 (3) of the EU Regulation. 

The non-audit services that we have provided to the Company and its subsidiaries in the period 
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 are disclosed in Note 22 of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.  

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Marek Richter. 

25 June 2024 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit, s.r.o. 
represented by 

Jan Musil Marek Richter 
Statutory Auditor, Licence No. 1800 
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